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PERFORMANCE
REPORT
This report provides an overview of NHS Kernow’s
work from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020
It includes a round-up of some of our work and
achievements, together with the achievements of
our partners during the year, information about
our performance, and commentary on wider events
which have shaped our business and priorities. It also
provides information on our structure, and shows
how we are spending the money we are allocated.
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Celebrating a year of positive developments
April				 04
Our newly refurbished therapies
department at West Cornwall
Hospital received a gold seal of
approval after being officially
opened by Olympic rowing
champion Helen Glover MBE.
May				 05
Work started on a programme
of investment to bring new
digital x-ray equipment to St
Austell and Bodmin hospitals.
Work also started on our new
IMPACT hub to support people
at risk of experiencing a mental
health crisis.
June				 06
Loraine Butcher, a specialist
Parkinson’s nurse based in
Torpoint, was awarded the
prestigious title of Queen’s Nurse
for her commitment to care and
nursing practice.
July				 07
We were awarded £9.3m to
provide more joined up education
and mental health services to
support pupils who are struggling
with mental health.
August			
08
Received a good rating in our
national assessment from NHS
England and Improvement. We
were one of only two CCGs
in the country to improve our
performance by two ratings.
This meant we were no longer
in special measures. The Royal
Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust
(RCHT) was also awarded £100
million of capital funding from the
Government - the biggest single
investment Cornwall and the Isles
of Scilly has seen in local health
services.
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September			
09
Sowenna, our new child and
adolescent mental health services
unit in Bodmin opened. This
means in most cases, young
people with mental health issues
will no longer have to leave
Cornwall for treatment.
October			 10
East Cornwall Primary Care
Network (PCN) was chosen as
the Primary Care Network of
the Year, and St Austell Health
Care GP practice was named
National Association of Primary
Care (NAPC) Primary Care Home
of the Year, for their work in
strengthening primary care
services and developing a social
prescribing model, which is being
rolled out for the rest of Cornwall
and the Isles of Scilly.
November			
11
Our midwifery teams swept
the board at the International
Midwifery Conference. The
maternity team received the
Transformation Innovation Award
for their development of the
ImproveWell app. There were also
awards for the Kernow Maternity
Voices Partnership, the new
Truro Birth Unit, and the Teyluva
midwifery team for their work
with the traveller community in St
Day.
December			
12
Sheena Pappin, from Newquay
Health Centre, received a NHS
Kernow Colleague of the Quarter
Award. Sheena was praised for
her commitment to colleagues
and people registered with the
surgery and, her can do attitude
to the ever-changing face of
general practice.

January			 01
St Clare Medical Centre held
Cornwall’s first Women’s Health
Morning for mums and working
women who would not normally
have the time for health checks.
Staff offered advice and raised
awareness about the importance
of cervical cancer screening,
contraception and hormone
replacement therapy (HRT).
February			 02
We were delighted with the
results of the NHS survey which
showed four out of five NHS
Kernow colleagues felt they were
valued by their managers and that
their role made a difference.
March				 03
Helen Charlesworth-May was
appointed as joint accountable
officer for public health and
care. This new role will provide
joined up leadership to deliver
on the new vision for health and
wellbeing for the next ten years
by working together to tackle
health inequalities, so everyone
can enjoy good health and
wellbeing and grow, live, work
and age well.

Foreword by chair, Dr Iain Chorlton
We live in unprecedented times,
we all find ourselves working
in very different ways and
responding to the needs of
today. It seems odd that effort
has been put into producing an
annual report, much of which
was written before March. There
is much to read in here that is
great and positive and I would
like to welcome you to our
annual report.
Taking time to step back and
reflect on the past year is
always worthwhile, recognising
how important it is to reflect
on progress and plan for
future service delivery and
improvement. There’s plenty
of evidence contained here
that illustrates how incredibly
committed all those with a role
in health and care are. For me as
I now find myself writing my fifth
foreword and having been a GP
now for well over 20 years I’m
well used to the cycle of change
the NHS subjects itself to.
The role of commissioner and
provider remains a constant,
whilst organisations come and
go, being driven to improve
and develop from where we
are today underpins the reason
we are involved in the work
we do. Clinical commissioning
groups (CCGs) have now been
with us for seven years, here
in Cornwall and the Isles of
Scilly has been built around
people: our workforce and our
communities. Please read this
annual report with that in mind,
these documents are not endpoints; they are more of a pitstop or sense check about where
we have come from and where
we are going.

In Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly
we are blessed with people who
have a can do attitude and are
keen to innovate. Over the last
year we have seen recognition
of that, with awards a plenty.
Our GP practices have been
nominated for Primary Care
Home of the Year, Primary Care
Network of the Year, Clinician
and Manager of the Year:
we have seen NHS Kernow
colleagues recognised for their
incredible work in improving
quality in care homes.
It has been especially pleasing
that NHS Kernow was rated
good for the last year, and that
we were one of only two CCGs
nationally to step up two ratings
in our national assessment. This
provides evidence of what an
incredible effort has been made
by all connected to our CCG.
We have worked hard in
bringing organisational ways
of working together, including
the appointment of a joint
accountable officer for health
and care. For me, this is more
evidence of an approach that
is more about people than
organisations. Understanding the
wider determinants of health; it
is incumbent on us all to improve
our health and wellbeing, will be
essential to how we rebuild our
society in the coming years.
I want to place on record
my personal thanks to Jackie
Pendleton, who came to
Cornwall to find herself leading
an organisation in crisis. She
did not ask for that, indeed
the move was intended to be
a precursor to retirement. She
could have walked, but she did

not. Instead she has overseen
and led a culture change that is
evident in much contained in this
report, somewhere where people
are proud of the way they can
impact and improve the quality
of people’s lives. Culture changes
from the ground up, it is not
imposed, Jackie’s leadership style
and effectiveness is something
we can all see and apply to how
we all work. Thank you.
This introduction is by necessity
brief, as most of our attention
is drawn to the pandemic and
the very real change that will
affect us all. Thank you to all
who work within health and
care and all of those who are
critical in supporting that work.
I know that the world will be a
very different place when we
come through this. The spirit,
energy and enthusiasm to do the
right thing for our people is the
joining force that I see every day
in my work. We should rightly be
proud of all we do and why we
do it, thank you.
Dr Iain Chorlton, Chair
2 June 2020
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Developing our long term plan
This is a key time as we continue to develop and implement strategies for joining up health and care
services in partnership with local people. Last year, John Govett was appointed as the new independent
chair of the Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Health and Care Partnership.

I’ve met and spoken to many leaders, staff and stakeholders
engaged in health and care since I started. I am very impressed by
the fantastic desire to work together as an integrated system, for
better health and care outcomes for people.
Our system partnership must now look to build on that
commitment. We must look to drive both preventative and active
health interventions and be clinically and professionally led, and
look to design new pathways that are more effective and improve
health and care outcomes and are delivered more efficiently at a
local neighbourhood and community level.
To achieve this, no one organisation can do this on their own and so from the NHS bodies
(including NHS Kernow), to the councils, GPs, voluntary and community sector, care providers,
education providers, police, fire and ambulance, housing, employers and other key partners, our
collaboration will be key to transforming both the what and the how of we support those who
depend on us when they need support in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.
We now have to convert the desire in our organisations into actions and hold ourselves to account
as a health and care partnership to keep people at the centre of our work, particularly given local
people will still require delivery from a range of organisations to meet their own health and care
needs.
John Govett, independent chair
Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Health and Care Partnership

What we need to do
Drive the growth in demand

Respond to the growth in demand

Implement a new model of care for the
21st century
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Key priorities
We have collectively agreed to focus our
energies on a small number of priorities to
achieve the greatest impact. We will focus on
areas where the evidence shows it works:
• Stopping smoking in pregnancy.
• Early detection of atrial fibrillation (linked
to stroke).
• Reducing cardiovascular disease (linked to
diabetes).
• Respiratory illness (lung disease).
• Supporting people at risk of falling.

Responding to COVID-19
We know that by working together
across health and social care the
people of Cornwall and the Isles of
Scilly will have greater confidence that
they will receive the right care and
support, in the right place at the
right time.
This is more important than ever
during the pandemic.
Only by working with our
provider partners, local
authorities and primary
care can we make sure
those who need urgent
and emergency care and
treatment can get it.
We also want to make sure that wherever possible
people ready to leave hospital aren’t delayed
and can return either to their own homes or
alternatively receive care closer to home.
Our response has changed the way we work,
moving quickly to new forms of technology as
well as relocating and re-deploying teams across
partner NHS and social care organisations to
support their ongoing efforts.
We established community coordination centres
across three locations in the north/east, central
and west of Cornwall to support the work of out
of hospital care by adult social care and Cornwall
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (CFT), providing
a base for teams from across the health and care
system, voluntary sector and support colleagues.

Across primary care new and different ways
of working have taken place. During the first
five weeks of the outbreak video appointments
between GPs and their patients went from zero
to 3,700, helping to ensure a responsive service
whilst reducing the risk of infection for both
patients and practice staff.
Other support from NHS Kernow has included
helping our Primary Care Network (PCN) clinical
directors to lead the response to COVID in their
areas; from practices zoning their buildings into
hot areas for people with suspected COVID and
cold areas for non-COVID cases, with some
practices establishing separate hot and cold sites
including Redruth Health Centre; to the review,
collation and distribution of the ever-changing
national and local guidance for primary care; and
changing how the CCG monitors and supports
practice-based services to free up capacity and
reduce administrative burden.
A single electronic referral system has also been
established across health and social care, making
it easier for urgent queries to be handled more
quickly.
Doing things differently and in partnership means
we can quickly adapt to meet as many people’s
needs as possible during this health crisis. Our aim
is to care for people at, or close to, their homes
wherever possible to reduce spread and ensure
the best recovery outcomes possible for our
communities.

Easing pressure on the acute hospital has also
been made simpler, thanks to the efforts of
Cornwall Council’s adult social care and CFT. By
working with NHS teams, people who are ready
to leave hospital but not to go home, will be
offered care at three hotels in Newquay, Redruth
and Polzeath, provided by community nurses.
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Overview
Who we are
NHS Kernow is the clinical commissioning group (CCG) for Cornwall
and the Isles of Scilly. We have 59 GP practices organised into PCNs
within three integrated care areas.
Our job is to buy health and care services for the people registered
with GP practices in Cornwall and Isles of Scilly, including hospital
care, mental health and learning disability services, children’s
services, community services, NHS 111, a GP out of hours service
and some primary care services.
We work with everyone involved in health and care locally to join up
services and, to develop and deliver the Cornwall and Isles of Scilly
long term plan.

59

GP practices

THREE
integrated
care areas

We are regulated by NHS England and Improvement (NHSEI). Our
annual budget for 2019/20 was £856m and we have 454 contracts
with providers to deliver NHS funded services.

454

Our main providers include our general practices, Royal Cornwall
Hospitals NHS Trust (RCHT), University Hospitals Plymouth NHS
Trust, Northern Devon Healthcare NHS Trust, Cornwall Partnership
NHS Foundation Trust (CFT) and South Western Ambulance Services
NHS Foundation Trust (SWASFT), as well as a wealth of voluntary
and community sector organisations.
Like other areas we have faced a growing demand for services at
the same time as increasing pressures on budgets. We work closely
with our partners to ensure every single pound we are entrusted
with is spent wisely on people with the greatest needs using
clinically and cost effective means.
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provider
contracts

£856m
budget

What we want to achieve
We have a once in a generation opportunity
to change the way we provide health and care
services for Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.
We are on the cusp of a deep-rooted and broadreaching revolution in the way health and care
services are delivered and managed. Instead of
using a sticking plaster approach to patch things
up when they go wrong, health organisations
have joined forces with local authorities, and
a strong core of community and voluntary
organisations, to create a new system to give
people the care, help and advice they need, where
and when they want it.
This means supporting people to stay as healthy
as possible - starting well, living well and ageing
well. There is still some way to go and we are on a
journey of improvement with a clear goal in sight.
As members of the Cornwall and Isles of Scilly
Health and Care Partnership we are all working
together to transform the ways in which we plan
and deliver care.
We want people to keep well, at home in their
local communities. To achieve this we need to take
action so:
Children and young people are supported to
have a healthy start to life
We make outstanding use of our finite health
and care resources
More people are able to avoid diseases that
can be prevented

We have asked our staff, stakeholders and, most
importantly, the people who live in Cornwall and
the Isles of Scilly about their health and care.
This provided us with clear information on what
matters to them. These include housing, access
to services, activities and advice on how to live
more healthily eg by stopping smoking and having
a healthy diet. It also helped identify the issues
which are driving increased demand for health
and care services, and the challenges we face
to respond to this demand. We have used this
feedback to shape our plans for the future.
During the past 12 months we have delivered
some significant achievements which are making
a difference to the lives of people in Cornwall and
the Isles of Scilly. These include:
• Opening Sowenna, so most young people
with mental health issues don’t have to leave
Cornwall for treatment and the new Cove
Macmillan Centre to support people with
cancer.
• New urgent treatment centres in west
Cornwall and Truro, complement the existing
minor injuries units and GP run minor injury
services.
• Developing PCNs to enable practices to work
more closely together and share skills, and
the delivery of improved digital infrastructure
to support mobile working and digital-first
approaches to care.
• A new CT scanner at RCHT and digital
x-ray equipment at St Austell and Bodmin
community hospitals.

People have more years of good health
towards the end of their life
Focusing on the priorities set out in our health
and wellbeing strategy, we want to provide joined
up, high quality services we can be proud of, with
more services delivered in people’s homes or in
their local communities. This will ensure we make
the very best use of the funds available to us.
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What are our challenges?
• A significant extension to the medical centre in
Launceston.
• A new mental health nurse on the Isles of
Scilly.
• Improvements in how people access care,
including reducing waiting times for people
with cardiac conditions and increased digital
access in primary care eg online consultations.
• Community workers delivering social
prescriptions and providing holistic support
to people whose health is affected by a wide
range of social issues.
• Faster responses for people presenting with
musculoskeletal problems, including the
introduction of first contact practitioners,
initially in east Cornwall, to give people quicker
access to address their hip and knee problems,
often without the need for hospital treatment.
• £144m of estates and digital capital
secured over the last 12 months to support
transformation plans locally.
We are committed to working together to build
on this strong foundation to create a new system
which is fit for the future.
In February 2020 we reached agreement with
Cornwall Council to establish a new joint
leadership role. The new joined up leadership role
incorporates the duties previously carried out by
NHS Kernow’s chief officer and Cornwall Council’s
strategic director of adult care and support.
The new role will lead the delivery of the new
vision for health and wellbeing for the next
ten years. The vision has been developed by
the Cornwall and Isles of Scilly Health and Care
Partnership to tackle health inequalities, so
everyone can enjoy good health and wellbeing
and grow, live, work and age well. It will also
ensure that public health, health and care services
are better placed to develop joint approaches and
services which respond to people’s needs and
promote the wider health and wellbeing of people
and communities.
Helen Charlesworth-May was officially appointed
as Cornwall’s joint accountable officer for public
health and care on 16 March 2020.
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While Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly are
undoubtedly beautiful places to live, managing
the health and care needs of a rising population,
many with unhealthy lifestyles; tackling the
effects of poverty, deprivation and isolation on
physical and mental health and wellbeing, and
addressing the additional pressures caused by
our popularity as a tourist destination present
significant challenges for our health and care
system. Specific challenges include:
A growing population: 62,000 more
in the next 20 years.
Baby boomer effect: By 2027, 50
percent more people aged 75-84 and
27 percent more people aged 85+.
Increase in preventable illnesses:
More people have preventable illnesses
and are having more years of ill health,
often with multiple illnesses.
Health inequalities: 71,000 people at
greater risk of long-term illnesses.
Workforce shortages: High number of
vacancies and a high proportion of our
workforce approaching retirement.
Limited resources to meet growing
demand: We need to make every
pound stretch further.
Geography and settlement pattern:
A peninsula and 60 percent of people in
settlements of under 3,000 affects how
and where services can be provided.
Poor performance of our current
system: Improving productivity and
reducing variation.

Lifestyle behaviours such as smoking, physical inactivity, unhealthy eating and
obesity, excess drinking and mental ill health are responsible for 75 percent
of deaths and disabilities from cancer, heart disease and stroke, bone and
joint conditions, mental health conditions and lung disease.
Around 530,000 people currently live in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly. Of
these just 85,000 are living well, requiring only ad hoc care and support.
A further 280,000 are at risk of future ill health and would benefit from
targeted prevention advice.
135,000 are managing their long term conditions well with occasional
support, with 20,000 requiring some coordinated health or social care and
4,000 with complex conditions who need more managed care and support.
4,000 are at the end of their lives and need 24-hour support.
Research shows that 62 percent of hospital beds are occupied by people over
the age of 65. Each day around 60 people stayed in an acute hospital bed
when they did not need to be there, with around 35 percent of community
hospital bed days used by people who are fit to leave but delayed due to a
lack of community services.
Poorly maintained homes, overcrowding, child poverty, fuel poverty, lack
of home adaptations and poor storage of household products are key
health risks. Exposure to these poor housing conditions can cause a variety
of conditions, including allergies, asthma, depression and anxiety, nausea,
infections, hypothermia and physical injury from accidents. It can make
existing health conditions worse and make treating health conditions more
difficult, as well as having a huge impact on the ability of people to achieve
their potential in education or employment.
Mental health is of equal concern. We have high rates of suicide and
people harming themselves deliberately, with five percent of people also
reporting long term mental health problems. We have a low diagnosis rate
for dementia. We know that people with enduring mental health issues
and learning disabilities have poorer physical health than the rest of the
population and we need to address this.
Funding for health and care is limited and although we have made progress
in reducing our costs, we are still spending above our authorised budget.
With an ageing and growing population with increased demand for services,
we know that our expected funding growth alone will not be enough to
bridge the gap over the coming years. This is why we need to transform the
models of care and look more towards ill-health prevention for long term
improvement in health and wellbeing. We need to transform our workforce
to meet this challenge, ensuring we have the right skills in the right places to
be most effective.
Evidence shows that a greater focus on prevention and early intervention will
reduce demand for health and care services over time. Achieving this requires
everyone to play their part.

75%

of deaths are
attributable to
lifestyle
behaviours

53%

at risk of ill health
and would benefit
from targeted
prevention
advice

25%

are managing
long term
conditions

62%

of hospital beds
are occupied by
people over
the age of 65

35%

of community
hospital beds used
by people who
are fit to leave
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We know through our early work on personalising
care that it is often the smaller low cost things
that can make the most difference. Having quick
and easy access to local voluntary organisations
can help people address problems such as
personal finance and housing. This can help their
overall health and wellbeing, reducing demand for
health and care services.
This approach, combined with working more
effectively in multi-skilled teams who can operate
across our organisational boundaries, will help
create more effective and sustainable local health
and care fit for future generations and enable us
to live within our financial means.

How we’ll deliver our vision
Our health and care services will have a greater
focus on prevention so we can tackle the gap in
health across our population.
We will work with individuals, families and
communities to help them start, well and live well.
Based in PCNs, joined-up health and care teams
will provide services to support improved physical
health and wellbeing, help children to do well at
school, reduce working days lost to ill health and
reduce the years of ill health for older people.
We will support people to take more responsibility
for their own health and wellness, be independent
and take control of their lives and stay connected
to their communities.
We will adopt a digital first culture, investing and
allocating capital funds where we are able, in
digital innovations to meet the needs of our local
communities today and tomorrow.
New projects which are already underway include
designing a new women’s and children’s centre
and investing in the Embrace Care programme
which will support people over the age of 65
who are at risk of hospital admission or who
have been admitted to hospital. The project will
transform community-based care and support,
helping people to live independently for longer
at home. We are part of the national ageing well
pilot which is developing ways to support people
to age well and improve the identification of and
care for people living with frailty.
12
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We already work closely with hospitals in Devon
which provide services to people living in north
and south east Cornwall, as well as a range of very
specialist services. These include cardiothoracic
services and neonatal intensive care support for
the most vulnerable and premature babies. We
will be building on these strong partnerships
as part of our joined up approach to providing
health and care. We will work with the voluntary
and community sector to help us reach underrepresented communities.
We are developing plans to create a shared
Cornwall and Isles of Scilly health and care team.
This will enable staff to work flexibly across
and between organisations, delivering skills and
capacity where they are most needed.
We already have a primary care training hub
which supports our primary and community
care workforce with their learning, training and
development. With our partners, we launched
a virtual Health and Care Academy to help us
fill roles and give people caring careers. This is a
custom made solution which will see us lead the
way in developing new roles and apprenticeships
for health and social care. We will welcome our
first intake in the autumn, which will include
physical and mental health nurses, and clinical
associate psychologists.

Engaging with people and
communities
In accordance with section 14 Z2 of the Health
and Social Care Act 2012, NHS Kernow works
with people and communities to ensure we
commission services that meet people’s needs.
We use a wide variety of ways to work with our
communities and make sure that they have the
chance to influence our plans.
One of our key partners in ensuring the voice of
local people is heard and influences developments
is the Citizen Advisory Panel (CAP). They provide
an independent view and act as a critical friend
on matters relating to health and care, with
its findings considered alongside comments
from professional health and care partners.
Representatives from CAP sit on selected

committees and the chair sits on our Governing
Body as a non-voting member.
We also:
• Hold face-to-face events which include
meetings, workshops and special events.
• Join public events held by others, such as
Healthwatch.
• Meet and work with voluntary sector
organisations and stakeholder groups, practice
participation groups (PPGs) and the Patients’
Association.
• Organise and attend the annual PPG
conference.
• Receive a story of lived experience at our
Governing Body meetings.
• Undertake surveys, listen to experts by
experience and focus groups.
• Analyse complaints and enquiries to identify
trends or themes.
• Talk and listen to people through social media
and ask questions via our website. In addition,
we provided funding to develop the new Ask
Cornwall and Ask Isles of Scilly community
platforms.
This is not just about asking people for their views
but listening and responding to what they tell us.
It is about building strong, positive relationships
with people and communities by involving them
at an early stage. It means explaining how their
views have been used to shape the final decision
or, where this is not possible, going back to them
to explain why.
During the past 12 months we have involved
individuals, groups and wider communities in
designing, planning and making decisions on both
changes to existing services and the development
of new ones. We have provided feedback and,
where appropriate, have changed or in some
cases, withdrawn proposals in response to the
feedback we received.
Recent consultation and engagements include
providing information on progress in integrating
health and care services and seeking the views of
partners, staff, people and their families and the
wider public on the next steps.

We have asked people for their views on our
health and wellbeing strategy linked to our long
term plan, through a series of meetings and an
online questionnaire. We also held discussions
with colleagues and with partners. As part of this
consultation we wanted to ensure the voices of all
parts of the community were involved. We have
worked with Volunteer Cornwall, Healthwatch
Cornwall and local agencies to engage with
people from the traveller and the care leaver
communities to understand what they want to see
included in our plans.
We have been working with people who live and
work in St Ives, Fowey and Saltash to look at the
future use of the three community hospitals in
those locations – see page 36.
We have developed a mental health strategy and
held events and activities to encourage people
to give us their views which included joining
partners at a special event in Truro on world
mental health day, and provided an online survey.
We also commissioned an appreciative inquiry
which Healthwatch Cornwall carried out for
us. This inclusive and dynamic approach to coproduction was extremely positive. The results of
the consultation shaped the strategy.
We held events to feedback the Embrace
diagnostic review findings and to seek the views
of people with dementia and their carers and
families. We worked closely with the practice and
community in Mevagissey after the incumbent
partner wanted to hand back the contract. A
successful solution was found through the support
of another local practice, enabling primary care
services to be retained in this small fishing village.
We supported consultation events held by our
partners. This included RCHT’s brilliant care week
when colleagues and the public were asked to
provide their thoughts about what they are doing
well and what they could do better; plus Cornwall
Council’s consultation on day services for people
who need support. We have also been involved in
the development of the new autism strategy.
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Performance analysis
We are making sure everyone gets the
best start in life.
Childhood represents a unique opportunity to
ensure the foundations for physical, intellectual
and emotional development are supported by
parents/carers, wider family, the community
and professionals to ensure lifelong health and
wellbeing. Early childhood and adolescence, in
particular, are periods where the brain develops
rapidly and the experience and interventions in
these times can have a profound influence over
the rest of that individual’s life.
Within this children and young people can be
highly vulnerable in terms of their ability to
communicate, physical size, development and
inexperience and also in their lack of influence and
dependency on others.
There are approximately 148,000 children and
young people under 25 in Cornwall and the Isles
of Scilly. Of these we expect approximately 9.1
percent or 13,468 will need some form of help
with their needs, with 4,300 needing specialist
mental health support.
Our children and young people’s programme
is working to transform care and support for
physical and mental health from pregnancy,
through childhood and into young adulthood.
Our team is experienced in developing services
with clinicians, education partners, social care
and other key stakeholders; ensuring meaningful
engagement with children and young people, and
their parents and carers in the design of services.
Critical to developing the right models of support
for children, young people and their families is our
work with the local authorities and public health.
Pregnancy and childhood are the times when we
can have the greatest impact on the prevention of
long term health needs.

148,000
children and young
people under 25

14

Annual report 2019/20

This year, OFSTED classified Cornwall Council’s
children’s services Outstanding. Inspectors
highlighted some of Cornwall’s most innovative
services, including the multi-agency referral unit
(MARU) and early help hub which was developed
jointly with partners. Inspectors also praised
Gweres Tus Yownyk (Cornish for helping young
people), the specialist adolescent multi-disciplinary
service supporting young people on the edge of
care.
During the past two years the children’s health
system has focused on reviewing the way support
is offered to ensure there is capacity to meet the
changing needs of expectant parents, children,
young people and their families. We need to
ensure people receive the right support at the
right time, with a focus on promoting the best
start to life, and recovery from physical and mental
illness. We want people with long term and lifelimiting conditions to have every opportunity to
thrive and live as independently as possible in
adulthood.
Improvements have been made in maternity
services to promote better births. Significant
investment and improvements have also been
made to mental health services and to services for
people with neuro-developmental needs including
autism.
We are working with partners to ensure there is
a robust multi-agency safeguarding approach for
children and young people. This means meeting
the health needs for vulnerable and looked after
children and, those in the criminal justice system.

We will work closely with public health, education
and social care to ensure a whole system
approach to the promotion wellbeing and the
prevention of long term health needs.
We have plans to establish a new trailblazing
women and children’s hospital as a centre of
excellence using the £99.9m capital funding
announced by the Government. This is the biggest
single investment Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly
has seen in local health services.
The funding will be used to construct a new
building between the Tower Block and Trelawney
Wing at RCHT in Truro. This will house women
and children’s services, including maternity,
neonatal care and gynaecology. The new centre
will be a hub for the promotion of excellent child
health across Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.

We’re absolutely delighted Cornwall and
the Isles of Scilly is getting this vital cash
injection. Not only will it improve care
for local people, but modern facilities
are bound to attract new staff and
a development of this size will bring
associated jobs and wider benefits to our
local economy.
Jackie Pendleton

Maternity care

5,500
births a year
These include the refurbishment of the birth
centre in Helston. As part of our long term plan
we want to improve and expand the services
provided closer to home in local communities.
Following the opening of the birth centre in Truro,
and with improved facilities and a re-established
24-hour midwife service at Penrice in St Austell,
we are now working to ensure women in west of
Cornwall have similar access to welcoming and upto-date facilities.
With 25 percent of routine manual workers
smoking and an average 13.5 percent of women
still smoking at the time of delivery, we have
a tough challenge to achieve our target of
smokefree pregnancies. By working collaboratively,
we are beginning to see a downward trend. In
November 2019, 10 percent of women were
smoking at the time of delivery. Our lowest rate
to date. This achievement was recognised in
this year’s Municipal Journal awards, with the
maternity team and Cornwall Council’s healthy
pregnancy team, receiving an award for their
innovation and partnership work in healthy living
in pregnancy. Trudie Roberts won a research
award for her work with smoking cessation. RCHT
is supporting the South West Academic Health
Science Network (SWAHSN) learning with regards
to smoking cessation and is helping to develop a
consistent approach across the south west.

Locally, we have around 5,500 births each year.
We believe every woman should have access to
first-class maternity services and have a positive
experience. This means providing safer, kinder,
more joined up, personalised maternity services
which reflect women’s choices, offer continuity of
care, are professional and more family friendly.
We have been working with the local maternity
system partnership board to transform maternity
and perinatal service. We have seen some fantastic
results in the past 12 months.
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Healthy pregnancy advisors provide a face-to-face
on site presence at the scanning clinic and are
building on other antenatal sessions, for example
with continuity of carer teams at community sites,
maternity and family hubs.
The electronic maternity health record was
launched in July 2019, enabling women to access
their maternity notes online and through their
smart phones. We are keen to develop maternity
information advice, and potentially an interactive
app for mums.
Award winning care
The innovative work being carried out by our
midwifery teams, community volunteers and
partner organisations to improve maternity
services has been recognised on both the national
and international stage.

An important part of modern day
maternity care is for health professionals
to listen to the real life experiences of the
people they care for and to understand
how they can make improvements in care
and experience. That’s exactly what we’ve
aimed to do with the Teyluva team.
Amy Keates and Jessica Parker
Teyluva midwives

RCHT’s Teyluva midwifery team was presented
with a national black, Asian and minority ethnic
(BAME) health and care award and recognised at
the International Midwifery Conference for their
innovative work to improve care for engagement
with women and new parents from the traveller
community. Gypsy, Roma and traveller people
experience severe health inequalities due to
discrimination and poor access to health care.
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The team has changed the way maternity services
are offered to pregnant women at the Wheal
Jewell traveller site. They work closely with health
professionals and other partners to streamline
services, improve the attendance of appointments
and improve maternity outcomes.
The midwifery team was also recognised at the
International Midwifery Conference, winning
the transformation innovation category with
its successful project ImproveWell; an app that
provides an easy way for colleagues to put
forward ideas for improvements to care or staff
wellbeing and to support them in making them
happen.
Awards were also received for the collaborative
work with Kernow Maternity Voices Partnership,
the new Truro birth unit, and a best midwife
award for Jane Parke. Jane helped save the lives
of Jenson and Reuben who were born at just 22
weeks, becoming the youngest surviving twin
boys in Britain. Jane flew 190 miles with their
mum Jennie to a specialist neonatal unit.
New initiatives have been introduced to support
nursing mums who return to work at RCHT and
training is being expanded to include simulation
training for midwives, GPs and other health
professionals who work in more remote areas and
on the Isles of Scilly.

We’re thrilled to have recognition of our
achievements. It’s been a real team effort
from midwives, support workers and
clinicians, working together with parents,
partner organisations and charities to listen,
learn and improve our maternity care.
So much more than just the wonderful
modernisation of our birth units, we’ve really
reaped the rewards of engaging people in our
journey, working towards our aspiration to
provide brilliant care for one and all.
Kim O’Keefe, director of nursing,
midwifery and allied health professions

We have seen the further development of Chi
Kernow, the innovative continuity team based in
north Cornwall. Launched in November 2018, the
team has made a real impact, with most of the
women involved in the project being delivered
at home by their continuity midwife. There has
been excellent feedback from families, with
staff welcoming the new way of working and
additional autonomy and flexibility.
We are very proud of the work we are doing to
improve our maternity care and it was great to
have the opportunity to welcome some special
visitors to see our progress.
Gill Walton, chief executive and general secretary
of the Royal College of Midwives spent three days
in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly. This included
a day on St Mary’s, where she met midwives
and families, and officially named the island’s
birth suite. She also visited the new birth centre
at RCHT where she talked with new parents
and representatives from the Maternity Voices
Partnership (people who are actively involved
developing and improving services), and was
shown around the Penrice birth centre.

We received Royal recognition in the summer
when HRH The Princess Royal visited The Princess
Alexandra maternity wing. HRH The Princess
Royal, who is the patron of the Royal College of
Midwives, toured the maternity unit and the new
state of the art birthing centre, as well as meeting
with midwives, support workers, students and
other members of staff.

It was such an honour to welcome Her
Royal Highness into our maternity service
and to talk to her about all the work the
midwifery team has been doing and how
we have been involving local parents.
It was a wonderful opportunity to also
show off the brilliant facilities we have
in our midwife-led Birth Centre and the
newly refurbished delivery suite.
Jane Urben, head of midwifery

Maternity services at Royal Cornwall
Hospital are a brilliant example of a
dynamic maternity team, that despite
geographical and economic challenges, have
consistently worked hard to make necessary
improvements. Within the new birthing
centre, the staff has a positive working culture
and collective ambition to provide the best
care for women and their families, which
has contributed to the success of service and
resulted in high quality care, particularly for
parents in their care who have experienced
difficult circumstances.
Gill Walton, chief executive and general
secretary of the Royal College of Midwives
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Meeting the needs of children and young people
We want to transform care for children and young people. When children experience traumatic or
adverse experiences, or are vulnerable due to developmental difficulties, long term health conditions or
poor mental health, it can lead to lifelong poor health and wellbeing.
Research shows that up to 30 percent of local children live in poverty, with a higher than the national
average with social, emotional and mental health needs, severe learning difficulties or on the autism
spectrum disorder (joint strategic needs assessment). We have high rates of people who present after
self-harming at emergency departments. Getting the right interventions at the right time to achieve
maximum impact is one of our key priorities.
We are working with health partners, Cornwall Council and the Council of the Isles of Scilly to increase
early help and assessment services; make the most effective use of specialist healthcare and mental
health services; develop multi-agency responses to crisis prevention and response; and recruit and retain
people with the skills to deliver the best quality care and treatment.
Other specific improvements during the past 12 months include the launch of Cornwall Council’s
Together for Children directorate which is aimed at supporting parents to access the help they need
more easily. This new integrated service sees health visitors, school nurses and social care colleagues in
family hubs, providing access to early help. These, alongside the increased offer for children on the edge
of care meant the recent OFSTED inspection of local authority children’s services resulted in a rating of
outstanding.
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Supporting mental health and wellbeing
We have continued to work with partners,
including HeadStart Kernow, schools, higher
and further education providers alongside the
voluntary and community sector, councils, and
health partners, to develop Turning the Tide which includes our plan to transform children and
young people’s mental health.
This work has been focused on our key objectives:
Developing a sustainable model in schools
and communities

Increasing access to psychological therapies

Developing our pathways of care

Keeping young people at the centre of
developments

The self harm toolkit training made me
much more aware of a growing problem
of self-harm and how it may present in
the school that I work in. I will be able
to identify the signs better.
Teaching assistant
Wadebridge School

Developing a sustainable model in schools
and communities
• Focusing on the ITHRIVE model segments of
getting information and advice and getting
help, we have rolled out mental health
network (Bloom) meetings in each locality,
with psychology and primary mental health
consultation for professionals to ensure we
meet the needs of children and young people
who might not be best placed in a specialist
child and adolescent mental health service
(CAMHS). This has included increasing the
number of wellbeing workers so there is one in
each locality.
• Self-harm initiative, Mind and Body, continues
to be commissioned to deliver evidence-based
whole school programmes to six schools
a year. NHS Kernow successfully bid for
NHSEI health and justice funding to produce
clinical guidance for schools and colleges on
managing self-harm safely, enabling a new
self-harm toolkit to be developed and enabling
the delivery of twilight training sessions.
Norfolk and Brighton and Hove councils have
subsequently asked for permission to use our
toolkit.
• In July 2019, we successfully bid for funding to
roll out mental health support teams in schools
in two areas. We received national funding for
a number of projects to support the mental
health and wellbeing of young people. These
are being delivered by CFT in the Newquay,
St Austell and Camborne, Redruth and
Helston areas. To support this development
NHS Kernow has enrolled in the schools and
colleges link programme, a national initiative
funded by the Department for Education,
supported by NHSEI and led by the Anna Freud
Centre. This programme is a ground-breaking
initiative to help CCGs and local authorities
work together with schools and colleges
to provide timely mental health support to
children and young people.
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Increasing access to psychological therapies
• As part of the ITHRIVE getting help offer, we
have increased the workforce within specialist
CAMHS through an initiative to train 31 clinical
psychology associates. This new workforce,
currently in training, will significantly improve
access and waiting times, as well as developing
closer links with education by working in
school settings.

With half of all lifetime cases of mental
health disorders beginning by the age
of 14, there is no greater investment we
can make from an economic perspective
than to promote the physical and mental
health of children and young people.
Phil Confue, chief executive,
Cornwall Partnership NHS
Foundation Trust

Keeping young people at the centre of
developments
• Commissioned by NHS Kernow and delivered
by charity Young People Cornwall, Speak Up
Cornwall provides young people with a safe
and confidential space to talk about issues
affecting their mental health and ensure their
voice is heard in all our plans.

Speak Up Cornwall has a great track record
in Cornwall helping young people who are
struggling with their feelings and wellbeing.
They continue to make a very positive
contribution to Turning the Tide - Cornwall’s
plan to transform and improve children’s
mental health. I’m delighted to hear that they
have been awarded funding to expand its
offer to young people.
Dr Laura Ashton,
children’s clinical lead

Developing our pathways of care
• We have been reviewing and developing
pathways of care within CAMHS to ensure
they are National Institute of Clinical Excellence
(NICE) compliant and reflect best practice. This
work is on-going, and will entail embedding
the new responses and further workforce
development to ensure the right skill mix to
meet demand. The next phase will involve
looking at the whole system across the
ITHRIVE framework so we can fully describe
the offer of support for vulnerable children and
young people.
• Further development to provide a single
pathway for our community eating disorder
service with dedicated specialist staff and a
new referral option to help improve access and
reduce waiting times is underway.
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The team has been amazing. If any
problems have arisen, they informed us
straight away, my daughter has been able
to open up to them due to their
compassion and understanding. I feel it
has been the main factor of helping her
overcome her eating disorder.

NHS Kernow and Cornwall Council continue to
jointly commission targeted support from The
Intercom Trust. Set up 21 years ago to help the
lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender plus (LGBT+)
community in the south west. Our funding will
ensure it can continue to meet demand for its
services across Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly and
provide confidential support for people and their
families who may be struggling with issues such as
homophobic and transphobic prejudice, crime and
discrimination; setting up LGBT+ groups where
young people and their families can make friends;
as well as working with schools. The Intercom
Trust works closely with GPs to make sure people
in the LGBT+ community receive the best help if
they are struggling with feelings of isolation or
mental health.
Other highlights
Other highlights include the official opening
of Sowenna, Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly’s
purpose-built inpatient unit for young people with
serious mental illnesses.
Costing in the region of £9.3m to build, Sowenna
provides inpatient treatment for young people
aged between 13 and 18 where young people
may be assessed and treated for mental health
problems. Sowenna also offers a day-patient
service.
We also developed the crisis response for young
people from 9am to 5pm Monday to Friday
service, to an 8am to 8.30pm, seven day a week
offer. This is available in the community and
emergency department. The next phase of this is
to ensure an overnight response.

Improving paediatrics and child
health
Improving approaches to sensory
processing need
This includes the development of the WRAPS
(work, rest and play the sensory way)
occupational therapy pathway and providing
training to school special educational needs
co-ordinators (SENCOs) to provide them with
strategies for managing needs.
Sleep solutions
We have delivered a successful pilot
demonstrating reduction of melatonin
prescribing by providing evidence based
interventions with parents to support healthy
sleeping patterns for those with a neurodisability or neuro-developmental need.
The Thriving Together group
A multi-professional team led by psychotherapy
specialists to help infant-child development in
individual parent infant relationships, aims to
develop a preventative pathway of care for the
under-fives. Launched in July 2019 and working
through consultancy for professionals as well as
directly with parent and infants, the pilot project
introduces short term parent child psychotherapy
for the under-threes. The project has received
good feedback, with referrers feeling supported
in managing the next steps for the child and
family. The first parent-infant psychotherapy
clinical intervention began in mid-January 2020.

For the first time young people can access
the full range of mental health services
from community to psychiatric
hospital care in Cornwall.
Phil Confue, chief executive of Cornwall
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
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Improving services for people with
autism and learning disabilities
There are around 700,000 people on the autism
spectrum in the UK - that’s more than one in 100.
We are working to increase our understanding of
the needs of people with learning disabilities and
autism and improve their health and wellbeing.
We know people with learning disabilities are
less likely to comply with health checks and
medication regimes. We have a team working
with primary care to encourage the uptake
of annual health checks, and ensure regular
medication reviews take place to reduce the
prescription of multiple psychotropic medicines.
We are developing a new autism strategy. Parents,
carers, professionals and people with autism
have been asked to complete a survey to help us
understand what is going well and what needs
to be improved. The results will inform our future
policies.
We have increased the capacity for assessment
and formulation of need for these children and
young people, establishing a single point of
referral triage alongside CAMHS in the early
help hub. We have increased the paediatric,
psychology, speech and language therapy, and
occupational therapy to ensure the right clinicians
can contribute to assessment. A new clinic for
children with complex and multiple needs has
been created. This new model, will be rolled out
in April 2020, and will ensure we can provide
the right information, advice and management
strategies and better support these children.
We are working with partners through the
transforming care programme (TCP) to improve
health and care services so more people with
learning disabilities and/or autism who present
with distress or risky behaviours can live in the
community, with the right support.
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We are dedicated to ensuring that children
across Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly can
access the right opportunities, and those
with autism are no different. This feedback
is invaluable for us as we help to shape and
mould services for the future.
Sally Hawken, portfolio holder for children
and wellbeing, Cornwall Council

Tackling childhood obesity
Making sure all children get the best possible
start in life is a major priority. The first 1,001 days,
from conception to the age of two, is particularly
crucial.

Case study

What children eat is one of the biggest predictors
of the health problems they could face as
they grow up, as well as the ones they may
experience later in their lives. Obesity is a complex
problem with many drivers, including behaviour,
environment, genetics and culture.
Several factors impact on a child’s weight, some of
which are outside of a parent’s direct control such
as environment, genetics and culture. In Cornwall
and the Isles of Scilly one in four children leaving
primary school is overweight. Children who are
overweight are more likely to be overweight in
adulthood. There is also a relationship between
lower income families and excess weight.
We have been working with partners to tackle this
issue. Actions include delivering the National Child
Measurement Programme (NCMP) which weighs
and measures children in their first (age 4-5) and
last (age 10-11) year of primary school. All parents
are offered support to access online resources like
the Change4Life and Healthy Cornwall websites.
The families of children who are significantly
underweight or very overweight are offered
the support of a specialist team, including
paediatricians and nutritionists. NCMP data is used
to support public health initiatives and inform the
planning and delivery of services for children.
Future projects include cookery lessons for
children and parents, and videos on social media
showing how to create and share healthy meals
as well as schemes to encourage children to get
active.

1 in 4

children leaving
primary school is
overweight

14 year old Daniel has been overweight since
early childhood. He has made great strides on
a supervised excess weight programme with
Healthy Cornwall, after being referred by his
consultant social worker.
As a young person living with dyslexia and
attention hyperactivity disorder, who is also
being tested for autism, his excess weight was
affecting his physical and mental wellbeing.
When he started on the programme in
February this year, he weighed 93.2kg (14.5
stones) at 1.672m tall (about 5ft 4in) and his
BMI was 33.3, on the obese scale.
Three months later his weight was 86.5kg
(13 stone 8.7lb), his height had increased to
1.680m (about 5ft 6in) and his BMI was 30.64,
only just into the obese zone.
Daniel’s whole family are supporting him
to achieve a healthy weight. His Healthy
Cornwall Worker has helped advise them
about what a healthy, balanced diet looks like
and how to achieve that using methods to
suit them. Daniel can pre-choose his school
dinners online, which takes away last minute
temptations. A habitual eater of biscuits,
crisps and cakes, Dan no longer has them in
his diet and has one treat a week on a Friday,
sugar free sweets. His mother says he has
more energy and is moving much quicker than
before he lost his weight.
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Safeguarding children, young people and adults at risk of abuse and neglect
Our commitment
We are committed to protecting and
safeguarding children, young people and
adults at risk of abuse and neglect. We play a
full role in the work of the Cornwall and Isles
of Scilly Our Safeguarding Children Partnership
(OSCP) and Safeguarding Adult Board (SAB).

Our vision
We want children, young people and adults at
risk to have access to safe, effective, responsive
health services enabling them to achieve the
best possible health outcomes and to have
their views and experiences heard knowing
that these are used to improve services.

Safeguarding is everyone’s business

Celebrating success

Safeguarding is firmly embedded within the
core duties of all organisations across the health
system. The context of safeguarding continues
to change in line with risks in society, both
locally and nationally, large scale inquiries and
legislative reforms. Fundamentally, it remains the
responsibility of every NHS-funded organisation,
and each individual healthcare professional
working in the NHS, to ensure the principles and
duties of safeguarding children and adults are
holistically, consistently and conscientiously applied
so the wellbeing of those children and adults is at
the heart of what we do.

• The child protection information sharing
project has been successfully implemented
in all unscheduled care settings across
Cornwall and an interim arrangement is in
place in the Isles of Scilly. This project means
basic information held by children’s social
care departments about children on a child
protection plan and children who are looked
after is shared with health professionals in
unscheduled care settings. This alerts health
professionals to the vulnerability of these
children, creating a more complete picture of
any safeguarding risks.
• The key findings and recommendations from
a safeguarding survey of GPs which was
conducted in July 2019, have been reported
to the quality and performance committee
as well as the OSCP and SAB. Although the
main driver of the survey was to carry out
safeguarding audits for assurance purposes,
it also provides a helpful baseline and
understanding of GP safeguarding ahead of
the CCG taking on delegated primary medical
services commissioning from April 2020.
• Over the last year, our safeguarding team has
developed and piloted a new safeguarding
assurance scorecard with RCHT and CFT. This
tool helps to ensure our providers are meeting
their safeguarding statutory requirements.
• We have supported the learning and
recommendations from a number of highly
complex and tragic reviews. These include
local child safeguarding practice reviews,
rapid reviews, safeguarding adult reviews and
domestic homicide reviews.

Safeguarding at the heart of our
commissioning
As a health commissioner, we comply with the
safeguarding vulnerable people in the NHS
Accountability and Assurance Framework, 2019.
Our safeguarding team works with other CCG
teams to ensure the organisations commissioned
to provide healthcare services have systems in
place that safeguard children, young people and
adults at risk in line with Children Act 2004 and
Care Act 2014. This includes clear accessible policy
and procedures, safer recruitment, training and
governance systems.
Our trained and competent workforce
We are reviewing our training needs to ensure all
staff complete relevant safeguarding training at
a level appropriate to their role. As at the end of
January 2020 our staff training is as follows:
• Safeguarding children level 1 - 93 percent.
• Safeguarding adults level 1 - 97 percent.
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• We have produced a new briefing paper to highlight the changes and significance of the upcoming
changes to the existing Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) scheme and the new legislation
which will replace it, the Liberty Protection Safeguards (LPS). While we wait for the draft code of
practice and regulations to be released for consultation, we are preparing for the new legislation
by setting up a Cornwall and Isles of Scilly LPS implementation group as well as attending a wider
south west network.
• The looked after children (LAC) health team, commissioned by NHS Kernow and supported by the
designated LAC nurse, contributed to the outstanding rating for LAC and care leavers achieved by
Cornwall Council in their recent inspection of local authority children's service. The team continues
to meet the statutory requirements with performance figures above the national average.
• Our safeguarding team is also supporting all the OSCP and SAB subgroups and has contributed or
led on a number of partnership achievements. These include:
• Leading on a CAMHS deep dive audit following a CQC warning notice and concerns about the
safety of children on mental health waiting lists. The CQC are satisfied CFT have now addressed
these concerns.
• Supporting the review and implementation of a new safeguarding adults training competency
framework and multi-agency training.
• Leading the multi-agency development of the child sexual abuse what happens guide and the
Brook traffic light recognition tool.
• Leading the gap analysis for commissioners on 16-17 year olds access to non-acute (historical)
child sexual abuse health provision.
• Working in partnership with health providers, RCHT and CFT to unify the Prevent policy, to
ensure a one system process in line with national Prevent guidance.
• Supporting the review of the multi-agency child exploitation processes (MACE) and the
associated OCSP strategy.
• Leading on the development of the risk and crisis protocol which provides a framework for multiagency response to high risk cases and people presenting to the system in crisis.
• Supporting the multi-agency neglect audit and contributing to the refresh of the partnership
neglect strategy.
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Providing care in communities

Building primary care networks

Community services are a vital part of our health
and care system.

This year has seen NHS Kernow take on a far
greater role in the commissioning of general
medical services across Cornwall and the Isles of
Scilly, becoming joint commissioners with NHSEI
in April 2019, with approval to be the main
commissioner (fully delegated) from April 2020.

We want people to keep well at home in their
local communities. This means taking action to
support children and young people to have a
healthy start to life, reduce the number of years
of ill health people experience prior to death, and
make outstanding use of our finite health and care
resources. This will ensure more people are able to
avoid preventable diseases and people have more
years of good health towards the end of life.
Research shows that health care has a 10 percent
effect on people’s wellbeing and their likelihood
of premature death, with the biggest influence
(40 percent) being people’s own behaviour and
lifestyle choices, such as how active they are and
what they eat. We recognise people don’t just
have a medical, mental health or social care need,
they often need a multi-disciplinary team to work
together.
We need to provide services in the place they
are needed, rather than taking a blanket, onesize-fits-all approach. People need to know if
they are not feeling well that they can access
diagnostic services, and will be able to access
care and treatment. As the population ages, and
with people experiencing multiple long-term
conditions, we know hospital is not going to be
the right place for many people.
We have been working with our partners to shift
the provision of health and care out of hospitals
so that more people receive care closer to, or at
home where appropriate. This means focusing
on prevention, with increased support to help
people live healthier lives; more personal care
and support; greater use of social prescribing;
and the development of high quality communitybased services involving family, friends, carers,
neighbours and volunteers.

In securing this responsibility, the CCG has
strengthened its primary care team with
additional senior expertise, and established the
many processes necessary for carrying out this
function. Developing strong relationship with
our member practices, Local Medical Committee
(LMC) colleagues, and maintaining our working
relationships with NHS England is vital. From April
2020 the team will manage all 59 GP contracts,
the integrated 111 and GP OOHs service Cornwall
111, the GP digital support function and the
primary care prescribing team - all teams whose
purpose is to support general practice together.

The work the primary care team has done
in securing delegated responsibility for
commissioning primary medical services is
fantastic, acknowledged with a substantial
assurance rating from our internal auditors.
We have radically upgraded the digital
infrastructure that supports general practice,
with increased internet speeds, more
mobile devices and supporting practices to
migrate to common GP systems. The team
has supported the creation and ongoing
evolution of our primary care networks, and
continues to provide advice and guidance on
the medicines prescribed. We are starting to
see the benefits of commissioning general
practice locally, as the foundation upon which
more integrated health and care services
can better meet the needs of our local
populations.
Andrew Abbott, director of primary care
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One of our key building blocks for creating this
new model of care is our primary care networks
(PCNs) where neighbouring GP practices work
together in clusters and link with other providers,
including mental health teams, community nurses,
social workers and community organisations and
voluntary services.
We currently have 14 PCNs. Our aim is for every
area or locality to be part of a PCN, covering
populations from less than 30,000 to larger ones
of 105,000. The networks deliver the health and
care people need when they are ill, but will form
a network of professionals, carers, patients and
the public together, to support each other in ways
that will keep them healthy.
All PCNs have received national funding to employ
more people to provide support and offer a range
of appointments at the GP surgery. These will
include physiotherapists, paramedics, pharmacists
and social prescribers. The social prescribers will
discuss issues of isolation and loneliness that can
lead to poor wellbeing and find ways for people
to connect and get involved in local activities.
PCNs will see GPs and their healthcare colleagues,
local authorities, social care, housing, children’s,
public health teams, health watchdogs, the
charitable and voluntary sector alongside schools,
health clubs, businesses and individuals work
collaboratively to provide proactive, personalised,
co-ordinated and integrated health and care.

The complexity of people’s needs has
changed. Thinking holistically, rather than
looking for a medical answer to every
problem, is being done with the opinions
and wellbeing of people at the forefront
of planning and decision making.
Carolyn Andrews, Kernow Health CIC

GP practices in Penwith pioneered the cooperative
model that is now being introduced across the
county. Eight surgeries in Marazion, Penzance,
Newlyn, St Just, St Ives, and Hayle joined forces 20
years ago, to support each other to give the best
health and care possible in a largely rural location,
with pockets of deprivation equal to areas of inner
London. They are now building on their model,
developing a pilot where they have a community
elder-care physician in their practices to help with
elderly people’s more complex problems. They
recently introduced a park run to encourage local
people to take exercise as part of their social
prescribing programme.

At the end of a surgery you often find you
haven’t taken any medical equipment out
of your bag. That’s because you are seeing
people with social problems who have
nowhere else to go. It should be as easy for
me to put someone in touch with a social
prescribing link worker rather than give
them a prescription for medication they
don’t really need.
Dr Neil Walden, PCN Penwith locality lead

During the past few years other GP practices in
Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly have built on this
strong foundation and are now leading the way
nationally in how services will be organised in the
future.
St Austell Health Care GP practice was named
National Association of Primary Care (NAPC)
Primary Care Home of the Year, for its work
in strengthening primary care services and
developing a social prescribing model which will
be rolled out for the rest of Cornwall. In addition,
the east Cornwall network was chosen as the
Primary Care Network of the Year.
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Cornwall swept the board this year.
The entries from both St Austell
Healthcare and east Cornwall were
of an incredibly high standard - both
inspirational, embracing NAPC’s primary
care home model and demonstrating
their passion and commitment to
transform patient care.
Dr Minesh Patel, NAPC’s chair

Other initiatives include the development of a
dedicated vehicle to provide a pop-up service
across the county to support people in crisis. This
will provide transport for people in a way which
best meets their needs, as well as providing extra
capacity to meet the additional demand. East
Cornwall PCN is developing a video explaining
the new ways people can seek advice from their
practice which will be shown in GP practice
waiting rooms and explains the various new
ways that people can seek advice from their
practice. These include Livi (video consultations
that are available weekends and evenings), online
consultations and a new sign-posting website that
all practices will use.
It was our ambition that by April 2020 most
practices across Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly
would offer online consultations. However, the
arrival of COVID-19 saw video appointments with
GPs and their patients rise from zero to 3,700. The
use of technology allowed primary care to provide
a responsive service while reducing the risk of
infection for patients and practice staff.
We have invested in a new secure health and
social care network to improve broadband internet
connectivity, deployed hundreds of laptops into
primary care and create the ability for mobile
clinicians to work remotely and support patients as
if they were in their own surgery.
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Revamping the traditional model of primary care
means people with musculoskeletal problems like
back, neck pain, arthritis and some auto-immune
disorders, can be seen by a physiotherapist in a GP
surgery for an initial appointment and be provided
with advice.
We know one in four people see their GP for
mild depression or anxiety, the new model means
people could receive an appointment for mental
health support such as psychological therapy
services without seeing a GP first.
Over time we plan to commission new services to
improve the use of medicine, the care of people
who are frail or have complex needs, and provide
enhanced support for residents in care homes.

Developing primary care networks will
increase access to diagnostics and support
in the community which should reduce
avoidable hospital admission. By getting it
consistently right pro-actively at grassroots
level, we will reduce demand for urgent
and out of hours care, as well as keeping
people close to their homes and healthier
and happier all round. It will point people
directly towards the specialist help in the local
community hospitals and targeted services
rather than ending up in an ambulance to the
emergency department.
Dr Tamsyn Anderson, joint medical director,
Cornwall Partnership NHS Foundation Trust

We are developing new services to improve
how we care for and support older people. Our
Embrace Care programme will support people
over the age of 65 who are at risk of hospital
admission or who have been admitted to hospital.
The aim is to transform community-based care
and support, helping people to live independently
for longer at home.
We have completed a detailed review of the
current services involving conversations with 320
people and an analysis of individual people’s
cases where emergency services were used and
people were admitted to an acute hospital. This
found that 22 percent of our acute beds and 67
percent of our community beds were occupied by
people who would be better suited elsewhere.
We are working with staff and people who use
the current services to develop new services to
help people remain as independent as possible.
This includes looking at ways to ensure that
only the right people attend the emergency
department and are admitted, reducing the
time people spend in an acute hospital, and
supporting people at home or in the community.
We are working with partners to ensure we have
enough domiciliary care to enable people to be at
home.
In January 2020, Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly
was chosen as one of seven areas across the
country to accelerate improvements to help
older people stay well at home. The additional
investment will see urgent requests responded to
within two hours, with support to help people
regain their ability to perform their usual activities
like cooking meals, washing and getting about
within two days. Work is taking place to design
the new model which will be rolled across the
whole of the county by April 2021.
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Award winning staff
One of the greatest strengths of our primary care system is our incredible staff who always go the extra
mile to support local people and their colleagues.
St Austell Health Care’s managing/executive partner, was highly commended in the category of Primary
Care Manager of the Year, with Dr Atkinson, GP partner at Rosedean House Surgery in Liskeard, named
runner up in the Clinician of the Year Award.
Other award winning staff include Dr Boulter who was named Best Doctor of the Year at this year’s
Sun’s Who Cares Wins Awards. Dr Boulter, a GP at St Clare medical centre in Penzance, served in
Afghanistan, and teaches army medics to deal with trauma on the frontline. The surgery became the
first in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly to be given veteran friendly accreditation. It was also praised as
an example of giving very personal care and support and showing how care in the community is being
transformed and helping keep people at home.
Last year, Sheena Pappin, practice manager at Newquay health centre, received an NHS Kernow
Colleague of the Quarter Award celebrating her long service and dedication. Hailed as an inspiration by
her colleagues, Sheena managed the successful merger of two smaller practices, whilst absorbing the
closure of a single-handed practice. She also made sure the practice kept up with the times, including
the expansion of the GP team to include working with paramedics, physiotherapists, pharmacists and
minor illness nurses, and was at the forefront of the social prescribing movement. In 2013 Sheena
was a key part of the team which led to the Newquay pathfinder scooping the Health Service Journal
Managing Long Term Conditions Award. The project supported more than 100 older people to manage
their health, and connect with people in their community.
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Developing new community services for the future
We are working with the Department of Health
to develop plans to create a single campus on the
Isles of Scilly. To be acceptable the plan requires
an exception to national funding rules that takes
account of the significant challenges and costs of
building and delivering services in such a remote
community. The innovative scheme would see the
GP-led health centre, minor injuries unit, hospital
inpatient facilities, residential and nursing care,
as well as mental health services and adult and
children’s social care co-located in a single site
based on St Mary’s. If successful the scheme could
act as a blueprint for the integration of health and
social care services across Cornwall, as well as for
other rural communities across the country.

We currently have lots of good people
working in silos. We have a hospital with
low numbers of patients - a maximum of 25
percent at any given time over the last few
years. But one nurse needs to be there at all
times. We have a care home that is packed
to the rafters, but the nurse cannot leave the
hospital and come over to help. They have to
stay where they are in case somebody does
need them. If we are all in the same place
people can talk to each other. And that one
nurse can cover for the services across health
and social care. This is not about having fewer
people working, it is about every single bit of
human resource being used to the max in an
interesting way.
Aisling Khan, senior manager for services on
the Isles of Scilly community and director of
children and adult services

Other innovations introduced in response to
local workforce challenges include the opening
of a community treatment centre at Stratton
Community Hospital.

The new service was developed in partnership
with the local community, CFT and Kernow Health
CIC (which provides the county’s urgent care
out of hours GP service and NHS 111). It opened
its virtual doors in August 2019 for a six months
trial. The trial was temporarily halted as a result of
service pressures which led to the service being
relocated to St Austell. It has now reopened.

We are excited to trial the new service for
people in the far north of Cornwall. Our
clinicians will work at Stratton hospital
to ensure patients are seen by the right
practitioner and are able to stay closer to
home to receive their treatment and advice.
The practitioner’s additional skills will allow
patients to access the out of hours GP service
and treatment for minor injuries outside the
normal hours of the minor injury unit.
Carolyn Andrews, chief executive,
Kernow Health CIC

We are leading the way in encouraging allied
health professionals from a range of different
disciplines to work together to provide services
and support. We already see dieticians, podiatrists,
orthoptists, paramedics, pharmacists, and art
and drama therapists, osteopaths, speech and
language therapists, orthotists, radiographers,
operating department practitioners, occupational
therapists and physiotherapist working together
in local communities. We want to build on this
strong foundation and encourage collaboration
in other areas such as diet. With the impact of
childhood obesity and malnutrition in older people
affecting the health and wellbeing of increasing
numbers of people we will be working closely
with dieticians to draw up programmes to tackle
these issues.
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Working with the voluntary sector
Community spirit and voluntary services help
everyday wellbeing. Thousands of people already
work in the voluntary sector locally, providing
practical help in areas such as transport, shopping,
cooking or small jobs in the house, as well as
delivering activities that provide social connection,
emotional support and motivation.
There are countless needs and interests covered
by voluntary groups and charities – from people
living with long term conditions like chronic
obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), those who
have suffered strokes, to parents of children with
disabilities. There are mindfulness groups, art and
craft, singing, walking and fitness groups; the list
is long and growing. There are also local hubs
such as Treverbyn Community Hall near Bugle,
where social activities, community events, classes
and groups come together under one roof with
the aim of improving life for all – a model flagged
up by the public health team as an example of
excellence.
We are working with local organisations, to look
at how the voluntary sector can contribute to the
development of an integrated health and care
system and how they will need to be resourced
to support this. This could see complete care
packages with medical, social and voluntary
aspects, with referrals to the best activity or
organisation for each individual being a matter of
course.

Building on the excellent work of individual
organisations such as Volunteer Cornwall
and Healthwatch amongst others, the
Cornwall Voluntary Sector Forum will
bring together a wide range of groups
from across the third sector into a new
partnership to work together, with joint
ambitions, activity and commitments
within the health and social care arena.
The aim will be to provide a voice for the
myriad number of charitable and voluntary
organisations within our communities, to
collaborate with each other, to influence
our own development and also the policy
and strategy makers in the future shaping
of services. Ultimately this will enhance a
model of providing support to local people
in looking after themselves and each other
in a collective way.
Richard Williams, chair, Cornwall
Voluntary Sector Forum

Case study: A friendly face to welcome you home
Maggie Haward, 80 from Quethiock in southeast Cornwall, gives up her time to make sure
people who are coming home from hospital
have food in the cupboard, a warm house and
a smiling, friendly face there to greet them.
The welcome home service helps more people
to get back to familiar surroundings quickly
after a stay in hospital, supporting people’s
recovery and easing the flow of people
through the system.

“Volunteering is highly rewarding for both the
person doing it and the person who benefits
from it. There are lots of roles out there to suit
different people.
“The smiles you see on people’s faces as you are
there to welcome them home is always the main
reward, but I have found it very helpful for me
too. The act of helping others definitely makes
you feel good.”
Maggie Haward
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Case study: Wellbeing is a community issue
Saltash based youth music charity, which works to improve the mental health and wellbeing of
young people through making music, is spreading its wings to bring its service into the wider
community. The service, which employs instrumental, vocal and technical tuition, performance
opportunities and social sessions, as well as one-to-one counselling, cognitive behavioural therapy
and mentoring, is using lottery funding to run an intergenerational project which will see young
people and staff members using music to support older people with dementia.
“There is so much positive research to show that music can often stimulate the brain, but also this
is about getting older members of our community together with some amazing and talented young
people. There are an awful lot of older people whose families aren’t close by and they are lonely.”
Andy Rance, youth work coordinator

Extending social prescribing
Improving people’s health is not just about
prescribing medicines. Loneliness and isolation
can have a serious impact on people’s health and
wellbeing. The Cornwall social prescribing service
was set up in October 2018.
Led by the voluntary sector partnership, with
funding secured from the Department of Health
and Social Care (DHSC) health and wellbeing
fund and Cornwall Council and the Council of the
Isles of Scilly’s public health team, the service is
targeted at areas with higher health inequalities
and practices committed to social prescribing
approaches.
We have been working with GP practices, Active
Plus, and voluntary groups and charities to
address the social and economic determinants of
health such as debt, housing and social isolation
to help direct people to social activities and
support, hence social prescribing. This approach
helps people become more connected to their
community and lead healthier and happier lives.
Currently 30 GP practices work with 12 link
workers. These workers meet people to find out
about their needs and they type of support is
available to them, such as volunteering, group

learning, gardening, social activities, benefit advice
and healthy lifestyle support.
One GP practice that’s seen great successes with
social prescribing is St Austell Healthcare. With
31,000 people registered or 4,500 people per
full-time GP. St Austell was selected as one of 15
national test sites in 2015 to adopt an integrated
way of working together with other parts of the
system. After visiting the Bromley by Bow Centre
in London which is recognised as a national
beacon of social prescribing, Dr Stewart Smith
developed a model to suit St Austell.
They began by employing a social prescribing link
worker to focus on low-impact physical activity for
all abilities where that could be made available. Six
months after starting, 77 percent of people on the
programme were feeling happier in their lives and
were coming to the surgery 40 percent less than
previously.
More than 850 people have now been through
the programme, representing thousands of saved
GP appointments. There are now two social
prescribing link workers at the practice with
huge expertise in the resources available in the
community.
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Case study

A new digital software project is making it
easier for people to access activities in their local
community. The project, a partnership between
Cornwall and Isles of Scilly’s public health
team and Elemental, a digital social prescribing
programme, will streamline the service by storing
information about the all services available in one
place and helping GPs and the public to monitor
their progress more easily.

Improving premises
Many GP premises are not large enough, are in
need of refurbishment or do not lend themselves
to new models of care (such as realising the
efficiencies of working at scale).

Judith has been taking part in the diabetes
walking group run in partnership with the
Eden project. Six months after joining the
group she has lost six stone and her blood
sugar levels have reduced to normal.
“I was diagnosed with type 2 diabetes ten
years ago. Because I’d been ill for 25 years
with ME I just accepted my diabetes diagnosis.
I had been taking tablets, so I didn’t really feel
a great deal of difference when I was put on
Metformin, two tablets twice a day. I have
seen changes that perhaps others wouldn’t
think were huge, but for me they make a huge
difference. I can now sit for longer on a hard
chair and at my sewing machine for longer on
the days I feel better.”

The service has helped over 2,200 people in its
first year, with further expansion now underway
via NHS funded link workers employed through
the PCNs. A thriving social prescribing network is
facilitated by public health and meets quarterly to
share good practice and involve local community
and voluntary sector groups.
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We have supported practices to improve their
premises. We have developed a specific primary
care estates and premises steering group, which
has been tasked with developing an overarching
estate’s strategy. There is a need to ensure that
primary care estate is resourced and supported to
develop in line with the objectives within the long
term plan.
A large building project is underway in Launceston
with the medical centre undergoing an extension
that will double the size of the practice and
offer additional car parking. The expansion and
improvement has been requested for many years.
Building work commenced in autumn 2019.
Other improvements in our buildings include:
• A new state of the art £6m medical centre in
Penzance (St Clare) bringing together three GP
practices under one roof.
• A new oncology unit and improved MRI reprovision on the Royal Cornwall Hospital site
(£31.3m).
• Improvements in Royal Cornwall Hospital sites
and upgrading facilities at the West Cornwall
Hospital and St Michael’s Hospital (£9.1m).
We are developing plans to build a new state of
the art women’s and children’s centre at RCHT.

Delivering care in the community
There are a wide range of services which provide
care in the community, these include GP practices,
out of hours services, pharmacies, emergency
dental services and paramedics. The three main
services which deal with urgent care in the
community are:
GP surgery based minor injury services

Minor injury units (MIUs)

Urgent treatment centres (UTCs)

We want to improve our urgent and
emergency care system so that people get
the right care in the right place, whenever
they need it. We have listened to what
people have told us about what services
they want and where they want them to
inform our plans to create a joined-up
and improved health and care system.
Our new urgent treatment centres are
another step towards achieving this.
Dr Rob White,
clinical lead for urgent care

Urgent treatment centres
Reconfiguration of the way care is provided by
the emergency department at RCHT in Truro has
created a co-located urgent treatment centre.
This is the second UTC in Cornwall, after West
Cornwall Hospital, meeting the 27 criteria to be
nationally designated, in December 2019.

UTCs provide care for people with less urgent
conditions and minor injuries, as well as seeing
appropriate referrals from local GPs or people
brought in by ambulance. The creation of
a second UTC forms part of our focus on
transforming community care. The centres are
run by teams of emergency nurse practitioners,
doctors, GPs, nurses and support staff.
Feedback from the Care Quality Commission’s
annual survey of emergency and urgent care
services showed the teams are doing well at
allaying people’s fears and anxieties.
We have increased the number of pharmacies that
offer an enhanced range of services, such as the
supply of emergency medicines, medicine reviews,
and advice and support for people with long term
conditions. Developing this community-based
model of care has helped provide a significant
improvement to the way people receive help for
serious but not life-threatening conditions.
Minor injury units
We are developing ways to improve and increase
the use of MIUs to provide more services for
people closer to home, and take the pressure off
the emergency departments in Truro, Plymouth
and Barnstaple.
Last year, Newquay’s minor injury unit extended
its hours to be open 24-hours a day on Fridays
and Saturdays from mid-July to the end of August
2019 - a period when the population of the town
more than trebles with visitors to the resort.

This was a fantastic opportunity for the
people of Newquay and visitors to have
access to a local service at the busiest
time in the county.
Paul Toon, head of operations,
Cornwall 111
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The additional cover was provided by advanced
paramedics and nurses. The increased availability
was welcomed by residents and the town’s night
time economy. The scheme saw staff treating an
average of five to seven people a night with a
real mix of minor injuries, including cuts, twisted
ankles and falls; potentially avoiding treatment at
the emergency department.
We invested in digital x-ray equipment for St
Austell and Bodmin Hospitals as part of our long
term plan.
X-ray services are critical to the work carried out
in MIUs, support outpatient clinics and referrals
from GPs. DR technology is replacing dated
equipment with modern, high speed, low dose
x-ray technology.

The new equipment is much easier for
the radiographers as high quality digital
images are produced in seconds, enabling
us to check our work very quickly which is
really helpful when patients are in pain
Jane Downie, specialist radiographer

The new equipment prevents the need for people
to make long journeys to the main acute hospitals
in Truro and Plymouth. This is a great example
of the way acute, community, commissioning,
voluntary and private sector organisations are
working together to deliver services for people
and local communities.
Providing community hubs
Our developing integrated community model
of care will provide the foundation for creating
effective and efficient services that are easy to
access. Integrated community services will play a
significant part in how we make the best use of
people, networks, resources and buildings that
provide health and care support services in the
future.
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Part of the work to design new joined-up health
and care services includes considering the role
community hospitals play in local models of care.
We continue to talk to people about how the
services run from community hospitals could
change to respond to local community needs.
We want to create a health and care system that’s
fit for the 21st century, which puts people and
their needs at the heart of these plans. Specific
ideas under consideration include the introduction
of multi-disciplinary ward rounds and medical
staffing, to the development of new ways of
working, including increasing the ability for sameday diagnostic tests and designating short-stay
beds to use for frailty assessments.
As part of this work we trialled a new reablement and wellbeing day at the Edward Hain
hospital in St Ives. The pilot ran from January to
September 2019, to explore whether we could
improve outcomes for people on return home
from hospital or to prevent an escalation of care
needs. The pilot supported a small number of
local people, building their confidence, promoting
independence and supporting them to access
existing community groups and networks. Led by
Age UK Cornwall, working with the NHS, Edward
Hain League of Friends, Penwith PCN, Active Plus,
local health and care staff and Pengarth and Hayle
day centres, the pilot offered people a wide range
of personalised support, including falls prevention,
social activities, arts and crafts, community
activities and day trips.
Whilst we continue to improve and enhance the
services offered from the hospitals, we are looking
at the future use of three community hospitals in
particular. These hospitals are in St Ives, Fowey
and Saltash.
During the past 12 months we have worked with
people in these areas to understand what health
and care services they need. They have shared
their ideas, experiences and views on what health
and care services are required. Specific issues
raised included lack of transport links, people
wanting to remain in their own homes and the
challenges of recruiting and retaining sufficient
health and care staff. They told us community
services needed to be more joined up, located as

close to home as possible, with community beds
which GPs can admit people to for short-stay
assessment and support, and that there should
be home-based rehabilitation and reablement to
promote people’s independence.

We continue to support practices with their work
plans and ensuring all the agreed cost effective
prescribing switches are implemented from the
last six months. A plan to work on the higher cost
self-care items and low value item list continues.

We have taken these comments on board and
are continuing to work with local communities to
jointly develop options for the future.

Other successes include; achieving the
antimicrobial resistance (AMR) targets set by
NHS England and Improvement to reduce the
number of antibiotics prescribed in primary
care and; appropriate management of urinary
tract infections; providing training for the
medicines coordinator role within GP practices
and maintaining strong links with community
pharmacies to promote the minor ailments
scheme and emergency supply service to the
public to save them having to use the out of
hours GP service, emergency department or minor
injuries services. The team has supported practices
with the national focus on self-care and drugs of
limited clinical value.

Managing individual funding requests
It is important that we respond in a timely way
to requests for drugs and treatments which are
not usually funded by the NHS to minimise the
impact on people, their families and prevent
delays in providing treatments. We have a legal
duty to consider such applications from the public
and during the past year we have handled 176
requests
We ensure all applications are considered in
line with national guidelines and that clinicians
are involved in making the final evidence-based
decisions. It is important that decisions are fair
and consistent to ensure that one individual does
not gain an unfair advantage over another. We
always ensure we explain the decision clearly to
the applicant.
Improving prescribing
While our spend on prescribing has historically
been higher than the national average, we have
worked with GP practices to improve the quality
of prescribing and release more funding for direct
patient care by choosing the most cost-effective
medicines.
Prescribing costs per-weighted person are now
below the England average, despite above average
rurality, deprivation and disease prevalence.
Prescribing cost growth is currently above the
national average, but is in line with similar CCGs
in the south west. By focusing on cost effective
prescribing and introducing new models of supply
we are on track to deliver £2m in measurable
savings during 2019/20, while at the same time
improving safety, and ensuring everyone has
access to the medications they need.

This year, there has been a focus on medicines
optimisation in care homes (MOCH). We have four
pharmacists working across our area as part of the
NHS funded programme. We provide a primary
care medicines information service throughout
the week where there is a pharmacist available to
answer any queries. Alongside the pharmacists
we have two care home dietitians who have been
developing resources, training and support to
improve nutrition.
The senior dietitian is currently supporting GP
practices with oral nutritional supplement (ONS)
reviews to ensure formulary compliance and
appropriate prescribing. There is ongoing work
to support the International Dysphagia Diet
Standardisation Initiative (IDDSI) and switching to
thick and easy clear instant food and beverage
thickeners in care homes.
The care home support dietitians have
produced a two sided leaflet (available on the
Cornwall Formulary) for use by GPs and other
health professionals seeing residents at risk of
malnutrition. The leaflet summarises the main
nutritional advice contained within the ‘managing
malnutrition in care homes’ pack and contains
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contact details so the homes can book in to
receive the malnutrition training and the pack.
By the end of January 2020, 30 care homes have
received training, with more homes booked in the
future.
The pharmacists are also continuing to develop
new safety and quality initiatives to support
people with multiple conditions in particular
dementia, chronic pain, diabetes, respiratory and
frailty. They are also supporting GP practices
to meet the quality outcome framework (QOF)
prescribing safety quality improvement domain.
Our approach is to have a more inclusive
programme and the team is keen to revisit
chronic pain as part of the work plan for 2020/21.
The medicines optimisation team will draft
an approach to work around gabapentinoids,
(gabapentin and pregabalin) prescribed for
epilepsy, anxiety disorders but increasingly
prescribed for peripheral neuropathic pain) with
the aim to tackle high risk areas of co-prescribing
specifically with opiates. This will build on
successes and learning through the Patient Safety
Kernow Quality Improvement initiative (PSKQI).
Work on greener inhalers has started identifying
people with asthma who use two different types
of inhalers, metered dose inhaler (MDI) and a
dry powder inhaler (DPI) with the aim to offer
both inhalers as a DPI, as the greener option
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because MDIs contain propellants and DPIs do
not; however they do require a higher inspiration
rate and so are not suitable for all people. The
NICE decision aid, which has videos on inhaler
technique and on the carbon footprint of the
different inhaler devices, is being promoted at
training events and a link to the decision aid is
available on the Cornwall Formulary.
In understanding the need for more clinical
pharmacists to support PCNs the CCG has joined
a workforce development group facilitated by the
Cornwall and Isles of Scilly training hub, including
colleagues from Kernow Health CIC, RCHT, CFT,
representatives from community pharmacy, and
PCN clinical director representatives.
The NHS in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly
has estimated a need for around 25 new
pharmacists each year to fulfil expected demand
and requirements proposed in the new PCN
specifications. This group is specifically looking
at encouraging pre-registration places, and
joint roles in acute/GP practice and community
pharmacy/GP practices. Both models exist, but we
need to increase the number of placements and
subsequently our potential pool of suitably trained
candidates.
A training and support programme is being
developed to support PCN clinical pharmacists in
general practice which will include portfolio roles.

Delivering personalisation
NHSEI’s long term plan aims to ensure people
have more control and over their own health
and more personalised care when they need it.
Personalised care means empowering people to
have greater choice and control over the way
their health and care is delivered and is a result of
working collaboratively with the individual.
This way of working will be developed over the
next four years to include:
Choice

Shared decision
making

April 2023, of how personalisation has improved
an individual’s health and wellbeing. To support
the completion of this task, we will invite 1,500
personalisation ambassadors to volunteer to take
on this challenge.
The first step is to identify twenty ambassadors
to receive training and start collecting the stories
from individuals. They will each be expected
to nominate a further five ambassadors. As
the stories are received they will be reviewed
to identify areas of best practice for onward
dissemination.
Providing personal health budgets

Person activation
and supported selfmanagement

Social prescribing/
community based
support

Personalised care/
support planning

Personal health
budgets

There are many different schemes currently
being developed and delivered both in local
communities and in hospitals.
Coaching is very much a part of the approach
and it enables goal setting, empowerment and
accountability. We have been awarded a bid
to train people in health coaching. As a result,
people have been able to access a small personal
health budget which has enabled them to
receive what they feel they need to improve their
health and wellbeing. This includes accessing
complementary therapies, creative opportunities,
intensive psychotherapy and hydrotherapy.
There is a new approach, working with intensive
users of services to impact on their experience
by encouraging and enabling access to more
appropriate services. This in turn reduces their use
of emergency services.
In September 2019, health, care and volunteer
representatives attended a personalisation event
run by the SPREAD academy. As a result, jointly
we are aiming to collect a thousand stories by

One of the ways we help people to have more
involvement in the kind of care and support they
receive is with a personal health budget (PHB). A
personal health budget is an amount of money to
support someone’s health and wellbeing needs,
which is planned and agreed between the person
(or their representative) and the local NHS team.
It is not new money, but it may mean spending
money differently so that the person gets the care
they need. A PHB can be received in three ways:
• Direct payment: An allocated budget to
purchase and manage services themselves,
including third party organisations.
• Notional budget: People are aware of their
treatment options within an agreed budget
amount but the NHS manages the budget and
undertakes all contracting on behalf of the
person.
• Third party: A person’s allocated budget
is held by a third party on their behalf. They
help the individual choose services, within
the budget, based on their agreed health and
wellbeing outcomes.
Since April 2019 all individuals eligible for NHS
continuing health care (CHC) living at home,
have been offered a PHB. This has resulted in an
increase in the take up of notional PHBs. A small
number of people who are not eligible for CHC
have been awarded a PHB of low monetary value.
This has enabled improvements to their health and
wellbeing.
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From December 2019, people in receipt of Section
117 after-care (for people who require ongoing
care after detention under Section 3 of the Mental
Health Act) and wheelchair users have been able
to request a PHB. We have developed a new
system and process to support this initiative.

training and expertise which has reduced
inappropriate referrals.
Waiting times for assessment for people in
community hospitals has reduced from five to
three days for 89 percent of people.

Continuing health care is a package of care for
people aged 18 or over which is arranged and
funded solely by the NHS. We assess people using
a legally prescribed process to determine whether
the person has a primary health need which can
be supported by CHC funding.

We report quarterly on our performance to NHS
England and Improvement which is benchmarked
nationally. Our CHC team continues to pursue
compliance with the 28 day quality premium
standard which expects 80 percent of decisions on
entitlement for new CHC cases to be completed
within 28 days or less. We achieved 87 percent in
January 2020.

As the cost of residential and nursing care
continues to increase, the decision over who is
responsible for funding care is vitally important to
people, their carers and families. NHS Kernow and
the local authorities have a responsibility to ensure
that assessment for eligibility and provision of CHC
takes place in a timely and consistent way.

The team continues to work within the strategic
improvement programme to review new models
of delivery. These include the offer of PHBs to
people who are eligible for CHC who live at
home. The CHC patient experience survey pilot,
led by NHS Digital provides feedback and is
influencing national change.

We are working with Cornwall Council to support
high quality and equitable services across health
and care, with the development of a joint care
home contract from April 2020, which follows
on from the contract put in place in April 2019.
A CHC programme board has been developed
to ensure appropriate referrals and improve the
productivity of all teams across health and care.

Our CHC teams work with partners to provide
different models for end of life care. These include
the 2019 test and learn pilot which is being
developed with the fast-track team and Marie
Curie to provide end of life services in Penwith and
Kerrier. The 12 month pilot began in April 2019.
We hold monthly meetings to review performance
data and are developing new roles to maximise
the skills and competencies of the team. The redesign will look at how we support the integration
of services.

NHS continuing health care (CHC)

The CHC team provides advice and guidance to
support hospital discharges. The team provides

40

Annual report 2019/20

Urgent and emergency care
In 2019, we agreed a clear system-wide strategy
for urgent and emergency care with key
milestones set out in the long term plan.
A number of key changes have been made across
the health and care system throughout 2019/20,
which have resulted in a better quality of urgent
and emergency care. The quality and timeliness
of urgent and emergency care has continued to
improve and compares well to other systems in
the south west and nationally, where they have
experienced similar pressures. However, we are
still not meeting the national standard which
states that 95 percent of emergency department
attendances should be seen, treated, admitted or
discharged within four hours.
We continue to face significant pressures on our
urgency and emergency care services and have
been working closely with our partners to manage
these and ensure we continue to safely meet the
needs of our local population.
Operational management and escalation
We have further improved our approach to
system-wide operational management and
escalation in 2019/20, implementing actions
arising from the lessons learnt during the summer
period. Every day, operational colleagues take
part in multi-agency conference calls to identify
issues and risks, act quickly to collectively plan and
manage any system pressures. Escalation to more
senior colleagues occurs quickly when required.
This approach has empowered system colleagues
to work collaboratively and pro-actively, and
agree creative solutions to challenges. It has
strengthened relationships between teams to
ensure we work together to maintain safety and
the quality of people’s experience.
Working closely with Devon partners
We continue to work with Devon partners,
regularly sharing good practice, as active members
of the Plymouth emergency department delivery
board, actively participating in urgent care
escalation and system improvements that benefit
people from both counties.

Preventing unnecessary crises
People’s experience of care has become more
co-ordinated. Collaborative working between
statutory and voluntary sectors will support
people’s needs and ambitions. Feedback indicates
our community makers are helping to achieve this
goal by helping to improve people’s experiences.
This is helping to support people to stay safe, well
and independent at home, and less likely to need
to access urgent care service in an unplanned way.
Intensive support for frequent users of
emergency services
During the last 12 months, regional urgent
care transformation funding has enabled our
system to pilot a high intensity user support
service with Volunteer Cornwall. The aim is to
better understand the often complex reasons for
unusually high utilisation of emergency services,
and to help people achieve the right care, first
time, in a planned and pro-active way.
The first support worker helped 20 people
who make frequent use of emergency services.
All reported high levels of satisfaction and
significant improvements in their quality of life.
Subsequently this reduced their emergency
department attendances, calls to 999 and
emergency admissions by more than 90 percent
when comparing the three months pre and post
intervention.
Two further support workers were recruited in
February 2020, with three more to be recruited in
2020. This will enable support to be provided to
up to a further 240 people who frequently use of
emergency and we hope this will deliver similar
benefits.
Improving stroke care
A multi-agency group has been working together
for the last two years to deliver improvements in
the prevention of stroke and the effectiveness of
stroke services and re-ablement. The aim of this
work is to reduce the proportion of people who
die (mortality) or are disabled (morbidity) following
a stroke.
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As a result the 30 day stroke mortality has
reduced from 21 percent in 2017/18 to 14 percent
in 2019/20. This and other improvements are
recognised in an improved SSNAP (sentinel stroke
national audit programme) score since January
2019.
However, in January 2020 RCHT was identified
as an outlier in relation to stroke mortality rates,
with regard to admissions between March 2018
and April 2019. This therefore does not reflect the
improvements made.
In November 2019, the peer review by the
national GIRFT team (getting it right first time)
identified good practice which reflects the
progress made. In addition, the GIRFT team made
further recommendations for improvement which
we are now taking forward.
In 2019/20 we have with our partners:
• Increased the detection and treatment of
patients with atrial fibrillation in primary
care. Atrial fibrillation significantly increases a
person’s risk of stroke.
• Increased the percentage of people who have
had a TIA (mini stroke) who get a one stop
service within 24-hours, relocating the clinics
provided by CFT, onto the Treliske site to be
closer to imaging equipment.
• Relocated the RCHT early supported
discharge team to the Camborne and Redruth
Community Hospital site so they are in the
same building as the community stroke
rehabilitation ward to enable closer working
together.
• Recruited additional therapy staff.
• Created a physiotherapy gym space for
complex and disabled patients.
• Increased registered nursing cover overnight
on RCHT’s acute stroke ward, and recruited an
additional specialist stroke nurse team.
• Implemented weekly multi-disciplinary team
meetings to review progress of all patients on
the acute stroke ward.
• Replaced the CT scanner in the emergency
department with one that provides higher
quality brain scans and angiograms.
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What next?
Despite the improvements in 2019/20, there
is more work to do. We will build on the
improvements to date and work to keep patients
safe and healthy at home, avoid unnecessary
admissions to hospital, and following care in
hospital get people home in a timely way.
Our urgent care strategy and long term plan sets
out the future plans to:
• Increase access to same day urgent care and
support.
• Provide a rapid community response for
people in crisis.
• Increase functionality and capacity in
community-based urgent care settings.
• Increase the number of people receiving
same day ambulatory emergency care in
interface services.
The intended impact is:
• Reduce growth in emergency department
attendances.
• Reduce growth in unplanned admissions to
acute hospitals.
• Reduce growth in 999 calls and the number
of people who need to be conveyed to an
emergency department.
• Improve stroke mortality and outcomes.
• Improve ambulance response times.

Improving planned care
Planned care can help reduce the need for urgent
and emergency care and hospital stays. We can’t
predict unplanned crises, but we are working
closely with our partners to support people so
they can be cared for at home or as close to home
as possible.
We want people to think about their own health
and how they can prevent problems. To help
them, we will provide education and guidance.
System-wide clinicians are developing new care
pathways in key areas. These include improving
care and support for people with joint problems,
respiratory conditions, people at risk of coronary
heart disease, or of falling, who have fallen or
who have fragility fractures.
At the beginning of last year an enhanced
orthopaedic service was introduced at St Michael’s
hospital in Hayle including the creation of a new
higher care bay to support patients that would
previously been treated at RCHT. As a result, an
average of 88 people a month are being treated
at St Michael’s.

Other highlights include an outstanding’ rating
from the CQC and an ISAS accreditation for
RCHT’s clinical imaging team. The team provides
x-ray, CT, MRS, ultrasound, nuclear medicine,
mammography, bone densitometry, fluoroscopy
and interventional radiology, at RCHT, West
Cornwall and St Michael’s hospitals, as well as in
the eight community hospitals based MIUs, GP
and outpatients services.
The integrated uro-gynaecology service was
formally accredited by the British Society of Urogynaecology in recognition of the unit’s excellent
standards of care, organisation and quality. The
team, which includes physiotherapy, nursing
and medical colleagues, cares for women who
are living with a range of conditions including
problems with bladder and bowel dysfunction,
prolapse of the vagina or uterus; recurrent or
repeated urinary infections or cystitis or who
have had a problem with bowel control following
child birth and need further care. This is the first
time the work of the unit has been nationally
recognised.

The ability to treat almost all people
needing orthopaedic surgery at St Michael’s
hospital has dramatically improved access
to treatment for about 30 percent of our
patients. Many patients previously needing
to be operated on at the Royal Cornwall
Hospital suffered from long waiting times
and repetitive cancellations due to a lack of
available beds. This group of patients are
now able to have surgery at St Michael’s
and wait less time for surgery and have a far
lower risk of cancellation.
Mr Mark Norton, consultant
trauma and orthopaedic surgeon
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Cancer care
We are committed to delivering national cancer
standards. We are working closely with clinicians
in our hospitals and communities for all specialties
to improve waiting times for planned care.
Last year a new breast cancer clinic was launched
at RCHT to help meet the growing demand of
people requiring a specialist appointment. The
new clinic, based at the Mermaid Centre in Truro,
is for anyone with a suspected cancer who needs
to be seen and assessed.
The Mermaid Centre sees around 1,700 men and
women every year. While anyone with a high risk
of suspected cancer will continue to attend a four
hour one-stop clinic. This new clinic means GPs
can refer low risk people for assessment. The use
of different styles of clinic will allow both high and
low risk people to still be seen within two weeks.

These small changes have been designed
to meet the recommended and safe best
practice nationally and are vital for ensuring
people receive the service they expect and
need from the breast cancer service. It
allows us to see more people, more quickly
and ensure anyone who is diagnosed
with breast cancer will still begin
treatment within 31 days of their
diagnosis, and within 21 days of their
original referral to the service.
Dr Rob White, Governing Body member
and clinical lead for urgent
and unplanned care
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People waiting more than 52 weeks
The number of people waiting longer than 52
weeks for planned procedures in acute hospitals
has significantly reduced over the last 12 months.
RCHT had 91 people waiting more than 52 weeks
in November 2018. This reduced to two people in
November 2019. We aspire to reduce this to zero.
University Hospital Plymouth (UHP) had 32 people
waiting more than 52 weeks as at November
2018. It is planned that by the end of March
2020 the number of Cornwall and Isles of Scilly
registered patients waiting more than 52 weeks
will have reduced.
North Devon Hospital had seven people waiting
more than 52 weeks at November 2018. This had
reduced to zero by November 2019.

Referral Management Service (RMS)
During the past 12 months the RMS has
processed approximately 130,000 referrals from
GP practices. The service continues to work
with Kernow Health CIC to ensure it remains GP
focused and supports general practices to make
high quality referrals.
Visits have been offered to all GP practices
to discuss bespoke data and improve referral
quality. Junior doctors and health professionals
in GP practices have also been offered the
opportunity to spend time with staff from
the service to receive training on best practice
referrals.
The RMS has supported outpatient
transformation across the system and is looking
at ways to improve the service through the
use of technology in order to enhance the
experience of our stakeholders.
The Devon Referral Support Service (DRSS)
works on behalf of GP practices in Devon and
11 GP practices in east Cornwall and support a
population of approximately 1.3 million people.
The service processed 28,204 referrals between
February 2019 and January 2020.

Providing care for people with long
term conditions
One in four local people is aged 65 plus, higher
than the national average. People in this age
bracket are increasingly likely to need treatment
and care for a range of health problems. Locally,
life expectancy for men is between 79-80, with
16-17 of their final years spend with an ongoing
health condition; while for women, average life
expectancy is 83-84, with potentially up to 19
years in poor health.
People in older age are likely to live with multiple
long term conditions. These include diabetes,
asthma, heart or lung diseases, dementia and
balance problems that can lead to falls and
broken bones. Research shows that people living
with these conditions are twice as likely to be
admitted to hospital and to stay longer than other
people. People with these conditions have told us
they want more control of their own health and
wellbeing.
We want to help people and families to do more
for themselves and make better lifestyle choices,
like stopping smoking, losing weight, increasing
physical activity and drinking less alcohol, as well
as having more control over the care, services and
support they receive. We need to provide good
care for older people, helping them to retain their
independence for as long as possible by offering
the right support at the right time. We will work
with colleagues in social care to determine how
we achieve this goal.
People who are frail may feel more tired and weak
than normal, have trouble getting around, lose
weight and feel that they are slowing down. Frailty
progresses over a period of 5 to 15 years and may
lead to losing independence; hospital admissions
and moving to a care home. We are carrying out
a new study to look at how frail elderly people are
cared for in the community.
The HAPPI (Holistic Assessment and Care Planning
in Partnership Intervention) study, led by CFT’s
nurse consultant for older people, is exploring
how we can support frail people to live at home,
improve their wellbeing, prevent falls and reduce
the need for hospital care.
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Supporting people with dementia
Locally, more than 5,000 people over the age of
65 have a diagnosis of dementia, however we
believe approximately 3,800 haven’t received
a formal diagnosis. Our diagnosis rate of 56.4
percent remains below the national target of 67
percent (December 2019).
During 2019, we visited over 114 care homes to
identify people with an undiagnosed dementia.
We have commenced a programme of dementia
education and training with GPs and clinicians
which includes the provision of four webinars.
New referral guidelines for the memory
assessment services have been developed to make
it simpler for people to access a diagnosis.
We have worked with the coroner to improve the
reporting of dementia related deaths. Historically
dementia deaths needed to be reported to the
coroner, but since October 2019 the requirement
to report natural deaths due to dementia or old
age has been lifted.
We continue to work with people with dementia
and their families to identify how we improve care
and support. A dementia pathway event in May
2019, was attended by over 100 people and has
been followed by three further events focused on
identifying ways to help people with dementia to
live in safe and accepting communities.
Carers and family members can access the
supporting ahead programme (SAP). This provides
a comfortable setting where people can meet
RCHT’s admiral nurse in a relaxed and caring
environment. Developed specifically to support
carers and family members of people with a
dementia diagnosis during their stay in the
hospital, the programme offers practical and
emotional support and advice and information
on a range of subjects, including local services,
dementia research, social isolation and self-help.
People with dementia or memory loss and their
carers are able to access support such as memory
cafés and carers’ groups. During the past year we
have worked with partners to increase the number
of memory cafés and community support groups
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people over the age
of 65 have dementia
such as dementia friendly walking groups across
Cornwall. These are a great place for people
with dementia and their friends and family to get
together, share tips and advice and support each
other.
Our dementia roadmap, a single website, is
being used to document all the relevant policies,
research, support services and information to help
people to navigate the support available to them.
Supporting people with diabetes
We are very proud of the work we are doing to
support the 31,000 people living with diabetes to
lead healthier lives and reduce their risk of heart
attack, stroke, amputation, kidney disease and
blindness.
As well as helping people with diabetes to
manage their condition, by monitoring and
improving their blood pressure, sugar and
cholesterol levels, we are working closely with our
colleagues in public health, primary, secondary
and community care through the NHS diabetes
prevention programme, Healthier You. This
helps people to recognise the risk of developing
diabetes and encourages them to reduce
those risks. More than1,600 people have been
supported to make healthy life style choices which
reduces their risk of developing diabetes.
We are working with 15 community pharmacies
to support people with type 2 diabetes to develop
personalised care plans to help them better
manage their conditions and reduce the risk of
long term complications. We have published
more than 50 online videos, on topics including
self-care, looking after your feet, getting your
eyes checked, and preparing for pregnancy to
help people understand and better manage their
condition.

Specialist diabetes nurses
Approximately 16 percent of people admitted
to hospital have diabetes. If their diabetes is not
managed correctly, they face longer and more
complicated stays in hospital.
People with diabetes are at risk of health
problems, including renal and cardiovascular
disease. While these health problems are not
always related to their diabetes, it can mean they
are likely to need hospital admission.

months community diabetes nurses have led the
use of a new tool - proactive register management
(PARM) - to help practices identify and support
people at risk of diabetes. They have held
workshops to develop the skills of practice staff.
Once identified, people are referred to the practice
nurse or a specialist clinic for support.

A specialist team of nurses based at RCHT is
leading the way in diabetes care which is helping
to reduce the length of time people spend in the
hospital.

When our inpatient specialist diabetes team
was launched more than a decade ago we
very quickly reduced the length of bed stay
by six days. There has also been a reduction
of prescribing errors, and improvement in
the numbers of people who experienced a
hypoglycaemic episode while in hospital, all
of which improve patient safety.
Amanda Veall, lead diabetes CNS

All about DESMOND
This year more newly diagnosed people with
type 2 diabetes have taken part in DESMOND
(diabetes education and self-management for
ongoing and newly diagnosed) programme.
The free six hour course provides newly
diagnosed people with advice and information
on how to manage their condition.
Supporting people with respiratory problems

The team works with the hospital pharmacy team
to get a daily list of all inpatients who are on
insulin and diabetes medication. This allows them
to focus on people with diabetes, to help ensure
safe prescribing and administration of medicines,
and avoid and reduce medication errors. With
additional staff funded through a successful bid by
NHS Kernow, the work of the team has led to a
59 percent reduction in prescribing errors.
There is a team of specialist diabetes nurses
who work with GP practices. During the past 12

Locally, we have a higher number of people with
chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), and
asthma than in other parts of the country, and a
higher mortality rate. As a result, more people are
admitted to hospital during the winter months
with respiratory conditions such as pneumonia
and bronchitis.
We have worked with clinicians and GP
practices to improve prevention, detection and
management of respiratory problems. We are
using the findings to redesign the service.
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Supporting people’s mental health and wellbeing
Supporting people to manage their mental health
is one of our top priorities.
We want everyone in Cornwall and the Isles
of Scilly to enjoy the best possible emotional
and mental health and wellbeing throughout
the course of their life. We need to focus on
the whole person, and tackle mental health
issues with the same energy and priority as
people’s physical health needs across our whole
community, not just people who access mental
health services.
Locally, almost 140,000 people or one in four
people experience at least one diagnosable mental
health problem in any given year. A significant
amount of work has taken place to improve
the quality, range and accessibility of services to
support people to manage their health and to
avoid them reaching a crisis.
Successful projects include:
• Cove Ward: A 12 bedded rehabilitation and
step down facility in Redruth. This has reduced
the number of people requiring acute mental
health care being placed out of county.
• Psychiatric liaison: Availability has been
extended and is available 24/7 as part of
CORE24.
• Specialist perinatal mental health service:
Recruited additional staff to enable women
to access prevention advice and support prepregnancy, or support with their mental health
or prescribed medication for up to 12months
after the child’s birth. Other support includes
new peer support groups, the ongoing
‘Finding Yourself Again’ for women who are
experiencing low mood after pregnancy, and
outreach workers to improve access to the
mother and baby unit in Exeter.
• Physical health checks: To address the
poorer physical health of people with long
term mental health conditions we are working
with our specialist providers and GPs to
improve access to physical health checks.
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• Improved access to psychological
therapies services (IAPT): Provides
standardised care with a set of national waiting
time standards. Highly skilled practitioners offer
psychological support to address depression,
anxiety and post-traumatic stress disorder
(PTSD). Responsibility for the delivery of this
service will transfer from Outlook South West
to CFT in April 2020.
• Suicide prevention: A number of schemes
are in place to help reduce the rate of death
by suicide through targeted funding from NHS
England and overseen by public health. The
specific projects include support to people
after self-harm, supportive sports and activity
sessions, and training for GPs and primary
care to better identify and manage vulnerable
people. More information can be found online.
More information can be found online.
• Integrated multi-agency prevention and
assessment: The crisis teams (IMPACT) hub
at RCHT is a £1.5 million project to build an
IMPACT clinical hub will see services work
together to support people of all ages who are
vulnerable to, experiencing, or recovering from
crisis bringing together a variety of experts.
The build has entered its final stages and is on
target to be complete by April 2020. IMPACT
was highly commended at the HSJ Awards in
November 2019.

• Crisis support: Valued Lives provides support
for people who are in crisis by offering safety
planning for those presenting in emotional
distress, irrespective of their current diagnoses,
dual diagnoses or past diagnoses. The focus of
the interventions is based upon ASIST training
alongside the Connect 5 and five ways to
wellbeing, which promotes a person centred,
holistic approach to problem solving focused
on current concerns. The Crisis Café recovery
hubs offer a range of wellbeing focused
workshops, therapeutic activities and peer
support as well as a safe space to go for help
in times of distress. The safe and supported
return home scheme, in-reaches to the ED at
RCHT to ensure a safe journey home. The team
support the person with any situational factors
which contributed to their distress such as
accessing food banks, ensuring a warm home,
as well as supporting with appropriate ongoing
referrals. A similar service is available from the
UHP ED.
• Mental health employment scheme:
Individual placement support (IPS) - the award
of £500,000 from NHSEI has supported
the expansion of the employment scheme
delivered by the non-profit organisation
Pentreath and CFT.
• Isles of Scilly mental health specialist
co-ordinator: an on island senior mental
health practitioner is now providing a one stop
mental health shop approach to reduce the
number of trips people have to make to the
mainland to manage their condition.
• Domestic abuse and sexual violence
services: A jointly commissioned integrated
service for domestic abuse and sexual violence
has been introduced. The service, delivered by
First Light, provides a single point of access
• Mindful employer initiative: We are
working with employers to encourage sign up
to the mindful employer programme
• Green walking project: Cornwall is one of
eight places in the country chosen to take part
in a nationwide green walking project the aim
is to promote and improve access to green
spaces for adult psychiatric inpatients.

This is the type of service which can make
a huge difference to people’s lives by
preventing them from reaching crisis point
and supporting them to take back control.
Dr Paul Cook,
clinical lead for mental health

Work can be central to the recovery of a
person with serious mental health because
it links us to our communities, provides us
with status and identity as well as meaning
and purpose in life. In addition many of us
will meet our friends and partners through
either work or education and it gives the
resources we need to do other things that
we value in life.
Dr Paul Cook,
clinical lead for mental health

Being able to provide care closer to
home and avoid unnecessary journeys
to the mainland for support will have a
really positive impact on people’s
health and wellbeing.
Dr Paul Cook,
clinical lead for mental health
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Developing a new adult mental health
strategy

Case study
Ben, 27 is one of the people who have been
helped by the mental health employment
scheme. Ben, who experienced psychosis
for approximately three years and barely left
the house, said the employment support
offered by Pentreath has given him a new
lease of life. He has now completed a BTEC
course in administration as well as other
vocational qualifications including a level 2 in
understanding mental health and has gone
from volunteering at Pentreath to full-time
employment with the organisation.
“If it hadn’t been for Pentreath and the
support that they gave me into employment
I would still be at home unable to leave the
house and fearful of social situations.
My life has been transformed, it’s unbelievable
and I can’t thank them enough. The change
in me is unbelievable, yes I have good days
and bad days but my lifestyle is
completely different now”
Ben Bray

Our mental health is affected by many things trauma and difficult life experiences, stigma
and marginalisation, problems with
relationships, unhealthy lifestyles,
employment, housing and the environment.
We all have a stake in our own and others’
emotional wellbeing and resilience and our
strategy sets out how we will support local
people over the next five years.
Tim Francis, head of mental health
and learning disability commissioning
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During the past 12 months we have worked with
Cornwall Council and the Council of the Isles of
Scilly, Healthwatch in Cornwall and the Isles of
Scilly and our partners to develop a new five year
adult mental health strategy. The aim of the new
strategy is to help everyone enjoy the best possible
emotional and mental health and wellbeing
throughout the course of their life. It will sit
alongside the mental health strategy for children
and young people.
The new strategy emphasises early intervention,
prevention and integration, as well as the
maintenance of healthy living and the delivery
of specialist care. There is a specific focus on the
needs of younger adults, and those transitioning
into adult services, as well as those with more
enduring needs and higher risk groups, as well
as older members of communities who feel
vulnerable and lonely.
We want to see the whole system working
together to ensure support for good emotional
health is the responsibility of us all. It is important
to recognise that some of the skills to support
those with emotional and mental health issues
do not always sit in specialist services but within
our communities. We want to provide better
and clearer signposting to these services, and
empower people to have greater choice and
control over the way their health and care is
delivered. This means expanding the use of social
prescribing and PHBs to enable people to access
services they feel they need to improve their
health. This includes accessing complimentary
therapies, creative opportunities, Intensive
psychotherapy and hydrotherapy.

40,886

people registered with
depression in Cornwall
and the Isles of Scilly

Improving and personalising high quality end of life care
People reaching the end of their lives have the
right to receive safe, high quality care which meets
their needs. We need to ensure that we prepare
and support people at the end of their lives, and
their families so they can have a dignified death.
We only have one chance to get end of life (EoL)
care right and all health and care partners are
committed to ensuring that we make the final
days and months of a person’s life as comfortable
as possible.
To help us deliver this commitment we are
working with health and local authority partners,
hospices, Macmillan, Marie Curie, Healthwatch
Cornwall and primary care through the EoL
strategy board to improve EoL care.
Key priorities include raising public awareness
about the importance of talking about death and
bereavement, providing EoL education training for
health professionals, and ensuring that all parts
of the system provide a timely and appropriate
response.
We are developing a new safe and secure system
to enable health professionals involved in the
care of someone who is terminally ill to share
information so the person or a member of their
family doesn’t have to keep repeating their story.
Achievements during the past 12 months include:
• Official launch of the EoL learning path
at an event held at the Eden Project. The
path highlights learning expectations and the
competencies to complete a passport to be
used across the whole system. We are working
across the health and care system to hold a
series of advanced care planning workshops to
improve the confidence of staff in care homes
in to support residents at EoL, retaining the
workforce; reducing avoidable admissions, and
planning for EoL care.

I wish to see us working together with
patients and families to explore thoughts
and fears around death to ensure we
recognise end of life and make plans.
I want us to be able to share this
information as a system so patients feel
understood and supported. Most of all
I want our system to be responsive and
caring to the dying person and their family
so they do not feel alone or frightened and
feel cared for and supported.
Dr Tamsyn Anderson, GP joint medical
director for CFT and chair of the
EoL strategy board

• Developing a county-wide charter for
EoL care to help people with advanced,
progressive, incurable illness to live as well
as possible until they die, and to provide
supportive and palliative care which meets
the needs of both the person and family
throughout the last phase of life and into
bereavement. The charter is being developed
by a multi-agency group to explain what
people can expect and provides a reference
point to be able to ask questions. It will help
promote the need to have continuous open
and honest conversations about death and
dying.
• Created a system verification of death
(VoD) policy after care homes raised concerns
associated with verifying unexpected deaths.
We facilitated the development of a systemwide approach.

Annual report 2019/20

51

• National praise for Butterfly Cornwall
scheme. Led by RCHT’s palliative and EoL care
team with support from Macmillan cancer
support, the scheme aims to improve the way
people and their loved ones spend their last
days together. Staff use simple and effective
tools, such as discreet butterfly stickers next
to beds and yellow dignity clips on curtains,
to inform all hospital staff that a person is
in the last days of their life so that they act
with compassion and sensitivity towards
both the person and their family. The scheme
trains hospital staff to understand what the
butterfly stickers mean and how they can best
support people and their families in these
difficult circumstances. To date over 645 staff
from RCHT have been trained. The innovative
scheme has been praised nationally as an
example of best practice by Macmillan Cancer
Support.
• Sweeney project. A team from the EoL
strategy board are working on this personcentred project to support and improve
personalised care at EoL.
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Butterfly Cornwall is a great example of
how Royal Cornwall Hospital is leading the
way by prioritising sensitive and appropriate
care at the end of life and showing that all
staff have a role to play in helping a patient
to have a good death. We are so proud to
be involved in such an important project.
Ed Murphy, head of services at
Macmillan Cancer Support

Improving quality
As the commissioner for health services we are
committed to ensuring every person in has access
to high quality, safe and effective care. Making
sure the services we commission meet both local
needs and national standards around quality,
safety and access is a key part of our work.
Our quality assurance framework is used to
monitor and review a wide range of core quality
metrics and local and national requirements
including Commissioning for Quality and
Innovation (CQUINs).
The key measures used as indicators of the
delivery against contractual quality requirements
and improvements, associated with our key
priorities include, but is not restricted to: incidents;
serious incidents (including never events); mortality
metrics; complaints; outcomes of quality assurance
visits; key performance indicators and CQUIN data;
identified risks; national benchmarks eg friends
and family test performance; staff and patient
survey results; workforce metrics including safer
staffing performance; NHS safety thermometer;
CQC reports; and intelligence from Healthwatch,
NHS England and Improvement and any other
stakeholders.

We collect, analyse, monitor and challenge metrics
across activity, finance, and quality measures to
ensure that we deliver high quality care and value
for money and meet NHS Constitution standards.
We monitor our performance against a range
of measures, including access to services and
waiting times, effectiveness of services and quality
standards. We hold our providers to account
through our contracts, and work with them to
ensure they reach and maintain high quality
standards in their services, particularly in areas
such as infection control, and make sure they get
the support they need to give the highest possible
service.
To improve services we aim to deliver on the
domains and clinical priority areas set out in
the national CCG improvement and assurance
framework. This framework ensures our
organisation is fit for purpose and that the services
we commission meet national standards and
targets. The four domains are:
Better health

We achieve CCG quality assurance through our
quality and performance committee. It receives
monthly reports detailing quality metrics,
exception and performance reports against agreed
NHS constitutional standards. The committee
reports and can escalate concerns, if necessary, to
the Governing Body.

Better care

Leadership

Sustainability

Safety
The national patient safety strategy was published
in summer 2019. In response, as a system we are:
• Working across health and care to understand
how best to implement new expectations for
safety incidents response, including new safety
investigation standards.
• Implementing the new safety incident
management system for reporting.
• Establishing hospital-based medical examiner
scrutiny of all deaths in acute hospitals by April
2020, and all deaths by April 2021.

The six clinical priority areas for 2019/20 were:
Cancer

Dementia

Diabetes

Learning disabilities

Maternity

Mental health
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NHSEI has a statutory duty to undertake an
assessment of each CCG on an annual basis.
This has been done under the auspices of the
improvement and assessment framework (IAF),
with the overall assessment derived from CCG
performance against the IAF indicators, including
an assessment of leadership and financial
management.
Ratings for 2018/19 were published in July 2019
and NHS Kernow received an overall good which
is a significant achievement from the 2017/18
rating of inadequate. We use the information
provided by these performance monitoring
systems to shape the way we plan and set our
priorities and design and commission services.
The system across Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly
established the Patient Safety in Kernow Quality
Improvement (PSKQI) collaborative in partnership
with the South West Academic Health Science
Network to enable and support continuous
learning and improvement and to help bridge the
gap between the current state to where health
and care partners are delivering the care they
would like for themselves and their family.
PSKQI concentrated on three topics: physical
deterioration/ sepsis identification and treatment;
falls prevention and medication safety. Each
work stream was represented by health and care
professionals and QuIPPS (quality improvement
partner panels) which ensures the voice of
the public is involved in improvement projects
and the development of innovation. Alongside
expert quality improvement training using IHI
methodology, members have designed multiple
projects across the system.
Achievements have been captured on the LifeQI
electronic system and one in particular has been
recognised on a national level drawing out the
personal impact.

Care home quality assurance
2018 saw the launch of two new programmes
working with the care home sector; enhanced
health in care homes and provider assurance
compliance tool (PACT).
This year we became the first CCG in the south
west to take forward the work from the national
vanguard enhanced health in care homes
programme (EHCH), a new model of care to
enhance residents’ health and to strengthen
relationships across health, care and the wider
community.
This new way of working offers proactive care
that puts the needs of the care home residents at
the heart of everything to enhance their health.
Led by award-winning nurse Louisa Forbes, the
aim of the programme is to ensure high-quality
care in care homes, making sure that wherever
possible people who require support to live
independently can access the right care and health
services in the place of their choosing and to
reduce unnecessary hospital admissions and stays
while ensuring the best care for residents.
Louisa is supporting care homes to navigate the
health and care system and access key services
such as end-of-life and dementia care, and make
better use of technology across care homes.
Eight care homes are taking part in the pilot
programme but Louisa wants to reach every care
home across Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.

The EHCH programme has the potential
to transform the lives of hundreds of our
older population that are living in care
homes and supported living by offering
truly coordinated, preventive care.
Jackie Pendleton,
chief officer for NHS Kernow
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Partnership working
I have felt for some time that care home
staff are doing such an incredibly hard job
and there is a big need to value them as a
vital part of our health and social system. I
therefore jumped at the chance of managing
the EHCH programme, which ambitiously
aims to offer proactive care that puts the
needs of the care home residents at the heart
of everything. Health will mean different
things to different residents; for some their
priority might be having a newspaper every
day, and for others their care needs will be
very acute and extremely complex. Care
home staff are often managing residents
who years ago would have been in an acute
hospital and we need to respect,
reward and enhance those skills.
Louisa Forbes, nurse

Another initiative underway from the EHCH
programme is implementation of the Restore2
tool. We are using the ‘recognise early soft-signs,
take observations, respond and escalate’ tool to
encourage and implement the use of the national
early warning score (NEWS2) throughout the
community to ensure a common language across
health and care professionals, nursing homes,
GP primary care, out of hours and emergency
services. This enables safe, effective and timely
care to be provided by the right person, in the
right place, at the right time.
We are training staff to take and record
observations (blood pressure, respiratory rate,
temperate etc.) and then to calculate a NEWS2
score which gives health care professionals an
immediate idea of how unwell someone is. For
example a score of zero to one shows person
is well whereas a score of five indicates that
someone is unwell and needs specialist medical
input very quickly.

We are working to provide NHS support for
nurses and carers in care homes. We have been
developing ways to share information, provide
clinical supervision, and training and opportunities
for networking. We have negotiated for NHS to
give these staff access to some specific elements
of training.
To celebrate 2020 Year of the Nurse/Midwife
we have worked with our partners to set up a
new registered nurse in care forum, hosted by
the Cornwall Health and Social Care Learning
Partnership (CAHSC). The first forum of its kind
will provide clinical support for care homes, share
clinical experiences across sectors, offer clinical
opportunities and will ensure all key clinical issues
and challenges are shared amongst peers. This is
a great opportunity for nursing homes to present
experiences, feel valued and have a voice in the
wider health and care system.
The nursing and quality teams work closely with
external services including the CQC, NHSEI and
local authorities to ensure effective and ongoing
monitoring of the safety and effectiveness of
all commissioned providers. In October 2019,
the system quality surveillance group (QSG) was
established using the guidance from the national
quality board.
Provider assurance compliance tool
We are working with an external provider to
create a bespoke electronic tool to support homes
to demonstrate the quality of care provided and
compliance with the five CQC domains as well as
health and care requirements. A number of pilots
are on-going across England and we are working
collaboratively to share experiences and learning.
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Infection control

Serious incidents and quality concerns

Antimicrobial resistance continues to be a focus.
Working as a system to improve the arrangements
for our population we have begun to reduce
exposure to antibiotics through the way we
diagnose infections and identify sepsis early. A
senior responsible officer is leading this work for
the whole system.

We recognise that health and care systems and
processes can have weaknesses that lead to errors.
Tragically, these errors sometimes have serious
consequences.

Tools to help identify deterioration and prevent
sepsis are in use in acute and community hospitals
and by community nurses. In care homes, an
adapted tool, is beginning to show the benefit of
using standard language to describe changes in a
person’s condition.
Building on previous work to help prevent urine
infections by use of a county-wide catheter
passport and a network of catheter champions,
a campaign to improve hydration has been
delivered. Posters and bookmarks encouraging
people to check for healthy urine colour have
been widely distributed including to shops,
libraries and community centres. A website
utistop.co.uk has been launched to provide
information and free training films for care staff or
carers at home.

In hospital the #ButFirstADrink initiative
recruits ambassadors to improve hydration by
remembering to offer a drink before each contact
with a person.
Vaccination is an important way to prevent
infection, helping to reduce the need for
antibiotics. Frontline health and care staff have
improved the uptake of Influenza vaccination
again this season.
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We work with our partners and providers to
learn from and to mitigate against future risks in
a culture of fairness, openness and learning. This
year sees us increase the number of multi-agency
investigations, facilitating providers to work
together, be clinically curious and produce joint
recommendations.
Our providers are responsible for people’s
safety and must ensure robust systems are in
place within their organisations for recognising,
reporting, investigating and responding to serious
incidents and for arranging and resourcing
investigations. We are accountable for quality
assuring their clinical governance systems
and processes and the robustness of their
investigations. We continue to do this with our
providers on a weekly basis, challenging early in
the process to maximise learning.
This year we established a Cornwall-wide learning
from incident forum for all commissioners and
providers. The aim of the multi-agency forum
is to promote shared learning from incidents;
promote collaborative working to facilitate multiagency investigations; agree and standardise the
process including the development of joint training
in serious incident management. The feedback
from the first system wide training event was
overwhelmingly positive.
We are planning how to widen the training
offer to ensure all organisations can benefit and
the local forum will address the issue of how
to include system-wide peer supervision for
investigators and peer review of incident reports.
We are pleased and excited to report the forum
has developed further to become a learning
forum where excellence can be celebrated and
understood alongside learning from near misses
and errors.

People’s experience

CQUIN scheme

As well as being safe and effective, people having
a good experience of care, treatment and support
is an essential part of an excellent health and care
service.

The aim of the CQUIN scheme is to deliver clinical
quality improvements and drive transformational
change. With these objectives in mind the scheme
is designed to support the ambitions of the NHS
Five Year Forward View and directly links to the
NHS Mandate.

We encourage and welcome feedback and use
this alongside information from providers to
improve the care we provide and build on our
successes. Many areas of the quality work include
the person and their family as partners.
We have been working alongside Healthwatch
Cornwall and Healthwatch Isles of Scilly to
establish effective links and to receive regular
flows of information from people who use our
services.
During 2019/20 we received 35 complaints,
which were dealt with in accordance with internal
procedures. Three complainants referred their
concerns to the Parliamentary Health Service
Ombudsman (PHSO) for further investigation.
During the year the PHSO closed three cases after
initial investigation and no further action has been
required.
We have a number of volunteer dignity in care
assessors, who carry out annual audits of all
hospital services to check if providers are treating
people with dignity and respect. This includes
looking at the environment, privacy, dignity and
modesty, communication with people, promoting
individual needs, and feedback/stories. The results
are shared with the quality and performance
committee and considered alongside other sources
of intelligence.
During the past 12 months, our assessors have
carried out planned but unannounced visits to
a range of care providers, including in-patient
wards in acute, mental health and community
hospitals and to out-patient departments and the
emergency department and care homes.

Our CQUIN scheme is designed to provide greater
certainty and stability on our CQUIN goals, leaving
more time for health communities to focus on
implementing the initiatives.
Our CQUIN clinical quality and transformational
indicators for the next 12 months include:
Antimicrobial
resistance and sepsis

Staff flu
vaccinations

Alcohol and
tobacco screening

Falls
prevention

Same day
emergency care

Medicine
optimisation

Workforce
development

Mental health
72hr follow-up
post discharge

Stroke six month
reviews
We monitor and assess providers’ performance
against these indicators on a quarterly basis
following their submission of evidence, working
in an open and partnership approach in order to
improve the outcomes and experience for both
staff and people who use services.
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CQC inspections
CQC gives four ratings to health and social care
services:
• Outstanding: The service is performing
exceptionally well.
• Good: The service is performing well and
meeting CQC expectations.
• Requires improvement: The service isn’t
performing as well as it should and CQC has
told the service how it must improve.
• Inadequate: The service is performing badly
and CQC has taken action against the person
or organisation that runs it.
Cornwall Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
During 2019/2020 the CQC carried out a focused
inspection of the community hospitals and nursing
teams, mental health, learning disability and
dementia services provided by CFT. The report,
published in July 2019, confirmed the trust had
improved from a previous rating of requires
improvement to good. Key findings included

The CQC praised the systems put in place by the
trust to deliver sustainable improvements to access
and waiting times.
Royal Cornwall Hospital NHS Trust
During 2019/20 the CQC carried out an inspection
of the services provided at RCHT. The report,
published in February, confirmed that the hospital
had made progress in a number of areas, and
recommended it should be taken out of special
measures. Key findings included:
• Maternity services which were the subject of a
‘29a warning notice’ have now been rated as
‘good overall.’
• End of life care and outpatients services have
also all improved ratings to ‘good overall’.
• The rating of how effective services are has
improved to ‘good’.
• The rating of how well-led services are at the
trust was also improved to ‘good’.

The report recognises where there is still more to
• Improvements to all community health services, do in urgent and emergency, medical and surgery
community hospitals, minor injury units and
services which are rated as requires improvement.
community health teams.
The ongoing work required in these areas means
• Wards for older people with dementia and
the overall trust rating has stayed the same at
other mental health problems rated as
requires improvement.
outstanding due to the way staff worked
GP practices
with people and their families and how they
ensured people moved on to appropriate
The majority of registered GP practice sites in
placements despite a challenging environment. Cornwall, 49 (84.5 percent) are rated as good by
• The trust had an experienced stable senior
the CQC, with six rated as outstanding. There are
leadership team with the skills, abilities, and
three rated as requires improvement.
commitment to provide high quality services
We are continuing to monitor all action plans
with a strong unified board.
with providers through our routine quality review
• The culture of the trust had improved and staff
meetings or contract meetings.
morale was high in the majority of services
with staff feeling respected, supported and
University Hospitals Plymouth (UHP)
valued by their managers and the trust.
The CQC carried out an inspection at UHP
The CQC also carried out an unannounced
(Derriford) in the summer. This was to check
inspection of CFT‘s CAMHS in the mid and east of the trust’s progress following an inspection in
the county in October 2019. This found that the
December 2018, and to check the quality of four
trust had met all the requirements of a warning
core services: maternity, medical care, diagnostic
notice previously issued by the CQC in April 2019. imaging and surgery. The trust remains rated as
requires improvement for the quality of services.
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North Devon District Hospital (NDDH)
There was an announced inspection of four core services at NDDH in Barnstaple last year. The
inspectors assessed urgent and emergency care, maternity services, end of life care and out patient
services, as well as the community inpatients service provided by the North Devon Healthcare NHS
Trust. Overall the rating remains as requires improvement.
Effectiveness
Often referred to as clinical effectiveness, this is about improving the total experience of healthcare and
is an essential part of improving and assuring quality. The aim of clinical effectiveness is to use evidence
to improve the effectiveness of clinical practice and service delivery.
We are committed to ensuring people’s care is evidence-based, effective and founded on the principles
of good practice. This means doing the right thing at the right time for the right person:
• The right thing (evidence-based practice requires that decisions about health care are based on the
best available, current, valid and reliable evidence).
• In the right way (developing a workforce that is skilled and competent to deliver the care required).
• At the right time (accessible services providing treatment when the person needs them)
• In the right place (location of treatment/services).
• With the right outcome (clinical effectiveness/maximising health gain).
It is also about thinking critically about what you do, questioning whether it is having the desired
result, and making a change to practice; using evidence of what is effective in order to improve care
and experience. Monitoring the efficient and effective use of resources is an important element of our
function.
We manage and monitor our providers in a number of ways including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Announced and unannounced clinical quality assurance visits.
Regular clinical meetings to discuss quality and safety issues.
Working with providers to ensure the best care and pathways are in place for our people.
Sharing national reports and implementing relevant learning into local practice.
Celebrating and sharing good practice.
Using national and local clinical audits to improve practice.
Ensuring adherence to NICE quality standards and guidelines.
CQUIN schemes to secure improvements in quality of services and better outcomes for people
where weaknesses in services have been identified.
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Health and wellbeing strategy
We work with our two health and wellbeing
boards to improve people’s health and wellbeing.
This is where health, social care, police, housing,
education and children’s services come together
to help improve the future health and wellbeing of
our population.

The strategy has four overarching objectives:
Healthy communities: We create
healthy and sustainable places and
communities to live, learn, work and age.

The health and wellbeing board priorities for
Cornwall are:

Healthy start: Children are given the
best start in life enabling them to equally
reach their full potential

• Helping people to live longer, happier and
healthier lives.
• Improving the quality of life.
• Fairer life chances for all.

Healthy bodies: People feel enabled
and motivated to actively manage their
lifestyles and reduce risks to health

The health and wellbeing board priorities for the
Isles of Scilly are:
• Equitable access to services.
• Promoting smoking cessation and responsible
drinking.
• Supporting independent living and self-care.
• Improving access to mental health services.
During the past 12 months the health and
wellbeing board in Cornwall has discussed a
range of issues across the health and wellbeing
spectrum. These have included preventing
homelessness and rough sleeping, smoking
cessation, physical activity and the health and
wellbeing asks in new frontiers.
The main area of focus of both the Cornwall
and the Isles of Scilly boards has been on the
development of a new ten year health and
wellbeing strategy.
This centres around the vision of:
By working together to tackle health
inequalities, everyone can enjoy good
health and wellbeing and grow, live,
work and age well.
This strategy and framework is aligned to our
NHS long term plan, providing the prevention
and wellbeing focus that is required alongside our
transformation of health and care services.
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Healthy minds: Our mental health
and wellbeing is valued and considered
equally important as physical health.
Underpinning the health and wellbeing strategy
are five principles that we have agreed:
• Collective responsibility and understanding of
the benefits of actively managing our health
and wellbeing.
• Investing in prevention to promote a more
sustainable system.
• Communities and systems working together to
drive a healthier culture.
• Promoting inclusion, recognising diversity and
reducing inequalities.
• Ensuring we all safeguard the most vulnerable
to enable them to live healthy, safe lives.
The Cornwall and Isles of Scilly health and
wellbeing strategy 2020-2030 was formally
agreed by both boards in January 2020. This is the
first time both boards have worked together to
develop a joint health and wellbeing strategy.
In 2020 we will work with our communities
and stakeholders to develop four delivery plans
covering the Isles of Scilly, west, central and north/
east Cornwall. See the plan on a page.

Reducing health inequality
In accordance with Section 14T of the Health and
Social Care Act 2012, we have a legal duty to help
reduce inequalities between people in accessing
health services and the outcomes achieved - one
of the five guiding principles in our health and
wellbeing strategy.
Those most at risk of health inequalities are:
• People aged 65+ who are frail.
• People who are homeless or part of travelling
communities.
• Children living in poverty.
What we are doing to tackle health
inequalities?
We are working with our health, social care
and wider partners to develop our strategy and
improve prosperity. For example we have:
• Well-developed support for people to stop
smoking and reduce alcohol dependency and
introduced support to help people manage
their weight.
• Increased the number of people screened
for cancer, especially people with learning
disabilities, and the number of people at
increased risk of diabetes supported to prevent
diabetes.
• Started to increase detection of cardiovascular
risk factors.
Smoking cessation through Healthy Cornwall
Health inequalities start at birth and it is known
that those born into a smoking household are
more likely to smoke. Smoking is the leading cause
of death in Cornwall, with around 1,000 smoke
related deaths recorded every year. There is a stark
social gradient to smoking with pregnant smokers
more likely to come from a more deprived
background, with smoking perpetuating this social
and health inequality.

To address this we have been working with
partners to deliver the following actions:
• Regular carbon monoxide testing of all women
throughout their pregnancy with healthy
pregnancy advice for women presenting at
their 12-week scans.
• Targeted follow up smoking cessation support
for women and their family/partners.
• Targeted smoking cessation support for routine
and manual workers through the workplace
health scheme and during Stoptober.
• Dedicated smoking cessation support for staff,
visitors and patients across RCHT and CFT with
targeted support to mental health inpatients
and recurrent admissions for people with long
term conditions.
Leaders at Cornwall Council have also signed the
local government declaration on tobacco control,
as part of a series of measures to enable Cornwall
to become ‘smoke free’ and improve people’s
health across Cornwall.
Following the signing of the declaration in
September 2019, we have been working with the
Smokefree Cornwall Tobacco Control Alliance,
made up of partners such as NHS trusts, public
health, Trading Standards and Cornwall Fire and
Rescue Service, to reduce the number of people
who take up smoking, make smoke free places
the norm and help people who want to stop
smoking.
What else we plan to do?
• Continue to increase access to stop smoking
advice.
• Provide more staff training across all areas at
RCHT so they can advise on stopping smoking.
• Improve the smoking cessation provision for
new parents, particularly those whose babies
require neonatal care or parents whose
children are admitted to the paediatric wards.

Over 25%

of routine manual workers smoke
Annual report 2019/20

61

Health checks through Healthy Cornwall
The NHS health check programme is designed
to spot early signs of stroke, kidney disease,
heart disease, type 2 diabetes or dementia
amongst people aged 40-74 years, and reduce
risk by providing behavioural change support.
Cornwall has a universal health check offer which
is delivered through GP surgeries, as well as a
targeted offer that is delivered through Healthy
Cornwall. A dedicated Healthy Cornwall advisor
offers NHS health checks to predominantly routine
and manual workplaces. Between January and
December 2019, 1,126 NHS health checks were
delivered by Healthy Cornwall advisors.
Healthy Cornwall also has a dedicated outreach
healthy lifestyle advisor to offer NHS health
checks to fishermen and families covering Newlyn,
Newquay and Mevagissey. Further engagement
with at risk groups via Addaction and community
pharmacies will be extended during 2020.
Over the last two years there has been an increase
in the offer and uptake of NHS health checks
across Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.
Alcohol
Locally, we know that almost one quarter
of adults drink above recommended healthy
levels and nearly 30,000 more than double the
recommended levels.
New estimates from Public Health England
indicate that Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly has
around 6,600 dependent drinkers, equating to 1.5
percent of the population.
A review of case studies of frequent hospital
attenders reflect that these people are often very
vulnerable and have problems with alcohol and
other drugs, alongside other physical and mental
health needs. Many have a chaotic lifestyle and
demonstrate problems with engagement, often
resisting treatment and change and requiring
more support. The number of young people
in treatment for alcohol as a primary drug is 8
percent, which is consistent with the national
treatment population.
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We have an alcohol liaison team based in Royal
Cornwall Hospital which consists of specialist
nurses and assistant practitioners with specialist
interest in alcohol. They work with people to:
• Reduce acute alcohol related hospital
attendances, admissions, outpatient
appointments and readmissions.
• Reduce acute length of stay for appropriate
people and ensure adequate community based
resources.
• Systemise and mainstream the use of brief
intervention advice for appropriate people in
emergency department settings and across
wards where indicated.
• People in hospital whose alcohol consumption
scores highly or associated conditions receive
bespoke intervention and support. With
data obtained at admission, the team can
be made aware of people with high alcohol
consumption, ensuring they are supported and
followed up during their admission.
We have also launched a campaign to help
people be more aware of what they are drinking.
This includes the launch of a Drink’s Meter app
which allows them to track what they have
drunk throughout the week. It can then calculate
how many calories they have drunk and how
that equates with food they could have eaten,
and track how much money they have spent on
alcohol.
What else are we going to do?
• We are introducing routine screening for
alcohol consumption for all people admitted
to hospital and people scoring about the
threshold will be reviewed by the team for
brief intervention if indicated.
• The voluntary sector service will be expanded
to provide support to young people over
weekends and overnight.
• We will work to reduce pressure on hospitals
and increase discharge rates, through
development across all utilised community
hospital sites across Cornwall and by increasing
the availability of home detox and care.

Weight management

Joint strategic needs assessment (JSNA)

A weight management service is offered by
This year we completed:
Healthy Cornwall for people aged 18+, who have
• Population health summary (2020) to inform
a BMI above 25 and group sessions are available in
the new ten year Cornwall and the Isles of
rotation across major towns. People can self-refer
Scilly health and wellbeing strategy.
onto the programme or be referred via a health
• Adult mental health JSNA summary which
professional and it can be accessed by people with
underpinned the Cornwall and Isles of Scilly
type 2 diabetes.
mental health strategy.
• Physical health of adults with mental health
Healthy Cornwall also offer a range of physical
problems (JSNA summary paper).
activity opportunities including health walks and
• Self-management of long term conditions
swimming for health sessions.
needs assessment and model of care.
What else are we going to do?
• JSNA topic summaries on sexual health and
• Improve what we can provide digitally to
cancer.
increase the reach and impact of the service.
• Provide more targeted sessions for those most Homeless hospital discharge
at risk, for example working with Plymouth
We support the homeless hospital discharge
Argyle to develop Argyle Fit for working
service. This is now part of Cornwall’s multiage men to engage them in healthy lifestyle
agency rough sleeper prevention strategy which
messages through friendly, competitive sport.
aims to improve health outcomes for homeless
• Improve links with GP surgeries.
people and rough sleepers. The programme, led
Fuel poverty
by Cornwall Council, is funded and mainstreamed
by the NHS (CFT and RCHT) and Cornwall Housing
We have, for the eighth year running, supported
and helps around 200 homeless people each year
the system wide Winter Wellbeing campaign to
with better health and housing outcomes.
promote the impact of cold weather and cold
homes on preventing NHS healthcare admissions.
This included the delivery of winter warmth help
to more than 1,000 households and the ongoing
delivery of first time central heating across
Cornwall under our winter wellbeing (warm and
well Cornwall) programme. In February 2019
the winter wellbeing (warm home discount)
programme to help a minimum of 600 households
stay warm and well by March 2020 across
Cornwall and Isles of Scilly was launched. We
supported Cornwall Council and Citizens’ Advice,
on behalf of the Government’s Department for
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) to
develop and produce cold homes toolkits for local
government and health across England.

1,000

households received
winter warmth help
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Emergency preparedness, resilience and response (EPRR)
All CCGs are required to plan for and be ready to assist organisations to respond to incidents which
could affect the health of their populations. These could include a major flu pandemic or diseases such
as COVID-19, swine flu or Ebola, a terrorist incident or a plane or train crash. While this response is
usually led by NHS England and Improvement, we are always prepared to take on this role if required
and work closely with other organisations to ensure an effective NHS response. We operate an on-call
system where senior managers are available around the clock to respond to such incidents.
During the last year we have taken part in an exercise which tested how we work with others in
responding to a major incident. On call staff have also rehearsed what they would do in the event of
severe weather, keeping staff safe and maintaining business continuity.
Our chief nursing officer is our EPRR accountable emergency officer and has overall responsibility
for ensuring we comply with all our statutory duties. Following our most recent assessment by NHS
England and Improvement, we were assessed as being fully compliant with the national core standards.

Managing our organisation
Sustainability
We are required by law to work in a way that has
a positive effect on the communities for whom
we plan and buy healthcare services. Sustainability
means spending public money well, the smart
and efficient use of natural resources and building
healthy, resilient communities.
Making the most of our social, environmental and
economic assets, as set out in the 2012 Public
Services (social value) Act, means we can improve
health in both the immediate and long term
even in the context of rising costs. This includes
working hard to minimise our carbon footprint so
we can contribute to the overall target of reducing
the carbon footprint of the NHS, public health
and social care system by 34 percent (from a 1990
baseline) equivalent to a 28 percent reduction
from a 2013 baseline by 2020.
We recognise that climate change and
environmental degradation in Cornwall and
the Isles of Scilly will have a negative impact
on both the physical and mental health of our
local population, particularly on the poor and
vulnerable. Reducing this impact will reduce health
inequalities and lessen the demand on the NHS
and social care.
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In 2019 health and care partners individually
declared a climate emergency. We have been
working with partners to examine the impact and
opportunities of climate change.
The NHS contributes around 5 percent of all UK
greenhouse gas emissions. We need to urgently
respond by reducing greenhouse gas emissions
and using resources more efficiently in all aspects
of the local NHS. This will require action in the
areas of energy, travel, waste, procurement,
pharmaceuticals, buildings and land.
Last year we commissioned a specific report to
identify opportunities to mitigate the impact
of climate change. We are currently developing
a sustainable development management plan
(SDMP) and a sustainable development assessment
tool. We are appointing a lead person on our
Governing Body to lead the implementation of
the plan and are monitoring progress in reducing
our carbon emissions via six monthly reports.
We require the environment and climate change
to be considered in all decisions made by the
organisation, including the commissioning of
services.
We aim to maximise the health co-benefits
of interventions to reduce greenhouse gases,
particularly in terms of active travel, home
energy efficiency, healthier diets, food growing,
environmental volunteering and air quality.
We have introduced a number of initiatives to
help sustain the health and wellbeing of our
population, environment and local economy.
These include:
• Using telephone dial-ins, video conferencing
and car sharing to reduce road travel.
• Working with suppliers to encourage greater
use of sustainable procurement, including
buying from local companies and from those
with a sustainable resource base and ensuring
the buildings we occupy (irrespective of their
ownership) have a low carbon footprint.
• Adapting our ways of working so staff can
work from home.
• Adapting our models of care for people in
light of changing weather patterns which can
endanger life.

We are working to improve staff awareness of
climate change and the impact of decisions on the
environment through regular communication in
staff bulletins, development of a carbon literacy
and health training module, and identifying
carbon champions. We’re supporting a health and
climate conference to help raise awareness of the
impact of the NHS and health on climate change
across the community to be held later this year.
Carbon reduction projects which are already
underway in the Cornwall and Isles of Scilly
healthcare system include:
• RCHT: Reducing greenhouse gas emissions
from anaesthetics, which make up 5 percent of
acute hospitals’ total emissions
• CFT: Use of electric cars in the community
• NHS Kernow/primary care: shifting
prescribing to dry powdered inhalers (DPI)
which are less harmful to the environment
than traditional metered dose inhalers (MDIs).
We are working on the development of a range of
projects to increase the use of digital technology
in primary care. These include:
• Expanding the community of interest network
(CoIN) to enable primary care clinicians and
staff to have seamless access to their systems
and data as they move between acute,
community and GP care settings.
• Consolidating and rationalising GP IT systems
changes to enable clusters of practices
in Carrick and Kerrier localities to work
collaboratively.
• Providing mobile and remote working solutions
to support primary care clinicians and staff to
work effectively outside their base practice (eg
care homes; home visits; acute; community or
from the home).
• Roll out of online consultation was accelerated
in response to COVID-19.
• Developing electronic discharge.
communication solutions and other IT solutions
to reduce the administrative burden.
• Further investment in cloud-based telephony
options enabling practices to switch calls and
remove the dependence on obsolete analogue
voice systems.
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Using digital technology
We work from offices that are either leased from
NHS Property Services or a private landlord and
are shared with other organisations that contribute
to the bills. The proportion of our staff, compared
to other organisations, at some sites is also very
small. Therefore it is not possible to provide
meaningful data on sustainability issues like water
use and energy consumption.

Equality and diversity
People have different needs and access services
in different ways. We want to ensure that there
is equality of access and treatment for all services
that we commission, both as a matter of fairness
and as an essential part of our commitment
to reduce health inequalities and improve
people’s health and wellbeing. We strive to
ensure an equitable and comprehensive service
for all, irrespective of age, disability, gender
reassignment (trans or transgender), marriage and
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race,
including nationality and ethnic origin, religion or
belief, sex and sexual orientation.
We are committed to ensuring that all our staff
are treated fairly and equally. Our aim is to be an
organisation that leads the promotion of equality
and diversity in its workforce. NHS Kernow is a
Disability Confident Employer, a Mindful Employer
and a Stonewall Diversity Champion.
Information about our equality and diversity
work is available on our website. This includes
our overarching equality objectives, gender
pay gap report and Workforce Race Equality
Standard report, as well as linking to our equality
information in compliance with our Public Sector
Equality Duty.
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We are in the middle of a massive digital
transformation programme. This means
developing ways to use advanced technology to
tie our health and care services more effectively
together.
From a project which will enable the computer
programmes used by the different NHS
organisations and local councils to finally talk to
each other and the development of an electronic
patient record system, to increased use of video
consultation and conferencing, via phone,
desktop or laptop, to help reduce travel, we are
looking at ways of using technology to transform
connectivity and improve the safety, efficiency and
quality of care. We are also exploring technologies
which will empower people.
At RCHT, for example, records are currently being
digitised and shifting files of paper notes from
department to department will soon be a thing
of the past. All clinicians are carrying iPad devices
which allow them to receive alerts if anyone under
their care exhibits signs of deterioration or sepsis.
Additionally, mobile devices allow all clinical staff
to record notes at the person’s bedside that can
then be shared highlighting medical, nursing and
social needs, accelerating both essential care and
promoting safe discharge. In the community,
nurses who go out to treat people in their homes
are starting to use smart phones with the same
capability as a laptop to look up and record notes,
eliminating the need for them to keep returning to
their office base.
Other ground breaking initiatives include a pilot
project which is trialling the use of Alexa voice
activated smart speakers to provide practical
support to elderly people. Around 150 Amazon
Echo Spots, supplied by the University of
Plymouth, are being used by residents in care
homes across the county, with a further 32 in
people’s own homes, Options include prompts to
take medication and reminders for appointments
as well as communicating with family, friends and
health care professionals and providing links to
community information resources. The aim of the
project, which is being led by EPIC (e-health and

productivity in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly) is to
look at the impact of the devices on the everyday
mental wellbeing of elderly people, particularly in
terms of loneliness and isolation.
We are working with Healthwatch Cornwall to
trial the ASK Cornwall and ASK Isles of Scilly
project. Funded by Cornwall Council and NHS
Kernow, the project provides a new tech-enabled
social media conversation platform where the
people and the health and care system can speak
freely to each other.
As more of us use smartphone apps in our day
to day lives, we are supporting the development
of new apps to help people lead healthier lives.
Recent projects include the launch of the Drink’s
Meter app which helps people take back control
of their drinking, and the Brain in Hand giving
easy access to coping strategies, reminders
and notes to people who might be living with
a learning disability, autism or a mental health
condition.
Fran Johnson, from Liskeard has been using the
Brain in Hand app for five months and it has
helped her to manage her morning routine, with
prompts that remind her of her daily tasks.

I can pick different faces which help me
communicate to people about how
I am feeling. It reminds me about
appointments, for example, to remind me
when I work in the charity shop.
Fran Johnson

Watch Fran’s story

The benefits of using such technology
could mean not only reduced loneliness and
better connection with families, but also
help reduce demands on the health and
social care system. It could pave the way for
more video-conferenced and telepresence
consultations in care homes, which could
reduce travel times and increase capacity of
primary and secondary care givers.
Professor Ray Jones, director of EPIC

Apps have also been developed to save people
attending additional hospital appointments. The
MyPreOpp app, developed by Penryn company
Ultramed allows people to complete their preoperative assessment online.
Other high tech projects currently being
developed include producing highly detailed
interactive 3D tours of RCHT’s operating theatres
that can be explored on mobiles, tablets, laptops
and computers. The aim of the project, being
developed by Ocean 3D from Penzance is to ease
people’s anxieties before coming in for surgery by
showing them and their friends and family exactly
where their journey will take them and even
“virtually” meet the clinical staff in advance.

The way that care and support is delivered in
Cornwall has to move with the technology
that is now available and whilst the technology
does not replace contact with people, it is
able to enhance someone’s quality of life and
independence.
Rob Rotchell, portfolio holder for adults.
Cornwall Council
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ACCOUNTABILITY
REPORT
This section contains a corporate governance report,
remuneration and staff report and a parliamentary
accountability and audit report.
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Corporate governance report
Our Governing Body
Chair

Executive directors

Chair

Chief officer

Chief finance officer

Chief operating officer

Dr Iain Chorlton

Jackie Pendleton

Clare Bryan

Helen Childs

Clinical members

Secondary care doctor

Secondary care doctor

Chief nursing officer

Sarah Bridges
(until July 2019)

Matthew Hayman
(from January 2020)

Natalie Jones

Lay members

Governance/audit
(deputy chair)

Patient and public
involvement

Primary care
and prevention

Chris Blong

Nikki Kelly

Melissa Mead

Fiscal management

John Yarnold
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GP members

Dr Paul Cook

Dr Judy Duckworth

Dr John Garman

Dr Francis Old

Dr Deryth Stevens

Dr Rob White

Other members

Virginia Pearson,
director of
public health,
Cornwall Council
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Steve Brown, service
director for wellbeing
and public health,
Cornwall Council

Annual report 2019/20

Helen Charlesworth-May,

strategic director for
adult social care and
health, Cornwall Council

Sally Turner,
CAP chair
(non-voting member)

Our Governing Body is accountable for all our
activities and is the key decision making body
for major decisions. The Governing Body is
supported by senior health managers who have
vast experience of the health service. Our member
biographies can be found on our website. The
Governing Body comprises:
• The chair (a local GP).
• Six GPs drawn from the GP performers list who
are employed by member practices or regularly
working within Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly
in a GP related role.
• Four lay members.
• One registered nurse.
• One secondary care specialist doctor.
• The chief officer as accountable officer.
• The chief finance officer.
• The chief operating officer.
• The local director of public health or deputy.
• A senior council representative with a lead on
adult social care.

Member practices
We have 59 GP practices organised into Primary
Care Networks within three integrated care areas.
Details of the membership of all our committees,
including the audit committee, are contained in
our governance statement.

Register of interests
Our declarations of interests can be found on our
website.

Statement of disclosure to auditors
Each individual who is a member of NHS Kernow
at the time the members’ report is approved
confirms, so far as the member is aware, there
is no relevant audit information of which NHS
Kernow’s auditor is unaware that would be
relevant for the purposes of their audit report.

Pension liabilities
Details of our pension liabilities are contained
within the financial statements and the
remuneration report on page 108.

Charges for information
We certify that NHS Kernow has complied with
HM Treasury’s guidance on cost allocation and
the setting of charges for information. We do not
charge for providing information.

Donations
None.

Gifts and hospitality
Details of our hospitality, acceptance of gifts and
sponsorship policy, ratified in February 2018, are
available on our website, together with our gifts
and hospitality register/ commercial sponsorship
register.

Modern slavery act
We fully support the Government’s objectives to
eradicate modern slavery and human trafficking.
Our slavery and human trafficking statement for
the financial year ending 31 March 2020 can be
found on our website.

Losses
There was one loss incurred in the year amounting
to £339 (2018/19: no losses).

Special payments
There was one special payment made in the
year amounting to £9,689 (2018/19: one case
£20,000). This was an ex-gratia payment in
respect of a personal injury claim relating to a
former employee of Peninsula Community Health.
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Statement of accountable officer’s responsibilities
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended) states that each CCG shall have an
accountable officer and that officer shall be
appointed by the NHS commissioning board (NHS
England). NHS England has appointed our chief
officer as the accountable officer.
The responsibilities of an accountable officer are
set out under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended), managing public money and
in the CCG accountable officer appointment letter.
They include responsibilities for:
• The propriety and regularity of the public
finances for which the accountable officer is
answerable.
• Keeping proper accounting records (which
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the CCG and enable
them to ensure that the accounts comply with
the requirements of the accounts direction).
• Safeguarding the CCG’s assets (and hence
taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities).
• The relevant responsibilities of accounting
officers under managing public money.
• Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions
effectively, efficiently and economically (in
accordance with Section 14Q of the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended))
and with a view to securing continuous
improvement in the quality of services (in
accordance with Section14R of the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
• Ensuring that the CCG complies with its
financial duties under Sections 223H to 223J
of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended).
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended), NHS England directs each CCG to
prepare financial statements in the form and on
the basis set out in the accounts direction for
each financial year. The financial statements are
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
CCG and of its net expenditure, changes in
taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial
year.
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In preparing the financial statements, the
accountable officer is required to comply with the
requirements of the group accounting manual
issued by the Department of Health and in
particular to:
• Observe the accounts direction issued by NHS
England, including the relevant accounting and
disclosure requirements, and apply suitable
accounting policies on a consistent basis.
• Make judgements and estimates on a
reasonable basis.
• State whether applicable accounting standards
as set out in the group accounting manual
issued by the Department of Health have been
followed, and disclose and explain any material
departures in the financial statements.
• Prepare the financial statements on a going
concern basis.
To the best of my knowledge and belief I have
properly discharged the responsibilities set out
under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended), managing public money and in my
CCG accountable officer appointment letter.
I also confirm that:
• As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the CCG’s auditors are
unaware, and that, as accountable officer, I
have taken all the steps that I ought to have
taken to make myself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the
CCG’s auditors are aware of that information
• The annual report and accounts as a whole
is fair, balanced and understandable and that
I take personal responsibility for the annual
report and accounts and the judgments
required for determining that it is fair, balanced
and understandable.
Helen Charlesworth-May
Accountable officer
2 June 2020

Governance statement
Introduction and context
NHS Kernow is a body corporate established by
NHS England on 1 April 2013 under the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as amended).
Details of our statutory functions are set out
in the National Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended), with our key role being to commission
health services for our populations. This includes
arranging for the provision of the range of health
services we consider necessary to meet the
reasonable requirements of our population.
At the start of the financial year, we were subject
to the directions issued by NHSEI under the
NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and
Social Care Act 2012) in December 2015. These
were issues following concerns over our financial
position, ongoing challenges around emergency
department performance and four not assured
ratings that year from NHSEI in the areas of
performance, planning, finance and well-led
organisation. These were lifted during the year
and as at 31 March 2020, we are not subject to
any directions issued by NHSEI under the NHS Act
2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care
Act 2012).
Scope of responsibility
As accountable officer, I have responsibility for
maintaining a sound system of internal control
that supports the achievement of the CCG’s
policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding
the public funds and assets for which I am
personally responsible, in accordance with the
responsibilities assigned to me in managing public
money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities
as set out under the National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended) and in my CCG accountable
officer appointment letter.
I am responsible for ensuring that NHS Kernow
is administered prudently and economically
and that resources are applied efficiently and
effectively, safeguarding financial propriety and
regularity. I also have responsibility for reviewing
the effectiveness of the system of internal control
within NHS Kernow as set out in this governance
statement.

Governance arrangements and
effectiveness
Our constitution sets out the foundations of
our organisation, together with our values,
responsibilities, accountabilities and duties. It
also identifies the respective responsibilities and
powers of NHS Kernow and the Governing Body
(GB) and how these are delivered through our
governance framework and scheme of delegation.
Our constitution was revisited in 2019 to ensure
compliance with new CCG model guidance
published by NHSEI and to prepare for the
delegation of commissioning of primary medical
services. The changes were approved by NHSEI
in October 2019. We have since made further
amendments to our constitution relating to
primary medical services and the accountable
officer role and these revisions will shortly be sent
to NHSEI for approval. While this is underway we
are governed by the October 2019 version which
provides information on:
•
•
•
•

Our membership and the area we cover.
Principles of good governance.
How we make decisions.
Our standards of business and how we
manage conflicts of interest.
• How we work with other organisations to
commission services.
• The ways we work and our commitment to
being open and transparent.
Our GB is required to ensure we have made
appropriate arrangements for ensuring that we
exercise all our functions effectively, efficiently
and economically and that we comply with such
generally accepted principles of good governance
as are relevant to us.
The constitution states that responsibility for high
level decisions relating to regulation and control,
appointment of some GB members, strategy, the
annual operating plan, budgets, audit, the annual
report and accounts and arrangements for the
proper management of conflicts of interest sits
with the GB.
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There are an equal number of non-clinical members and clinical and GP voting members on the GB.
The chair has a second casting vote, giving the clinical and GP members a majority. Read more.
Our GB held eight formal public meetings during 2019/20 with two extraordinary meetings (which were
later reported at a formal GB meeting). The member attendance rate for these meetings across the year
was 84 percent. In addition, the GB held a number of less formal developments sessions, in private.
As well as items on quality, corporate risk and assurance, finance and performance, members heard
from the people who use the services we commission, carers and practitioners sharing their experiences
of those services.

Core committees
Underpinning the work of the GB are a number of committees. Their responsibilities and membership
are set out below:
Audit committee
Chair: Chris Blong, GB lay member for governance and audit
Responsible for
Membership
• GB lay member for
Independent scrutiny and
governance/audit (Chris
assurance with particular
Blong).
emphasis on:
• Integrity of our financial
• GB lay member for finance
accounting and reporting
(John Yarnold).
systems, including reviewing
• At least one GB GP member
financial statements before
(Dr Francis Old).
they are sent to the GB for
• GB GP members of the
approval.
committee also provide clinical
• Effectiveness of our internal
quality expertise.
control, integrated governance • Attended by chief finance
officer, chief nursing officer,
and risk management systems
across all our activities (clinical
head of finance, deputy
and non-clinical, including the
director corporate governance,
internal provision of services).
representatives from internal
• How we comply with
and external audit and counter
regulatory and statutory
fraud specialist services.
duties.
• Effectiveness of our internal
and external audit functions
and our counter fraud service.
Finance committee
Chair: John Yarnold, GB lay member for fiscal management
Responsible for
Membership
• GB lay member for finance.
Objective scrutiny of our
• Two GB GP members.
financial planning and how we
• Chief finance officer.
make decisions on how we
• Chief officer.
spend money.
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2019/20 agenda items
• Receiving internal and external
audit reports.
• Finance updates.
• Conflict of interest updates,
including any breaches.
• Standing items on risk and
assurance framework.
• Counter fraud updates.
• Whistleblowing updates.
• Updates from chairs of each
constitutional committee.
• Part of assurance process
regarding the development of
a joint chief officer post.
• Updates from chairs of
constitutional committees.

2019/20 agenda items
• Financial recovery plan.
• Budget management and
risks.
• Reports on procurements and
individual funding requests.

Quality and performance committee
Chair: GB clinician
Responsible for
Membership
Objective scrutiny of the quality • Two GB GP members.
and performance of services we • GB secondary care clinician
member.
commission and provide and the
• GB lay member for primary
internal processes in place to
care and prevention.
review and manage these.
• Chief nursing officer.
• Chief operating officer.
Remuneration committee
Chair: GB lay member
Responsible for
• Advising the GB on the
appropriate salaries, fees,
allowances and terms of
service for the accountable
officer, executive directors,
employees and other people
who provide services to us.
• Annual review of performance
of the accountable officer and
chief finance officer.
• Receiving an annual review
on the performance of the
lay members, secondary
care specialist doctor and
registered nurse.
• Calculation and scrutiny of
termination payments.

Membership
• GB lay member
• One GB GP member.
• Another GB member.
• Chief officer, chief operating
officer and head of HR may be
required to attend but do not
have a vote.

2019/20 agenda items
• Regular reports on
performance, service
improvement, quality and
risks.
• Items on safeguarding and
serious incident reporting.

2019/20 agenda items
• Review of chief officer’s and
chair’s performance.
• Remuneration and terms of
services for GB members and
very senior managers.
• Part of assurance process
regarding the development of
a joint chief officer post.
• This committee only meets
two to three times in a
year, unless exceptional
circumstances arise.

Workforce committee
Chair: Nikki Kelly, GB lay member for patient and public involvement
Responsible for
Membership
2019/20 agenda items
• Regular reports on staffing,
Objective scrutiny on workforce • GB lay member for patient
and public Involvement.
training and risks.
management, communications
• One GB GP member.
• Items on information
and engagement and
• One other GB member.
governance, health and
information governance.
• Chief officer.
safety, complaints, freedom of
• Chief operating officer.
information, equality and staff
• Attended by head of HR who
engagement.
does not have a vote.
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Joint primary care commissioning committee
Chair: Melissa Mead, GB lay member for primary care and prevention
Responsible for
Membership
2019/20 agenda items
• Carrying out the functions
• GB lay member for primary
• Regular reports on risks,
relating to the commissioning
care and prevention (chair).
finances, quality and
• Additional non-conflicted lay
of primary medical services
safeguarding as well as
member (may or may not be a
under section 83 of the NHS
reports covering contracts,
GB lay member).
Act, except those relating to
premises and the development
individual GP performance
• Chief officer/deputy.
of primary care networks,
management, which have
• Chief finance officer/deputy.
among others.
• Chief nursing officer/deputy.
• Part of the assurance
been reserved to NHSEI.
process regarding the move
• Non-conflicted GP
to assuming delegated
or managing partner
responsibility for the
representative.
commissioning of primary
• Director of primary care.
medical services from April
Invites extended to attend (non2020.
voting) to include:
• GB GP representative.
• Deputy director for primary
care.
• CAP representative.
• Healthwatch representatives.
• Health and wellbeing boards.
• Local Medical Committee.
• GP representatives from each
integrated care area.
• NHSEI.
During the past 12 months each constitutional committee has reviewed its terms of reference, taking
this opportunity to revise their membership and to make changes to agenda planning to ensure they
deliver effectively on their responsibilities. The chairs of each committee provide a regular report to
GB and also attend audit committee annually to provide an overview of the committees activities and
effectiveness. The audit committee chair also attends each of the committees at least once a year.
The audit committee carried out a self-assessment against the Healthcare Financial Management
Association Audit Handbook during February and March 2020. The results were largely positive and
were shared with committee members in March 2020 with actions to be agreed at the May 2020
meeting.
The GB has also considered its effectiveness during 2019/20. The expanded membership includes the
local director of public health or deputy and a senior council representative with a lead on adult social
care which reflects the increasing importance of system-level working. In addition, the chair of the CAP
was invited to participate in public GB meetings (although they do not have a vote).
GB development sessions in 2019/20 have included a focus on integrated care system readiness and
on risk appetite and tolerance. They also informed the development of the business case for the
development of the joint chief officer role. GB members have also attended Kings Fund facilitated nonexecutive director masterclasses during 2019/20.
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Other key groups and committees include:
• Clinical leadership group (CLG): This group is responsible for ensuring the views of clinicians
are taken into account when decisions are being made about which services are commissioned for
and provided. The group is made up of the chair and GP members of the GB, locality lead GPs and
members of NHS Kernow’s senior management team.
• Information governance sub-committee: This group, which meets at least quarterly, is
responsible for monitoring the way we handle information, in particular personal identifiable
information. Its role includes confidentiality, data protection, records management, data quality and
information security.
• Health and safety sub-committee: This group, which meets quarterly, is responsible for ensuring
that we meet both statutory legal requirements for standards of health, safety and welfare and our
own internal policies.
• Joint partnership committee: This group, which includes representatives from trade unions, is
responsible for consulting with our staff and with recognised trade unions on issues relating to pay
and working conditions.
• Executive management team (EMT): This group, which is made up of the executive directors,
meets fortnightly to consider both operational and strategic issues such as quality and performance,
resourcing, stakeholder and staff engagement and financial position.
• Health and wellbeing boards for Cornwall Council and the Council of the Isles of the
Scilly: These are key multi-agency bodies where representatives from health, social care, police,
housing, education and children’ services come together to provide leadership to improve efficiency,
secure better care, health and wellbeing outcomes for the local community and reduce health
inequalities.
• Health and adult social care overview and scrutiny committees for Cornwall Council and
the Council of the Isles of Scilly: These committees of the councils are responsible for scrutinising
services which look after the health and social care needs of people in Cornwall and the Isles of
Scilly.
• Citizens’ Advisory Panel: a regular meeting of citizen representatives which aims to be a ‘critical
friend’ and support our work to help ensure the voice of the local population is heard. As noted
above, its chair also participates in our GB meetings.
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Cornwall Health and Care Partnership
The local sustainability and transformation plan is called Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly Health and Care
Partnership and is our response to the NHS England Five Year Forward View and devolution deal for
Cornwall.
In October 2019 an independent chair for the Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly Health and Care
Partnership was appointed to provide leadership across the system as we progress towards integrated
care system status.
The transformation board is a quarterly meeting, undertaken in public, with a membership which
comprises health and care partners from across Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly. It is chaired by the
independent chair who was appointed in October 2019, and in line with recent integrated care system
(ICS) guidance, its remit includes system transformation and management of system performance.
System programme boards have been established to help drive the changes. These are multi-agency
across health and social care and comprise:
•
•
•
•

Planned care board.
Urgent and emergency care board.
Community services planning and design group.
One Vision (children and young people’s services)

In addition, there are groups focusing on system workforce, strategic estates and digital transformation.
Decision making remains with the individual organisations and has not, at this stage, been delegated to
the boards, although integrated health and social care remains one of the eight themes agreed as part
of the Cornwall Devolution Deal.
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UK Corporate Governance Code

Discharge of statutory functions

NHS bodies are not required to comply with the
UK Code of Corporate Governance, however,
we have reported on our corporate governance
arrangements by drawing on the best practice
available, including those aspects of the code
we consider to be relevant to the CCG and best
practice. These include:

We have reviewed all of our statutory duties and
powers and understand the legal requirements
associated with each of the statutory functions
for which we are responsible, including any
restrictions on delegation of those functions.

• Creating a GB with a strong lay membership
and clear division of the chair and chief Officer/
accountable officer roles.
• Ensuring appropriate audit and remuneration
committees are in place to oversee robust
financial management and pay systems.
• Ensuring strong risk management and internal
control systems are in place and audited.
• Establishing and enacting effective
engagement with patients and the public as
key stakeholders.
Further information on the structures we have in
place in respect of four of the five main principles
of the UK Corporate Governance Code are
contained within this governance statement.
Leadership

Effectiveness

Accountability

Remuneration

As a statutory NHS organisation we do not have
shareholders and are not required to comply with
the fifth principle of the UK code: relations with
shareholders. However, this annual governance
statement and the annual report and accounts
demonstrate how we have carried out our
responsibilities.
The role of our chair is an elected position,
with nominees coming from the practicing GP
population of Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly and
required to meet role description requirements
developed by the GB. Additional scrutiny is
provided through NHSEI’s assurance process which
includes the area of leadership.

Responsibility for each duty and power has been
clearly allocated to a lead director. Directorates
review their team structures to ensure they provide
the necessary capability and capacity to undertake
all of our statutory duties. Where gaps in capacity
are identified these have been recorded as a risk
and appropriate actions taken to address them.

Risk management arrangements and
effectiveness
We have continued to review and improve our risk
management arrangements during 2019/20. Our
risk management strategy and policy is reviewed
annually and this year we made updates to reflect
some changes in organisational structure and
process as well as reflect the work undertaken by
the GB on risk appetite in July 2019, setting risk
tolerance scores for our principal risks. Details of
our approach to the Governing Body Assurance
Framework (GBAF) are provided on page 90. Our
risk and assurance management arrangements
were subject to internal audit review this year,
resulting in a positive report giving substantial
assurance for the second year running.
Risks are identified through a number of
routes, for example by individuals, through
committee reports, reviews of national guidance
or studies, performance information or project
documentation. We assess risks using a 5x5
matrix, scoring for impact and likelihood. We
take into account various possible areas of impact
such as safety, quality, finance, compliance and
reputation.
Our risk register is reviewed and updated regularly,
with updates sought monthly for high scoring
(12+) risks. The register is shared with directors
regularly as well as being formally reported to
committees. Each risk is assigned to one of four
committees (quality and performance, workforce,
finance and joint primary care commissioning)
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who then receive regular reports covering red
and high amber risks, highlighting escalations and
improvements, new risks and those for removal.

We work closely with our partners in the NHS,
local authorities and the voluntary sector to make
sure that we are as inclusive as possible.

The GB receives quarterly reports on the red
risks and on the GBAF. These reports highlight
escalations and improvements as well as
assessments of controls and assurance, gaps in
these and actions planned to address them.

More information on patient and public
engagement is available on page 12.

Our GB meetings are held in public and meeting
papers are available on our website. The only
exception to this is if a risk or information relating
to that risk is particularly sensitive and would
fall within the exemptions of the Freedom of
Information Act, in which case it would have to be
reviewed in private session.
Our audit committee also receives reports on the
risk register and GBAF to allow them to take a
view on the appropriateness and effectiveness of
our risk management system.
Examples of how we manage risk as part of our
day to day working include:
• All formal papers for GB or committee
meetings include sections on risks associated
with the subject, as well as links to our
strategic objectives.
• All new or updated policies are subject to an
equality impact assessment prior to approval
and publication.
• Incidents are reported centrally, with reminders
to staff on how to do this throughout the year
in staff email bulletins. Details are shared with
relevant leads and where necessary reported to
the relevant sub-committee, such as the health
and safety sub-committee or the information
governance sub-committee, with the intention
of learning and preventing recurrence.
• Staff are required to undertake mandatory
training which includes health and safety,
safeguarding and information governance.
We are committed to working in partnership with
our population and always give the public, and
the people we work with, the opportunity to get
involved with plans to make changes to services.
This allows them to be aware of and engaged in
managing any risks that may affect them.
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Capacity to handle risk
Our chief officer acts as our accountable officer
and is responsible for implementing working
arrangements which secure effective and
appropriate risk management processes.
For most of 2019 the executive with responsibility
for risk, as designated by the chief officer, was our
chief operating officer. Since 1 February 2020 it
has been the chief finance officer. This means they
are responsible for ensuring effective corporate
assurance, governance and risk procedures are in
place across the whole organisation.
Our chief finance officer is also responsible for
reviewing, evaluating and reporting on financial
control and regularly assessing and reporting on
financial risks and the financial aspects of other
organisational risks. They also act as the GB lead
for counter fraud.
The chief operating officer acts as senior
information risk officer (SIRO), with responsibility
for managing information risk at GB level.
The chief nursing officer is responsible for ensuring
robust systems are in place for quality governance
to assure and improve the quality of care for all
patients, taking the lead on risks relating to the
clinical quality and safety of services (including
safeguarding) and ensuring the quality aspects
of other organisational risks are apparent and
addressed.
Our chief nursing officer also holds the role of
Caldicott Guardian, and is therefore responsible
for ensuring that we comply with high standards
for handling patient information.
The deputy director of corporate governance is
also the board secretary and takes responsibility
for presenting the assurance framework to the
GB, as well as holding the roles of data protection
officer and freedom to speak up/whistleblowing
guardian.

The head of corporate governance provides a
formal lead on corporate risk management across
the organisation, and is responsible for ensuring
implementation of the corporate risk register and
assurance framework and reporting on this.
The corporate governance team provide advice
and support on security and health and safety
and are responsible for identifying risks arising
from claims as they progress and ensuring that
these are brought to the attention of the head
of corporate governance. The team also provide
advice and support on identifying, assessing,
recording and managing risks, including
attendance at key meetings where relevant.
The head of information governance provides
advice and support on issues and risk arising from
the management of information.
The complaints manager is responsible for
identifying risks arising from complaints and
ensuring these are brought to the attention of the
head of corporate governance.
The local counter fraud specialist (LCFS) provides
staff with advice and support in accordance with
NHS Protect’s counter fraud strategy and carries
out national and local work to raise awareness
and reduce the likelihood and impact of fraud.
They investigate suspected cases of fraud and
corruption in accordance with NHS Protect’s antifraud manual and report any system weaknesses
to our audit committee and to internal and
external audit.
The local security management specialist (LSMS)
provides advice and support and carries out work
to raise awareness and to help deliver a safe and
secure environment.
All staff are required to undertake mandatory
training, which includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Fire safety awareness.
Data security awareness.
Equality, diversity and human rights.
Health and safety.
Infection control.
Safeguarding adults.
Safeguarding children.
Moving and handling.

Information and advice on subjects such as
incident reporting, counter-fraud and information
governance has been included in staff bulletins
throughout the year, including signposting to
relevant policies. There are also sections on the
staff intranet on these subjects as well as others.
We have a robust whistleblowing policy in
place which is available to all staff, and includes
details how to raise a concern internally and
how to seek independent advice. The vice chair
is the GB lead for whistleblowing and the audit
committee receives regular updates on this matter.
Information and advice on whistleblowing has
been included in staff bulletins during the year, as
well as featuring on the staff intranet.
During the past 12 months our internal auditors,
TIAA, have reviewed governance structures
in a number of areas, including information
governance, risk and assurance management
and financial control. The outcomes of those
audits are listed in the head of internal audit’s
opinion. Where recommendations were made
these have been followed up internally, with
progress reported to and monitored by the audit
committee at each meeting.
Our quality and performance, finance, workforce,
joint primary care commissioning and audit
committees and the GB receive frequent and
regular information from our finance, corporate
governance, business intelligence, performance,
human resources and quality teams which allow
them to assess risks to compliance with statutory
obligations. The GB has oversight across all
statutory obligations, and has formally delegated
responsibility to the committees to provide
assurance to the GB on the CCG’s performance.

Risk assessment
At the end of 2018/19, we had 18 red rated
corporate risks. By 31 March 2020 the total had
increased to 24, although some risks which were
red at the end of 2018/19 have been successfully
reduced, including those related to follow up
appointments at RCHT, provision for young people
in mental health crisis and the management of
organisational policies.
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Several of the current red risks were also identified
as red risks in 2018/19. These relate to:
• Achievement of a maximum four hour wait in
RCHT and UHP emergency departments.
• Call stacking.
• Delayed transfers of care.
• Ambulance response times.
• Dementia.
• Stroke.
• Follow up appointments at UHP.
• Pandemic influenza.
• Referral to treatment times.
• Diagnostic waiting times.

Additional red risks were either identified since
31 March 2019 (for example risks about gram
negative bloodstream infections and a number of
risks related to delivery of the financial recovery
plan and incident stacking) or escalated during the
year (for example the risk about personal health
budgets).
The red corporate risks as at 31 March 2020,
along with their key controls, actions and sources
of assurance (how outcomes are assessed) are
below:

Risk 4120: RCHT are unable to see and treat/admit/discharge people attending their emergency
department (ED) in a timely and effective manner. This impacts on patient safety and experience as
well as resulting in a breach of a constitutional standard (four hour maximum wait).
• Daily real time monitoring, support, challenge, intervention and working
Controls in place
through system colleagues to resolve issues.
• Escalation framework in place, with Gold call/chief officers oversight twice
a week throughout winter.
• Integrated front door model in place.
• Urgent treatment centre at Treliske alongside ED and use of 111.
• Increased capacity/operational hours for SDEC and MAA.
Actions underway/ • Benefits review of changes to overnight clinicians and x-ray provision over
winter.
planned
Assurance
ED targets are key performance indicators and are regularly reported to
quality and performance committee and GB.
Risk 4156: We are unable to reduce the significant numbers of delayed transfers of care in hospital
bed bases, leading to unnecessary lengths of stay, delays in appropriate care and poor patient
experience.
• Demand and capacity plan.
Controls in place
• Daily monitoring and escalation on daily system DTOC call.
• D2A pathways operational across Cornwall.
• Council funding of critical bed in nursing homes.
• NHS Kernow and council commission block purchase.
• Escalation policies.
• Trusted assessors in place to reduce length of stay for admissions from care
home.
• Care home bed checker in place.
Actions underway/ • Immedicare programme – 25 care home pilot.
• Embrace workstreams on care and support outside acute hospital settings.
planned
Assurance
DTOC targets are key performance indicators and are regularly reported to
quality and performance committee and GB.
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Risk 4840: UHP are unable to manage follow up waiting lists in an appropriate manner, this will
mean patients have to wait longer than clinically appropriate for a subsequent/follow up outpatient
appointments. This poses a risk to their safety and experience as well as poor reputation and potential
financial loss through litigation.
• Monthly RTT meeting with UHP and Devon CCG.
Controls in place
• Monthly integrated assurance meeting.
• System wide outpatient reduction plan.
Actions underway/ • Introduction of new policies and pathways for follow up during 2020.
planned
Assurance
Information on incidents of potential patient harm. UHP data book provided
monthly containing details of follow up waiting list including electronically
tagged time critical patients.
Risk 4948: SWASFT do not achieve the national ambulance response times leading to un-assessed
clinical risk, poor patient safety/experience, and reputational harm.
• Bi-monthly meetings between commissioners and provider.
Controls in place
• Trajectory for recruitment in place.
• New investment programme agreed with SWASFT across all CCGs with
implementation of improvements against business case.
• Planned trajectory for improvement with phasing of additional crew and
trucks to help meet the response time targets.
Actions underway/ • Delivery of work streams in transformation plan on high intensity users, 111
demand, handover delays, model for non-urgent conveyance and mental
planned
health resources.
Assurance
Ambulance response targets are key performance indicators and are regularly
reported to quality and performance committee and GB.
Risk 5001: Inconsistent implementation of the stroke pathway from prevention, response and
treatment to aftercare could result in poor outcomes for patients, as well as non-achievement of best
practice for stroke indicators.
• UHP stroke partnership board and RCHT stroke group in place.
Controls in place
• RCHT delivery of HASU.
• Redesign of TIA services.
• RCHT project group fortnightly.
Actions underway/ • Ongoing efforts to recruit to consultant posts.
• Development of an integrated stroke network.
planned
• Production of an integrated whole system stroke pathway business case.
Assurance
Stroke targets are key performance indicators and are regularly reported to
quality and performance committee and GB.
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Risk 6067: UHP are unable to see and treat/admit/discharge people attending their emergency
department in a timely and effective manner and move closer to achievement of the constitutional
standard of a four hour maximum wait in the emergency department. This impacts on patient safety
and experience as well as resulting in a breach of the constitutional standard.
• System performance meetings and system improvement board.
Controls in place
• New ambulance handover station built in addition to resus area to further
improve ambulance handover performance.
• GOLD command.
Actions underway/ • Ongoing participation in pilot for new urgent and emergency care
standards.
planned
• Monthly reviews by NHSEI.
Assurance
ED targets are key performance indicators and are regularly reported to
quality and performance committee and GB.
Risk 7006: We are unable to commission a case coordination and case management service for
autism spectrum disorders (ASD) leading to risk of harm to patients and impacts on our reputation.
• Care coordination is being provided by spot purchased clinicians.
Controls in place
• Individuals identified as requiring care coordination and proposal for each
submitted to director for consideration.
• CHC team provide oversight for relevant cases.
• Established as a key priority area in mental health delivery plan.
Actions underway/ • New service specification for ASD pathway to be developed.
planned
Assurance
The wellbeing of people requiring case co-ordination is reviewed by the
relevant teams.
Risk 10648: External pricing issues - particularly NCSO price concessions and category M adjustments
- as well as cost increases due to shortages - will counteract and cancel our savings made by GP
practices and the medicines optimisation team.
• Externally driven pricing costs cannot be avoided.
Controls in place
• Guidance to practices to prevent over-prescribing.
Actions underway/ • Regular review of relevant list and modelling to ascertain impact for NHS
Kernow.
planned
Assurance
Costs are reported regularly through joint primary care commissioning
committee and finance committee.
Risk 10676: Overcommitting to spend in relation to supported living services, leading to adverse
impact on financial performance.
• Joint director of integrated care role to facilitate joint overview of spend.
Controls in place
Actions underway/ • Ongoing, high level discussions between NHS Kernow, Cornwall Council
and CFT.
planned
• Remodelling of the spend for some cohorts across health and social care
to understand the impact of introducing an enabling model of care to new
clients entering care.
Assurance
Monitoring of spend through reports to finance committee.
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Risk 10677

Controls in place

Actions underway/
planned
Assurance
Risk 10680

Controls in place

Actions underway/
planned
Assurance

Risk 10703

Controls in place

Actions underway/
planned

Assurance

An influenza pandemic occurs which results in service disruption with
significantly increased service demands and reduced levels of staffing as
well as increased mortality. The UK National Risk Register (Cabinet Office)
describes this as high risk (there is no known way to prevent pandemic strains
from evolving so the mitigation of risk focuses on response).
• National pandemic flu service.
• Pandemic flu specific guidance plan in place.
• CCG business continuity plan and pandemic flu plan in place.
• NHS Digital national pandemic flu service.
• Ongoing attendance at planning events.
• Participation in exercises relating to local and regional plans.
• Update local plans in response to any new guidance.
NHS Kernow pandemic flu response plan reviewed and agreed by NHSEI.
The stacking of Cat 2, Cat 3 and Cat 4 jobs on the SWASFT call stack outside
of national thresholds due to the unavailability of resources and/or high
demand could affect patient safety, patient experience, staff morale and
performance. This is a SWASFT system risk that all CCGs have been asked to
include in their risk register.
• Daily operational dashboard.
• Call stacking performance to the UECB.
• Investment in winter business case.
• Validation of Cat 3 and Cat 4 calls.
• Ongoing work around Cat 2 validations.
Call stacking performance is reported in the performance report that goes to
the AEDB. In addition performance is monitored by quality and performance
committee.
Patients experience long waits for spinal surgery resulting in patient harm,
worsening symptoms and condition and the need for additional healthcare/
surgery.
• Additional capacity identified.
• Recruitment agreed.
• Several ‘mega’ outpatient clinics from July to December 2019.
• Recruitment of additional consultants underway.
• Consideration of pilot scheme for cognitive functional therapy.
• Confirmation sought regarding harm reviews.
• Seeking alternative locations for pre-operative assessment.
Performance information on waiting times is reviewed by elective care team.
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Risk 10707: Performance at UHP against referral to treatment (RTT) and 52 week wait targets does
not meet agreed trajectories which impacts on patient safety and experience, performance and
reputation.
• Monthly planned care forum, integrated assurance meeting, surgical and
Controls in place
medicine care group 40+ week meetings.
• Trajectories in place.
• Waiting list validation completed.
• Offers of transfer to alternative provider.
• Recruitment in orthopaedics.
Actions underway/ • UHP to expedite one stop shops to help improve dermatology RTT.
• Discussions regarding operating model of Plymouth Orthopaedic
planned
Partnership.
Assurance
RTT targets are key performance indicators and are regularly reported to
quality and performance committee and GB.
Risk 10709: Diagnostic performance at UHP does not improve towards and ultimately meet the
national 99 percent target, resulting in patient harm, poor performance and harm to reputation.
• Monthly meeting with UHP.
Controls in place
• Recruitment to increase CT capacity.
• Mobile MRI now on Care UK site two days a week.
Actions underway/ • Cornwall endoscopy and diagnostic imaging workshops to be held.
• Diagnostics workforce paper to be approved.
planned
• Additional MRI capacity to be established.
Assurance
Diagnostic targets are key performance indicators and are regularly reported
to quality and performance committee and GB.
Risk 10711: UHP fail to consistently achieve the national cancer performance targets (62 day, 31 day
and 2 week waits) resulting in harm to patients, poor performance and harm to reputation.
• UHP cancer recovery action plan in place and update monthly.
Controls in place
• Monthly cancer operational group and quarterly Cornwall cancer steering
group meetings.
• All providers use a patient tracker list which enables them to micro track
and manage the patient journey from referral.
• Root cause analysis for 104+ day waits.
• All breaches have an internal reporting and clinical review process.
Actions underway/ • Cancer improvement workstreams on lung and colorectal.
• Peninsular Cancer Alliance funding for sustainable pathway improvement.
planned
• Devon CCG to commission increased capacity from April 2020.
• UHP recovery action plan update requested.
Assurance
Cancer performance targets are key performance indicator and are regularly
reported to quality and performance committee and GB.

86

Annual report 2019/20

Risk 10713: The CCG does not achieve the ‘other acute’ components of the 2019/20 financial
recovery plan (FRP) planned at £1.353m, and as a result does not deliver its financial plan. As well
as the financial impact, this could result in harm to our reputation and relationship with NHSEI and
negative impacts on NHS Kernow ambitions.
• FRP steering group (FRPSG) providing operational control and finance
Controls in place
committee as main oversight function.
• Executive leadership in place for all components of programme.
• Monthly reporting of risks, mitigations and progress to FRPSG.
• UHPT PBR contract 2019/20.
• Monthly budget meetings.
• Monthly contract review meetings.
Actions underway/ • No further actions planned for 2019/20.
planned
Assurance
Monitoring of costs and savings delivered through FRPSG, finance committee
and GB.
Risk 10716: The system-wide savings and/or additional one-off benefits required to achieve the
extended QIPP target of £8.2million (in the May 2019 plan submission, instigated to reduce the
system financial gap, but held within the CCG plan element) remain unidentified. This would lead to
a failure to achieve both the overall 2019/20 system financial position, and the specific 2019/20 CCG
financial plan.
• Regular meetings of key individuals established.
Controls in place
• Existing CCG governance arrangements to remain in place until such time
as alternative arrangements are approved.
• System operational leadership group tasked with identifying plans to seek
to meet the £8.2m.
Actions underway/ • No further actions planned for 2019/20.
planned
Assurance
Monitoring of costs and savings delivered through FRPSG, finance committee
and GB
Risk 10719: Gram negative bloodstream infection incidence continues to rise representing a
prolonged failure to meet national reduction ambition; a risk to patient safety and a missed
opportunity to reduce antimicrobial prescribing in support of the national antimicrobial resistance
action plan and in compliance with CQUIN expectations. Cumulative cases April to July = 175 against
the ambition for 114.
• GNBSI oversight group with GNBSI reduction plan.
Controls in place
• Summer hydration campaign.
• Engagement with GI surgeon and PCN directors.
• System wide understanding and scrutiny of reduction expectation.
Actions underway/ • Develop system escalation routes via AMR SRO.
planned
Assurance
Infection control is reported through the quality and performance committee.
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Risk 10723: The contract with UHP is overspent on 2019/20 preventing the delivery of our financial
plan. 2019/20 planned spend is £1.759m.
• Contract cost for 2019/20 has now been fixed.
Controls in place
Actions underway/ • No further actions planned for 2019/20.
planned
Assurance
Monitoring of costs and savings delivered through FRPSG, finance committee
and GB.
Risk 10727: The CCG does not achieve the ‘other programme spend - BCF’ components of the
2019/20 financial recovery plan (FRP) planned at £529k, and as a result does not deliver its financial
plan. As well as the financial impact, this could result in harm to our reputation and relationship with
NHSEI and negatively impact on NHS Kernow ambitions.
• S75 agreement in place. At macro level, overspend reflects pressure over
Controls in place
whole system.
Actions underway/ • Discussions regarding overspends.
• Remote MDT’ pilot to go live.
planned
Assurance
Spend for BCF reviewed by finance committee.
Risk 10735: Demand exceeds available capacity and affordable growth, impacting on our ability to
put in place a financial framework for 2020/21.
• Monthly meetings with RMS and DRSS to manage referral demand.
Controls in place
• System wide programme for outpatients transformation in place.
• Commissioning policies in place.
• Dashboard for system-wide referrals developed.
Actions underway/ • Review current processes for monitoring compliance across the system with
commissioning policies.
planned
• Decision on metrics for reporting to system oversight group.
Assurance
Monthly activity reports via IRIS. Provider contract review meetings and
Planned Care Delivery Board.
Risk 10750: NHS Kernow are unable to meet their statutory responsibility in ensuring that all
identified persons have a community deprivation of liberty (DoLs) authorisation via the Court of
Protection.
• All persons care package identified as requiring a community DoLS
Controls in place
authorisation are RAG rated in relation to the level of restriction.
• In line with the Court of Protection process each person receiving a
community deprivation of liberty can appeal.
Actions underway/ • All frontline clinical staff to complete the relevant training.
• Review of priority cases.
planned
Assurance
Monitoring of numbers of people identified as fully health funded and
meeting the criteria for a community DoLS application with such in place.
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Risk 10756: A pandemic caused by COVID-19 might result in increased demand on services and
disruption to NHS Kernow business continuity
• Preparedness plans in place.
Controls in place
• NHS Kernow taking part in regular local and regional briefings and
communications.
• Incident response structure in place and implemented.
Actions underway/ • Current actions in response to COVID-19 are ongoing and significant.
planned
Assurance
Assurance is ongoing through regional and local forums which review
business continuity focusing on critical, essential functions and meeting the
needs of the system.
In addition to the risks above, one confidential red corporate risk is currently held, which is reported to
part two meetings due to commercial confidentiality considerations.

Other sources of assurance
Internal control framework
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place to ensure we deliver our
policies, aims and objectives. It is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, evaluate the likelihood
of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently,
effectively and economically.
As a system of internal control only allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather than
eliminating all risk, it can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.
In addition to the risk management processes previously identified, we also have a Governing Body
assurance framework (GBAF) in place. This provides a strategic level of assurance underpinned by a
matrix of supporting structures and processes.
The GBAF contains high impact risks, known as principal risks, aligned to the organisational objectives
and covers all core business of NHS Kernow. Each principal risk includes key controls (things which
should be in place to prevent occurrence), an assessment on the adequacy of those controls, and
actions required to address any gaps in those controls. In addition, multiple sources of assurance are
mapped against each principal risk, these are essentially indicators to provide the GB with information
on how well the risk is being controlled.
Our committee structures and responsibilities (set out above) ensure regular scrutiny and review of key
reports on financial performance, achievement of national and local ambitions and objectives around
performance and quality of services, review of audit reports, risk registers and indicators such as training
uptake, sickness absence and staff turnover.
The GBAF is reviewed and reported to the GB quarterly. The audit committee also receives GBAF
reports. The GBAF as reported to the GB in March 2020 is summarised on page 90.
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GBAF high level summary (data as at February 2020)
Strategic objective: Improve health and wellbeing and reduce inequalities by working in partnership
and creating opportunities for our citizens.
Principal risks
Number of control ratings
!
X
Initial
Current
Tolerance
Gap
a
1. NHS Kernow and system partners do not work together to actively reduce health inequalities in
the services we offer.
4x4=16
4x4=16
3x4=12
4
0
3
2
Key points to note: System working is critical to this strategic objective and principal risk. The key
elements of control are developing through the work of the health and wellbeing board and public
health colleagues, with efforts also ongoing to improve and embed a focus on health inequalities
across the system boards. This is also a key feature of the long term plan and 2020/21 operational
planning process.
Strategic objective: Provide safe, high quality, timely and compassionate care and support in local
communities wherever possible and informed by people who use services.
Principal risks
Number of control ratings
!
X
Initial
Current
Tolerance
Gap
a
2. Partners do not deliver safe and clinically effective care.
4x5=20
3x4=12
3x3=9
3
5
0
0
3. Partners are unable to consistently and sustainably deliver timely access to care.
5x4=20
5x4=20
3x3=9
11
3
2
0
4. Partners do not deliver a positive experience of care.
3x4=12
2x4=8
3x4=12
0
4
1
0
Key points to note: PR2 now has all five of its key controls in place, with quality surveillance group
established and embedded, although the risk remains relatively high due to the potential impacts. This
strategic objective is at risk particularly for timely access to care, although the number of key controls
in place has increased from two to three. Joint work is essential to reduce the principal risks scores,
in particular through the planned care and urgent and emergency care boards. The majority of the
CCG’s corporate red risks sit as sources of (negative) assurance on this objective. The assurances are
frequently deemed strong/reliable as they come from constitutional metrics and nationally collected
data.
Strategic objective: Working efficiently so health and care funding gives maximum benefits.
Principal risks:
Number of control ratings
Initial
Current
Tolerance
Gap
!
X
a
5. Inability to deliver NHS Kernow’s agreed financial plan (which may also lead to legal directions).
3x5=15
5x5=25
3x3=9
16
2
1
1
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Strategic objective: Working efficiently so health and care funding gives maximum benefits.
Key points to note: This risk remains very high, with likelihood at the highest level. As a
consequence the gap between the current score and tolerance score is also very high (16). A number
of key corporate risks in this area are red and some of those are highlighted to GB for acceptance on
the basis that no further mitigation is possible to reduce them. These include a risk linked to the gap
in control regarding plans to address the £8.2m (system) financial challenge.
Strategic objective: Make Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly a great place to work in health and social
care.
Principal risks
Number of control ratings
!
X
Initial
Current
Tolerance
Gap
a
6. Poor workforce health, staff morale plus inadequate capacity or capability in NHS Kernow will
impact our ability to move from good to great.
3x3=9
3x3=9
2x3=6
3
1
4
0
7. The organisation does not comply with core governance/corporate requirements and is unable to
provide the appropriate assurances.
1x4 =4
1x4 =4
1x4 =4
0
4
1
0
Key points to note: This strategic objective remains the least at risk currently with lower scoring PRs,
small gaps between current and tolerance scores and high numbers of controls in place generally.
Some sources of assurance, which are annual in nature, are starting to have less value as they reflect
more distant circumstances. They will be renewed in due course. One key control in PR7 has moved
from a “ü” to a “!” on the basis that it is an annual process (annual report and accounts) which is
now underway for 2019/20. It is anticipated to revert to a “ü” in due course.
Strategic objective: Create the underpinning infrastructure and capabilities that are critical to
delivering high quality care and support.
Principal risks
Number of control ratings
!
X
Initial
Current
Tolerance
Gap
a
8. Poor relationships and/or poor reputation with providers, Councils and the public may reduce or
delay our ability to transform care.
3x3=9
4x4=16
3x3=9
7
4
0
1
9. Inappropriate structures and/or governance arrangements may impact our ability to effectively
transform care.
4x4=16
4x5=20
2x5=10
10
2
3
0
Key points to note: This objective continues to show as high risk, with both PRs reflecting the
importance and challenges of changing the way system partners work together. For the relationships
and reputation PR in particular, many of the sources of assurance are annual so will reduce in value
over time, before being renewed. Although progress has been made with the agreement on long
term plan priorities across the system, several sources of assurance for PR9 are awaited, reflecting the
tension between business as usual taking precedence over transformational change priorities, and the
resulting need to potentially identify capacity for transformation initiatives. With the proposed joint
chief officer role, the appointment of the STP independent chair and current discussions regarding
changes to system governance arrangements, the intention is to review this entry in line with
requirements for April 2020.
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Annual audit of conflicts of interest
management
The revised statutory guidance on managing
conflicts of interest for CCGs (published June
2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual
internal audit of conflicts of interest management.
To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHSEI has
published a template audit framework.
Using this framework our internal auditors (TIAA)
carried out their annual internal audit on conflicts
on interest in March 2020 resulting in a finding of
substantial assurance for the third year running.
The audit assessed our arrangements for handling
conflicts as:
• Fully compliant regarding overall governance.
• Fully compliant in respect of processes for
declaring interests and gifts and hospitality.
• Fully compliant relating to registers of interests,
gifts and hospitality and procurement
decisions.
• Fully compliant regarding decision making
processes and contract monitoring.
• Fully compliant in respect of reporting concerns
and identifying and managing breaches/ noncompliance.

Regular meetings and discussions are held
with major providers to ensure that any data
discrepancies are picked up and any corrections
are made as required. Any areas of concern are
considered as part of the annual audit programme.
The GB currently has no significant concerns
regarding the quality of data it receives.

Information governance (IG)
The NHS Information Governance Framework
sets the processes and procedures by which the
NHS handles information about patients and
employees, in particular personal identifiable
information. The framework is supported by the
data security and protection (DSP) toolkit and the
annual submission process provides assurances to
the CCG, other organisations and to individuals
that personal information is dealt with legally,
securely, efficiently and effectively.

The deadline for submitting evidence to
demonstrate our compliance with all of the
mandatory assertions expected of CCGs as part
of the DSP toolkit submission was extended in
March 2020 to 30 September 2020, as a result
of the impact of COVID-19. NHS Kernow expects
to submit evidence in advance of the new
deadline. The recent review carried out in March
One routine recommendation was made regarding 2020 by our internal auditors on four of the ten
ensuring the CCG website provided the most
national data security standards also confirmed a
recent version of the register.
“substantial assurance” rating for those standards.
This is the third year running in which we have
Data quality
received a finding of ‘substantial assurance’ on IG
Our data quality policy sets out a clear framework from our internal auditors.
for maintaining and improving data quality. We
Risks to data security are discussed at the IG
receive regular information from service providers
sub-committee and added to the organisational
which is used to monitor the performance of
risk register for monitoring and mitigation. They
contracts and to contribute to the planning and
can be escalated to the workforce committee, if
development of services.
needed.
Service providers are required to carry out checks
We place a very high importance on ensuring
to ensure that the information they provide is
there are robust IG systems and processes in place
accurate and complete. Where data falls outside
anticipated ranges a more detailed evaluation and to help protect patient and corporate information.
We have an established IG management
validation is carried out either by the provider or
framework and are continuing to develop
by our organisation.
processes and procedures to ensure we remain
compliant with the DSP toolkit.
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Systems are in place to ensure all staff carry out
annual IG training and an IG handbook helps
ensure staff are aware of their IG roles and
responsibilities.
There are policies and processes in place for
incident reporting and the investigation of
incidents, which include IG and data security.

Business critical models
We have identified business critical systems
including those which support our work in
finance, contracting and business intelligence.
These are reflected in our business continuity plans
and information asset management processes
in line with the data security protection toolkit
requirements.

Third party assurances
We receive assurances from our third party
providers via our contract monitoring mechanisms.
Payroll services are provided by RCHT, with regular
meetings held to discuss the delivery of the service
in line with the contract and service specification.
We also have a contract with Cornwall
Information Technology Services (CITS) to provide
a number of services, including end user and
system application support and system security.
A management board meets regularly to allow
discussions regarding service provision.
We receive ledger services from NHS Shared
Business Services (SBS) as part of a national
contract and also receive assurances on this.

Control issues
NHS Kernow is required by law to set and deliver
a financial plan which complies with key financial
statutory duties, including a requirement not to
overspend resources.
In 2019/20, the CCG’s financial plan, which was
approved by the GB, and accepted by NHSEI,
included a planned level of expenditure that
exceeded the available resources, thereby giving
rise to an unavoidable breach of the statutory
requirement to break-even. Performance against
the plan has been routinely reported to the GB,
and to internal and external auditors. In December

2019 the forecast deteriorated from plan as
system wide efficiency plans were not delivering
cash releasing savings.
As a result the year end deficit the CCG’s external
auditors issued a section 30 report notifying the
Secretary of State the breach of statutory duties.

Review of economy, efficiency and
effectiveness of the use of resources
Financial planning and in-year performance
monitoring is conducted by our finance committee
which meets monthly and reports to the GB. It is
also overseen by the audit committee and subject
to scrutiny by NHSEI. Our financial controls are
reviewed by internal audit each year, with external
audit providing independent assurance that the
annual accounts give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and the accounting policies directed by
the NHS Commissioning Board with the consent
of the Secretary of State as relevant to the NHS in
England. Their reports for 2019/20 can be found
within the annual report and accounts.
Our value for money (VFM) assessment is subject
to formal review as part of the audit of the annual
accounts carried out by Grant Thornton who
provide a formal opinion as part of their yearend audit. For 2019/20 we received an except for
qualification due to the reported deficit. However
audit were satisfied that, in all significant respects,
NHS Kernow put in place proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in
its use of resources for the year ended 31 March
2020.
Management costs and the use of staffing are
reviewed and monitored through our finance
reports to finance committee and GB as well as
through the work of the workforce committee
which receives reports on staff turnover and
vacancies, agency costs and sickness absence
levels. A resource request process is in place
to review all recruitment and ensure it is
appropriately funded and effectively planned.
During 2019/20 the amount spent on running
(administrative) costs was £10.95million. This was
£1.8million below the cap set by NHSEI.
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In addition the CCG focused on delivering a
number of measures as part of its financial
recovery plan designed to improve the efficiency
and effectiveness of use of resources. These
included optimising prescribing to monitor the
amount of money spent on drugs while also
ensuring the drugs used were clinically appropriate
and effective, to generate less waste and ensure
we were in line with national guidance.
We are assessed by NHSEI against four domains
under the CCG improvement and assessment
framework, these cover better care, better health,
sustainability and leadership. In July 2019 we
received our rating as “Good” for 2018/19. The
rating for 2019/20 is yet to be received but will
published on our website as part of GB papers.

Delegation of functions
In accordance with joint commissioning
arrangements with other CCGs (see section 5.12
of our Constitution), NHS Kernow is part of a joint
commissioning committee of nine CCGs within
the south west for emergency ambulance services.
Formal arrangements, including GB approval and
agreed terms of reference for the ambulance
joint commissioning committee, are in place. In
addition, regular reports are received consistent
with the requirements of our Constitution (see
clause 5.12.11).
We reviewed our scheme of delegation to
committees and officers during 2019/20.

Counter fraud arrangements
We are provided with counter fraud services,
in line with the NHS Protect Standards for
Commissioners: Fraud, Bribery and Corruption,
by TIAA, who also provide our internal audit
function. An accredited counter fraud specialist
(LCFS) is contracted to undertake counter fraud
work proportionate to identified risks. The LCFS
is an invited attendee of the audit committee
and counter fraud is a standing item on the audit
committee agenda.
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Our audit committee receives and approves the
LCFS proactive work plan to address identified
risks, which is aligned with NHS Protect Standards
for Commissioners. The committee then receives
regular reports which detail progress against the
work plan, including information on any ongoing
investigations. All counter fraud issues are covered
in the ISA240 letters to external audit signed by
the chief finance officer and the chair of the audit
committee.
The chief finance officer is the GB member with
responsibility for tackling fraud, bribery and
corruption.

Review of the effectiveness of
governance, risk management and
internal control
My review of the effectiveness of the system of
internal control is informed by the work of the
internal auditors, executive managers and clinical
leads within the CCG who have responsibility for
the development and maintenance of the internal
control framework. I have drawn on performance
information available to me. My review is also
informed by comments made by the external
auditors in their annual audit letter and other
reports.
Our GBAF provides evidence that the effectiveness
of controls that manage risks to the CCG achieving
its principle objectives have been reviewed.
I have been advised on the implications of
the result of this review by the GB, audit
committee, the finance, workforce and quality
and performance committee and internal audit.
During 2019/20 a considerable number of internal
audits have resulted in findings of reasonable or
substantial assurance on the effectiveness of our
systems and processes.

Conclusion
2019/20 saw continued improvements in the structures of NHS Kernow, strengthening internal control.
However, we are disappointed not to have delivered our financial recovery plan in full as previously
detailed. The GB and executive team of NHS Kernow are committed to delivering against the action
plans that are being developed to address this significant issue, which will be closely monitored on a
monthly basis by the GB and constitutional committees.
During 2020/21 we also intend to continue our work as an organisation and as a system with partners
across health and social care to work together, identify issues and take corrective action to ensure we
commission quality, sustainable services for the population of Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.
Helen Charlesworth-May
Accountable officer
2 June 2020
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Head of internal audit opinion
Following completion of the planned audit work
for the financial year for the CCG, the head of
internal audit (HoIA) issued an independent
and objective opinion on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the CCG’s system of risk
management, governance and internal control.
This states:
The purpose of my annual HoIA opinion is to
contribute to the assurances available to the
accountable officer and the board which underpin
the board’s own assessment of the effectiveness
of the organisation’s system of internal control.
This opinion will in turn assist the board in the
completion of its annual governance statement
(AGS).
We note from the February Governing Body
meeting that the CCG reported a revised forecast
out-turn reflected an adverse movement off plan
by £10.4m. As a result the current forecast for
2019/2020 is a deficit of £27.2million (against a
planned £16.8million deficit). Our opinion on the
organisation’s system of internal control has taken
this factor into account.
My opinion is set out as follows:
• Overall opinion.
• Basis for the opinion.
• Matters that have had an impact on the
opinion.
• Commentary.
Overall option
My overall opinion is that reasonable assurance
can be given that there is a generally sound
system of internal control, designed to meet the
organisation’s objectives, and that controls are
generally being applied consistently. However,
some weakness in the design and/or inconsistent
application of controls, put the achievement of
particular objectives at risk.
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Basis for the opinion
The basis for forming my opinion is as follows:
• An assessment of the design and operation of
the underpinning assurance framework and
supporting processes.
• An assessment of the range of individual
opinions arising from risk-based audit
assignments, contained within internal audit
risk-based plans that have been reported
throughout the year. This assessment has taken
account of the relative materiality of these
areas and management’s progress in respect of
addressing control weaknesses.
Additional areas of work that may support the
opinion will be determined locally but are not
required for Department of Health purposes eg
any reliance that is being placed upon third party
assurances.
Matters that have had an impact on the
opinion
There are no matters to bring to your attention
which have had an impact on the HoIA.
Commentary
See page 97 for a summary of completed internal
audit work.
All recommendations from internal audit reports
are followed up for progress to completion. This is
reported to the audit committee regularly.
An audit of human resources ‘recruitment,
termination and changes’ arrangements
highlighted issues including the standardisation
and review of guidance, processes around
exit interviews, and the implementation of
recommendations from reviews. None of these
were considered high priority by the auditors
and actions to address them are ongoing and
progress monitored by the workforce and audit
committees.

System

Assurance

Planned
days
10

Actual
days
10

Assurance
assessment
Reasonable

Assurance

10

3

Reasonable

Assurance

-

7

Substantial

Assurance

6

-

-

Joint follow-up - internal
audit and counter fraud

Follow up

-

11

ICT review - Review of
technological direction (ICT
infrastructure planning)
Personal health budgets
Key financial controls review
- financial management
Human resources recruitment, terminations
and changes
Risk management and BAF
Data security and protection
toolkit
Governance - conflicts of
interest
2019/20 follow-up

Assurance

10

10

Assurance
Assurance

10
10

10
10

Reasonable
Substantial

Compliance

10

10

Limited

Assurance
Assurance

8
10

8
10

Substantial
Substantial

Assurance

5

5

Substantial

Follow up

3

3

10

5

2

2

2

2

-

14

14

-

120

120

Mental health and wellbeing
information service (MHIS)
Primary care commissioning
and contracting (Stage 1)
Primary care commissioning
and contracting (Stage 2)
Partnership working follow-up

Type

2019/20 advisory
contingency
2019/20 annual planning
2019/20 annual report
2019/20 management,
planning and audit
committee reporting/
support

Planning/
Reporting
Planning/
Reporting
Planning/
Reporting

Total days

Comments

Time used for
joint follow-up
review
Follow up.
Additional review
No assessment requested by
audit committee
Reasonable

Report at draft

Follow up.
Reported to audit
No assessment committee in year
Five days used to
undertake joint
follow-up review
-
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Remuneration report
Remuneration committee
Members of this committee are appointed from
the organisation’s GB. The committee comprises:
• GB lay member (with a nominated alternate).
• GB GP (with a nominated alternate who must
be fully briefed and able to operate with full
authority over any issue arising at the meeting).
• GB clinical member (with a nominated
alternate).
The lay member is the chair of the committee. In
the absence of the chair of the committee, the
committee will be chaired by the GB GP member.
The current members of the remuneration
committee are:
• Nikki Kelly, GB member (chair).
• Iain Chorlton, chair of NHS Kernow.
• Judy Duckworth, GB GP member.

Policy on the remuneration of senior
managers
The remuneration of our directors is consistent
with the NHS England’s CCG’s remuneration
guidance for chief officers and chief finance
officers. All proposals and decisions regarding
very senior managers (VSM) are considered by
the remuneration committee whose primary
function is to fulfil its obligation with respect to
remuneration and terms of service for the chief
officer, directors, other VSMs, GB members and
clinical leads as outlined in the Constitution. We
also carry out benchmarking with other CCGs
to ensure fairness and consistency and take into
account remuneration of colleagues across the
organisation.

Remuneration of VSMs
GB GP members are engaged by NHS Kernow on
a part time basis. The full time equivalent salary
exceeds £150,000. The remuneration for GPs
is paid in line with the NHS England Guidance
for CCG GB members: role outlines, attributes
and skills which states that remuneration should
be either at a rate commensurate with allowing
backfill or in line with local sessional rate. GB GPs
are paid a fee in line with this guidance. This rate
has remained unchanged since 2013.
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Compensation on early retirement or
for loss of office
No payments to past members were made in
2019/20.

Pay multiples (audited)
Reporting bodies are required to disclose
the relationship between the remuneration
of the highest-paid director/member in their
organisation and the median remuneration of
the organisation’s workforce based on full time
equivalent salaries.
The banded remuneration of the CCG’s highest
paid director/member, who was the chair/GP
GB member, in the financial year 2019/20 was
£150,000 to £155,000 (2018/19: £150,000
to £155,000) This was 4.38 times the median
remuneration of the workforce (2018/19: 4.59
times median salary) which was £34,782 (£33,222
in 2017/18).
There were no employees who received
remuneration in excess of the highest-paid
director/member (2018/19: None).
Remuneration ranged from £17,652 to £150,172
(2018/19: £16,696 to £150,172. The majority of
employees are contracted under standard Agenda
for Change (AfC) and received pay awards in
line with the National AfC terms and conditions.
Inflationary pay uplifts for VSM salaries are
decided by the remuneration committee.
Total remuneration includes salary, nonconsolidated performance-related pay, benefitsin-kind, but not severance payments. It does not
include employer pension contributions and the
cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.

Salaries and allowances tables (audited)

0

0

£'000
Note 4
10-12.5

Name and title
Jackie Pendleton

Chief officer (until
31/03/20)
Dr Iain Chorlton
Chair
Clare Bryan
Chief finance officer
Helen Childs
Chief operating
officer
Natalie Jones
Chief nursing officer
Dr Paul Cook
GP member
Dr Judith Duckworth GP member
Dr John Garman
GP member
Dr Francis Old
GP member
Dr Deryth Stevens
GP member
Dr Robert White
GP member
Dr Sarah Bridges
Secondary care
clinician (until
31/0719)
Dr Matthew
Secondary care
Hayman
clinician (from
07/01/20)
Chris Blong
Deputy chair and
lay member governance/audit
John Yarnold
Lay member - fiscal
management
Melissa Mead
Lay member primary care
Nikki Kelly
Lay member patient and public
Involvement

65-70
105-110
110-115

200
300
300

0
0
0

0
0
0

0
65-70
57.5-60 165-170
25-27.5 135-140

2
2
2
2
2
2
1

105-110
35-40
20-25
35-40
40-45
35-40
50-55
0-5

300
100
0
0
0
0
300
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

22.5-25
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

125-130
35-40
20-25
35-40
40-45
35-40
50-55
0-5

1

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

1

15-20

400

0

0

0

15-20

1

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

1

10-15

0

0

0

0

10-15

1

10-15

200

0

0

0

10-15

Notes
5
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Total (bands of £5,000)

Long term performance pay
and bonuses (bands of £5,000)
£'000

£’000

Increase in all pension related
benefits (bands of £2,500)

Performance pay and bonuses
(bands of £5,000)
£'000

125-130

£
Note 3
400

Salary (bands of £5,000)

Expense payments (taxable) to
nearest £100

2019/20

£'000
135-140
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Name and title
Jackie Pendleton

Chief officer

0

Dr Iain Chorlton
Simon Bell

Chair
Chief finance officer (until
29/07/18)
Simon Bolitho
Acting chief finance officer
(30/07/18 - 30/09/18)
Clare Bryan
Chief finance officer (from
01/10/18)
Helen Childs
Chief operating officer
Natalie Jones
Chief nursing officer
Dr Paul Cook
GP member
Dr Judith Duckworth GP member
Dr Alison Flanagan
GP member (until 15/06/18)
Dr John Garman
GP member (from 01/11/18)
Dr Francis Old
GP member
Dr Deryth Stevens
GP member (from 01/01/19)
Dr Robert White
GP member
Maggie Scott
Nurse Member (until
31/10/18)
Chris Blong
Deputy chair and lay
member - governance/audit
John Yarnold
Lay member - fiscal
management
Jeffrey James
Lay member - patient and
public Involvement (until
30/09/18)
Melissa Mead
Lay member - primary care
(from 01/11/18)
Lay member - patient and
Nikki Kelly
public Involvement (from
20/11/18)

65-70
35-40

200
100

15-20

100
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Total (bands of £5,000)

Long term performance pay
and bonuses (bands of £5,000)
£'000

£’000

Increase in all pension related
benefits (bands of £2,500)

Performance pay and bonuses
(bands of £5,000)
£'000

125-130

£
Note 3
500

Salary (bands of £5,000)

Expense payments (taxable) to
nearest £100

2018/19

0

£'000
Note 4
0

£'000
125-130

0
0

0
0

10-12.5
0

75-80
35-40

100

0

0

12.5-15

30-35

50-55

100

0

0

65-67.5

115-120

110-115
100-105
25-30
25-30
40-45
15-20
45-50
5-10
35-40
25-30

400
300
0
100
200
0
0
0
200
300

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
10-12.5
0-2.5
0
7.5-10
0
0
0
0
0

110-115
110-115
30-35
25-30
50-55
15-20
45-50
5-10
35-40
15-20

15-20

400

0

0

0

15-20

5-10

200

0

0

0

5-10

0-5

0

0

0

0

0-5

5-10

0

0

0

0

5-10

5-10

0

0

0

0

5-10

Remuneration of senior managers is decided by the remuneration committee. The remuneration
committee is comprised of the chair and three lay members of NHS Kernow. Levels of remuneration
are considered by the remuneration committee and take account of the size of the organisation
and the complexity of the operational circumstances it operates within. Benchmarking against other
organisations is also considered in setting remuneration levels.
Notes
1. No pensionable remuneration received from the CCG.
2. Includes an element of remuneration earned in respect of clinical work in addition to GB
responsibilities.
3. Expense payments (taxable) relate to benefits-in-kind arising from salary sacrifice schemes and travel
expenses. Note these figures are stated in pounds, not thousands of pounds.
4. The NHS Pension scheme is a defined benefit scheme based on earnings. Pension related benefits
are based on a nominal calculations of the accrued increase in future benefits payable in retirement,
rather than the cost of contributions in-year. This calculation, which is defined nationally, takes
account of total increases in benefits over the first twenty years of retirement, and so a small change
in annual pension entitlement can lead to a significant figure being reported in the above table.
5. Jackie Pendleton was formally made redundant during 2019/20 and as a result an exit package,
in line with Employment Rights Act 1996 and current NHS terms and conditions, was approved.
This consisted of £160,000 redundancy and £10,590 payment in lieu of notice. The formal date of
redundancy was 31 May 2020 and she ceased to be chief officer after 31 March 2020.

Pensions and benefits tables (audited)

Lump sum at pension age related to
accrued pension at 31 March 2020
(bands of £5,000)

Cash equivalent transfer value at
1 April 2019

Cash equivalent transfer value at
31 March 2020

Real increase in cash equivalent Transfer
Value

Employer’s contribution to stakeholder
pension

Name and title
Jackie Pendleton

£000
120-125

£000
932

£000
1,009

£000
36

£00
0

Clare Bryan
Helen Childs
Natalie Jones

Chief officer (until
31/03/20)
Chief finance officer
Chief operating officer
Chief nursing officer

2.5-5 2.5-5 25-30
0-2.5
0
40-45
0-2.5 0-2.5 30-35

60-65
110-115
95-100

386
809
713

450
873
781

41
29
37

0
0
0

Real increase in pension lump sum at
pension age (bands of £2,500)

£000 £000 £000
0-2.5 2.5-5 40-45

Real increase in pension at pension age
(bands of £2,500)

Total accrued pension at pension age at
31 March 2018 (bands of £5,000)

2019/20
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Simon Bolitho
Clare Bryan

Chief officer
Chief finance officer (until
29/07/18)
Acting chief finance officer
(30/07/18 - 30/09/18)
Chief finance officer (from
01/10/18)
Chief operating officer
Chief nursing officer
GP member
GP member

Helen Childs
Natalie Jones
Dr Paul Cook
Dr Judith
Duckworth
Dr Alison Flanagan GP member (until 15/06/18)
Dr Francis Old
GP member

£000 £000 £000

Employer's contribution to
stakeholder pension

£000

Real increase in cash equivalent
transfer value

£000

Cash equivalent transfer value at
31 March 2018

Lump sum at pension age related to
accrued pension at 31 March 2018
(bands of £5,000)

Name and title
Jackie Pendleton
Simon Bell

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value at
1 April 2017

Total accrued pension at pension age
at 31 March 2018 (bands of £5,000)

£000 £000

Real increase in pension at pension
age (bands of £2,500)

Real increase in pension lump sum at
pension age (bands of £2,500)

2018/19

£00

0-2.5 2.5-5 35-40 115-120
0
0
35-40 90-95

819
613

932
706

70
19

0
0

0-2.5

0

35-40

85-90

594

699

1

0

0-2.5 0-2.5 25-30

55-60

286

386

40

0

0
0
40-45 105-110
0-2.5 2.5-5 30-35 95-100
0-2.5
0
5-10
15-20
0-2.5
0
10-15 25-30

731
605
106
231

809
713
127
258

40
76
10
16

0
0
0
0

0-2.5 0-2.5
0
0

199
0

239
0

18
0

0
1

10-15
0

30-35
0

Notes
1. Due to changes in the NHS Pension Scheme there is no longer a fixed age at which employees
become entitled to receive their pension. As a result all figures quoted above relate to the senior
manager’s personal circumstances.
2. Where an employee has employment with more than one NHS body during the year the pension
figures disclosed in the table above will represent an aggregate of the benefits accruing under the
NHS Pension Scheme.
3. Certain GB members do not receive pensionable remuneration and therefore there are no entries in
respect of pensions for those members.
4. GP GB members are engaged on ‘contracts for service’. As a consequence of this any pension
payments are accounted for as ‘Practitioner’ contributions and are paid via the NHS Pension
Scheme’s GP SOLO route. Therefore, no pension benefit figures are provided to the CCG, as these
are included in the individual’s GP pension. There is one exception to this as Dr Francis Old is autoenrolled in the NEST (stakeholder) pension scheme. The employer contribution to this scheme was
£1,116 (2018/19: £584).
5. Secondary care clinicians do not receive any pensionable earnings from NHS Kernow and so there
are no disclosures in respect of their superannuation.
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Cash equivalent transfer values									
A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of the pension scheme
benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the members’
accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment
made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or
arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefit accrued in their
former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a
consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity
to which disclosure applies. Where a member has reached the normal retirement age for the scheme
that they are a member of then there in no CETV.
The CETV figure and other pension details, include the value of any pension benefits in another scheme
or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the NHS pension scheme. They also include
any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years
of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and
framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries.
NHS Pensions are still assessing the impact of the McCloud judgement in relation to changes to benefits
in 2015. The benefits and related CETVs disclosed do not allow for any potential future adjustments
that may arise from this judgement. During the year, the Government announced that public sector
pension schemes will be required to provide indexation on the guaranteed minimum pension element
of the pension. NHS Pensions has updated the methodology is included within the reported real
increase in CETV for the year.		
Real increase in CETV										
This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase
in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any
benefits transferred from another scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors
for the start and end of period. The inflation percentage used in calculating the real increase is the yearon-year change in the consumer prices index (CPI) based on September CPI data. The percentage used
in 2019/20 is 2.4 percent (2018/19: 3 percent).

Annual report 2019/20

103

Staff report
Number of senior managers
Pay band

Relationships with trade unions

Number of
senior managers
38
11
10
5
3
7

Band 8a
Band 8b
Band 8c
Band 8d
Band 9
VSM

Staff composition
Members of the GB
All other senior managers,
including all managers at
grade VSM (not including
members of the GB)
All other employees not
included in either of the
previous two categories

Male
8
(53%)
15
(20%)

Female
7
(47%)
60
(80%)

36
(17%)

171
(83%)

Sickness absence data
NHS sickness figures are published by NHS Digital.
There has been one ill heath retirement in 2019/20
(2018/19: one case).

80%

of our staff
are female

We continue to work in partnership with trade
unions colleagues, both in regard to CCG business
and on wider system development matters within
the Social Partnership Forum. Our partnership
agreement supports consultation with trade
unions in relation to key changes in our people
policies as well as any significant matters affecting
the CCG.

Staff policies
We are committed to the principles of equality
of opportunity and encouraging diversity in the
workplace. As a Two Ticks employer we offer
interviews to any disabled applicants who meet
the essential criteria for a role and as a Mindful
Employer we take a proactive approach to support
people working with a mental health condition.
In 2019 we continued our role as Stonewall
Champions to improve the experience of LGBT
colleagues at work.
During 2019 we introduced a new element to our
parental leave policies which supports the parents
of premature babies, recognising the emotional
impact, additional time and pressure that having a
baby in those circumstances can bring.
We have also increased our offering of advice and
information to support employees with mental
health and menopause.

Parliamentary accountability and audit
report
NHS Kernow is not required to produce a
parliamentary accountability and audit report.
Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses
and special payments, gifts, and fees and charges
are included as notes in the financial statements of
this report on page 71.

25%

of our staff are
senior managers
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An audit certificate and report are also included in
this annual report on page 96.

Staff costs and employee benefits (audited)
2019/20
Administrative
Permanent Other
employees
£’000
£’000

Programme
Total

Permanent Other
employees
£’000
£’000
£’000

Total
Total

Permanent Other
employees
£’000
£’000
£’000

Total
£’000

Salaries and wages

5,890

211

6,101

3,056

155

3,211

8,946

366

9,312

Social security costs
Employer
contributions to
NHS Pension
Scheme
Other pension costs

677
1,360

9
11

686
1,371

246
299

1
1

247
300

923
1,659

10
12

933
1,671

2

0

2

6

0

6

8

0

8

Apprenticeship levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee
benefits expenditure

34
199
8,162

0
0
231

34
199
8,393

0
0
3,607

0
0
157

0
0
3,764

34
199
11,769

0
34
0
199
388 12,157

2018/19
Administrative
Permanent Other
employees
£’000
£’000

Administrative
Total

Administrative

Permanent Other
employees
£’000
£’000
£’000

Total

Permanent Other
employees
£’000
£’000
£’000

Total
£’000

5,534

311

5,845

3,023

215

3,238

8,557

526

9,083

Social security costs

633

4

637

237

4

241

870

8

878

Employer
contributions to
NHS Pension
Scheme
Other pension costs

803

5

808

309

5

314

1,112

10

1,122

3

0

3

3

0

3

6

0

6

Apprenticeship levy
Gross employee
benefits expenditure

30
7,003

0
320

30
7,323

0
3,572

0
224

0
3,796

30
10,575

0
544

30
11,119

Salaries and wages
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Staff engagement and experience
Every organisation’s success is built on its
people. Putting people at the centre of how we
manage our business means we are more likely
to have motivated and productive staff who are
committed to the organisation’s objectives.
This year we have increased our focus on the
health and wellbeing on our staff. We launched
an employee assistance programme which
provides independent confidential support and
advice for staff, not just on health but also issues
such as debt management and legal support.
For world mental health day we put on a whole
week of activities and information from the
opportunity to try out a smoothie bike to sessions
on mindfulness and wellbeing.
In May and December we held a series of
away days across the county. Through a series
of interactive workshops staff were able to
contribute to the development of a new appraisal
and development process, allowing colleagues
to identify the best route of appraisal and
development from their perspective. Staff were
also engaged in discussions about how we
approach equality and diversity and what we can
do to be a more inclusive employer. There was
also the opportunity to hear from our counter
fraud expert.
The monthly directors’ briefings continue to be
popular offering colleagues across offices the
opportunity to meet and engage with senior
leadership. Normally led by the chief officer,
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feedback and questions are always encouraged
at these sessions and post briefing information
shared for those who were unable to attend.
We continue with our weekly ‘staff update’. In
addition to weekly news updates, training and
feedback opportunities, colleagues have been
using this to share ‘staff stories’. These have
included experiences of colleagues who have
taken advantage of our offer of two days paid
volunteering a year which was also introduced this
year.
Staff Voice, our staff engagement group from
a range of colleagues across the organisation,
continues to meet regularly. Staff Voice
champions, known as the ‘Voicers’, act as
points of contact for all staff to share ideas
and talk about topics such as wellbeing, how
we communicate and engage with staff, policy
changes and anything that might impact on
our staff. This year they have helped to shape
the development of our health and wellbeing
strategy as well as feeding into areas of focus for
organisational development and training plans.
Although it is not mandatory for CCGs, we once
again took park in the NHS staff survey. This
year’s response rate was 78 percent, an increase
on last year with over 200 colleagues taking part.
Highlights of the survey were colleagues feeling
they are making a difference to patients and
having good relationships with their managers.
Overall results were broadly similar to 2018.

Expenditure on consultancy
The CCG has incurred £39,000 on this area of expenditure in 2019/20 (2018/19: £nil).
Off-payroll engagements as of 31 March 2020, for more than £245 per day and that last for
longer than six months
Number of engagements at 31/03/20
At time of reporting, number that have existed for:
Less than one year at time
Between one and two years
Between two and three years
Between three and four years
Four or more years at time of reporting

1
1
0
0
0
0

New off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration, between
1 April 2019 and 31 March 2020, for more than £245 per day and that last for longer than
six months
Number of engagements
of which numbers:
Assessed as caught by IR35
Assessed as not caught by IR35
Engaged directly (via PSC contracted to department) and are on the departmental payroll
Engagements reassessed for consistency / assurance purposes during the year.
Engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following the consistency review

1
0
1
0
0
0

Off-payroll board member/senior official engagements
Number of engagements
of which numbers:
Off-payroll engagements of board members, and /or, senior officials with significant financial
responsibility, during the financial year.
Individuals that have been deemed board members, and /or, senior officials with significant
financial responsibility, during the financial year. This figure should include both off-payroll
and on-payroll engagements.

17
0
17

Exit packages, including special (non-contractual) payments
Exit packages agreed for four employees during 2019/20 and these are shown in the table below:

£10,001 - £25,000
£150,001 - £200,000

Compulsory redundancies
Number
Cost (£)
1
160,000

Other agreed departures
Number
Cost (£)
3
38,913
-

The three cases recorded as other agreed departures all related to contractual payments in lieu of notice
(PILON).
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Statement of comprehensive net expenditure for the year
ended 31 March 2020
Note
Income from sale of goods and services
Other operating income
Total operating income
Staff costs
Purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Other operating expenditure
Total operating expenditure
Net operating expenditure

2
2
3
4
4
4
4

2019/20
£’000
(8,460)
(55)
(8,515)
12,157
862,363
98
(2)
561
875,177
866,662

2018/19
£’000
(10,530)
(50)
(10,580)
11,119
819,279
115
(9)
277
830,781
820,201

The notes on pages 113 to 132 form part of this statement.
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Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020
Note
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Current assets:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Provisions
Total liabilities

7

8

10
11
12

Total assets less net current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Provisions
Assets less Liabilities

12

Financed by taxpayers’ equity
General fund
Revaluation reserve
Total taxpayers’ equity

2019/20
£’000

2018/19
£’000

248

206

5
8,268
0
8,521

5
8,736
0
8,947

(52,681)
(2,948)
(248)
(55,877)

(48,658)
(1,879)
(316)
(50,853)

(47,356)

(41,906)

(159)
(47,515)

(112)
(42,018)

(47,515)
(47,515)

(42,019)
1
(42,018)

The notes on pages 113 to 132 form part of this statement.
The financial statements on pages 109 to 132 were approved by the Governing Body on 2 June 2020
and signed on its behalf by:
Helen Charlesworth-May
Accountable officer
2 June 2020
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Statement of changes In taxpayers equity for the year ended
31 March 2020
General fund
2019/20
£'000
Balance at 1 April 2019
(42,019)
Changes in NHS CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2019/20
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
(866,662)
Transfers between reserves
1
Net recognised NHS CCG expenditure for the
(866,661)
financial year
Net funding
861,165
Balance at 31 March 2020
(47,515)

General fund
2018/19
£'000
Balance at 1 April 2018
(45,162)
Changes in NHS CCG taxpayers’ equity for 2018/19
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
(820,201)
Transfers between reserves
0
Net recognised NHS CCG expenditure for the
(820,201)
financial year
Net funding
823,344
Balance at 31 March 2019
(42,019)

Revaluation
reserve
£'000
1

Total
reserves
£'000
(42,018)

(1)
(1)

(866,662)
0
(866,662)

0
0

861,165
(47,515)

Revaluation
reserve
£'000
1

Total
reserves
£'000
(45,161)

0
0

(820,201)
0
(820,201)

0
1

823,344
(42,018)

The notes on pages 113 to 132 form part of this statement.
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Statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2020
Note
Cash flows from operating activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year
Depreciation and amortisation
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
Provisions utilised
Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities

4
8
10
12
12

Cash flows from investing activities
(Payments) for property, plant and equipment
Net cash inflow (outflow) before financing
Cash flows from financing activities
Grant in aid funding received
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the
financial year
Cash and cash equivalents (including bank
overdrafts) at the end of the financial year
The notes on pages 113 to 132 form part of this statement.
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9

2019/20
£’000

2018/19
£’000

(866,662)
98
468
3,996
(19)
(2)
(862,121)

(820,201)
115
(2,336)
(1,386)
(37)
(9)
(823,854)

(113)
(862,234)

(80)
(823,934)

861,165
(1,069)

823,344
(590)

(1,879)

(1,289)

(2,948)

(1,879)

Notes to the financial statements
1

Accounting policies

NHSEI has directed that the financial statements of
CCGs shall meet the accounting requirements of
the group accounting manual issued by the DHSC.
Consequently, the following financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with the
group accounting manual (GAM) 2019/20 issued
by the DHSC. The accounting policies contained
in the GAM follow international financial
reporting standards (IFRS) to the extent that
they are meaningful and appropriate to CCGs,
as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised
by the financial reporting advisory board. Where
the GAM permits a choice of accounting policy,
the accounting policy which is judged to be most
appropriate to the particular circumstances of the
CCG for the purpose of giving a true and fair view
has been selected. The particular policies adopted
by the CCG are described below. They have
been applied consistently in dealing with items
considered material in relation to the accounts.
1.1

Going concern

These accounts have been prepared on a going
concern basis despite the issue of a report to
the Secretary of State for Health and Social
Care under Section 30 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014.
Public sector bodies are assumed to be going
concerns where the continuation of the provision
of a service in the future is anticipated, as
evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for
that service in published documents.
The Chancellor of the Exchequer committed in
Parliament that “whatever extra resources our
NHS needs to cope with coronavirus”. Therefore,
the CCG continues to be funded to meet current
cash requirements under normal monthly cash
requisition arrangements. There is no indication
that this process will not continue and that the
CCG will be able to access cash to meet its
obligations as they fall due.
As there are no material uncertainties to refute
the assessment, management consider that
there is adequate evidence to support the CCG
continuing to prepare its accounts on a ‘going
concern’ basis.

1.2

Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared under the
historical cost convention modified to account for
the revaluation of property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, inventories and certain financial
assets and financial liabilities.
1.3

Movement of assets within the DHSC
group

As public sector bodies are deemed to operate
under common control, business reconfigurations
within the DHSC are outside the scope of IFRS 3
Business Combinations. Where functions transfer
between two public sector bodies, the DHSC
GAM requires the application of absorption
accounting. Absorption accounting requires that
entities account for their transactions in the period
in which they took place, with no restatement of
performance required when functions transfer
within the public sector. Where assets and
liabilities transfer, the gain or loss resulting is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive
net expenditure, and is disclosed separately from
operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and liabilities within the
DHSC group are accounted for in line with IAS 20
and similarly give rise to income and expenditure
entries.
1.4

Pooled budgets

Where the CCG has entered into a pooled budget
arrangement under section 75 of the National
Health Service Act 2006 the CCG accounts for
its share of the assets, liabilities, income and
expenditure arising from the activities of the
pooled budget, identified in accordance with the
pooled budget agreement.
The CCG has considered this arrangement
with reference to IFRS11:Joint arrangements
and considers that the substance of the s75
arrangement, under which the funds are pooled,
reflects a joint operation
In line with the requirements of IFRS11: Joint
arrangements the CCG recognises:
• The assets the CCG controls.
• The liabilities the CCG incurs.
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• The expenses the CCG incurs.
• The CCG’s share of the income from the
pooled budget activities.
Information relating to pooled budget
arrangements is included at note 15 to these
accounts.
1.5

Revenue

In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical
expedients offered in the Standard have been
employed. These are as follows:
• As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the
CCG will not disclose information regarding
performance obligations part of a contract that
has an original expected duration of one year
or less.
• The CCG is to similarly not disclose information
where revenue is recognised in line with the
practical expedient offered in paragraph B16 of
the Standard where the right to consideration
corresponds directly with value of the
performance completed to date.
• The FReM has mandated the exercise of the
practical expedient offered in C7(a) of the
Standard that requires the CCG to reflect the
aggregate effect of all contracts modified
before the date of initial application.
The main source of funding for the CCG is from
the DHSC. The CCG is required to maintain
expenditure within notified resource limits and
its performance against these is disclosed in note
18. Cash is drawn down as required on a monthly
basis and is credited to the general fund. Funding
is recognised in the period in which it is received.
Revenue in respect of services provided is
recognised when (or as) performance obligations
are satisfied by transferring promised services to
the customer, and is measured at the amount
of the transaction price allocated to that
performance obligation.
Where income is received for a specific
performance obligation that is to be satisfied in
the following year, that income is deferred.
Payment terms are standard reflecting cross
government principles. The CCG operates a 30
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day payment policy in line the ‘better payment
practice’ code, unless other terms are agreed.
The value of the benefit received when the
CCG accesses funds from the Government’s
apprenticeship service are recognised as income
in accordance with IAS 20, Accounting for
Government grants. Where these funds are
paid directly to an accredited training provider,
non-cash income and a corresponding non-cash
training expense are recognised, both equal to the
cost of the training funded.
1.6

Employee benefits

1.6.1 Short-term employee benefits
Salaries, wages and employment-related
payments, including payments arising from the
apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period
in which the service is received from employees,
including bonuses earned but not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but not taken by
employees at the end of the period is recognised
in the financial statements to the extent that
employees are permitted to carry forward leave
into the following period.
1.6.2 Retirement benefit costs
Past and present employees are covered by the
provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. These
schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes
that cover NHS employers, general practices and
other bodies allowed under the direction of the
Secretary of State in England and Wales. The
schemes are not designed to be run in a way that
would enable NHS bodies to identify their share
of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities.
Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as
though they were defined contribution schemes:
the cost to the CCG of participating in a scheme is
taken as equal to the contributions payable to the
scheme for the accounting period.
For early retirements other than those due to ill
health the additional pension liabilities are not
funded by the scheme. The full amount of the
liability for the additional costs is charged to
expenditure at the time the CCG commits itself
to the retirement, regardless of the method of
payment.

The schemes are subject to a full actuarial
valuation every four years and an accounting
valuation every year.
Following the implementation of pensions ‘auto
enrolment’ employees who are not already part of
the NHS Pensions Scheme are ‘auto enrolled’ in an
alternative Government approved pension scheme.
This is a defined contribution scheme.
1.7

Other expenses

Other operating expenses are recognised when,
and to the extent that, the goods or services have
been received. They are measured at the fair value
of the consideration payable.
1.8

Grants payable

Where grant funding is not intended to be
directly related to activity undertaken by a grant
recipient in a specific period, the CCG recognises
the expenditure in the period in which the grant
is paid. All other grants are accounted for on an
accruals basis.
1.9

Property, plant and equipment

1.9.1 Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is capitalised if:
• It is held for use in delivering services or for
administrative purposes.
• It is probable that future economic benefits will
flow to, or service potential will be supplied to
the CCG.
• It is expected to be used for more than one
financial year.
• The cost of the item can be measured reliably.
• The item has a cost of at least £5,000.
• Collectively, a number of items have a cost of
at least £5,000 and individually have a cost
of more than £250, where the assets are
functionally interdependent, they had broadly
simultaneous purchase dates, are anticipated
to have simultaneous disposal dates and are
under single managerial control.
• Items form part of the initial equipping and
setting-up cost of a new building, ward or
unit, irrespective of their individual or collective
cost.

Where a large asset, for example a building,
includes a number of components with
significantly different asset lives, the components
are treated as separate assets and depreciated
over their own useful economic lives.
1.9.2 Measurement
All property, plant and equipment is measured
initially at cost, representing the cost directly
attributable to acquiring or constructing the asset
and bringing it to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management.
Assets that are held for their service potential
and are in use are measured subsequently at their
current value in existing use. Assets that were
most recently held for their service potential but
are surplus are measured at fair value where there
are no restrictions preventing access to the market
at the reporting date
Revaluations are performed with sufficient
regularity to ensure that carrying amounts are
not materially different from those that would be
determined at the end of the reporting period.
Current values in existing use are determined as
follows:
• Land and non-specialised buildings - market
value for existing use; and,
• Specialised buildings - depreciated replacement
cost.
Properties in the course of construction for service
or administration purposes are carried at cost, less
any impairment loss. Cost includes professional
fees but not borrowing costs, which are
recognised as expenses immediately, as allowed
by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are
re-valued and depreciation commences when they
are brought into use.
IT equipment, transport equipment, furniture and
fittings, and plant and machinery that are held
for operational use are valued at depreciated
historic cost where these assets have short useful
economic lives or low values or both, as this is not
considered to be materially different from current
value in existing use.
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An increase arising on revaluation is taken to
the revaluation reserve except when it reverses
an impairment for the same asset previously
recognised in expenditure, in which case it is
credited to expenditure to the extent of the
decrease previously charged there. A revaluation
decrease that does not result from a loss of
economic value or service potential is recognised
as an impairment charged to the revaluation
reserve to the extent that there is a balance
on the reserve for the asset and, thereafter, to
expenditure. Impairment losses that arise from a
clear consumption of economic benefit are taken
to expenditure. Gains and losses recognised in
the revaluation reserve are reported as other
comprehensive income in the statement of
comprehensive net expenditure.
1.9.3 Subsequent expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure enhances an
asset beyond its original specification, the directly
attributable cost is capitalised. Where subsequent
expenditure restores the asset to its original
specification, the expenditure is capitalised and
any existing carrying value of the item replaced is
written-out and charged to operating expenses.
1.10

Intangible assets

1.10.1 Recognition
Intangible assets are non-monetary assets without
physical substance, which are capable of sale
separately from the rest of the CCG’s business or
which arise from contractual or other legal rights.
They are recognised only:
• When it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to, or service potential be
provided to, the CCG.
• Where the cost of the asset can be measured
reliably.
• Where the cost is at least £5,000.
Software that is integral to the operating of
hardware, for example an operating system, is
capitalised as part of the relevant item of property,
plant and equipment. Software that is not integral
to the operation of hardware, for example
application software, is capitalised as an intangible
asset. Expenditure on research is not capitalised
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but is recognised as an operating expense in the
period in which it is incurred. Internally-generated
assets are recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:
• Technical feasibility of completing the
intangible asset so it will be available for use.
• Intention to complete the intangible asset and
use it.
• Ability to sell or use the intangible asset.
• How the intangible asset will generate
probable future economic benefits or service
potential.
• Availability of adequate technical, financial and
other resources to complete the intangible
asset and sell or use it.
• Ability to measure reliably the expenditure
attributable to the intangible asset during its
development.
1.10.2 Measurement
Intangible assets acquired separately are initially
recognised at cost. The amount initially recognised
for internally-generated intangible assets is the
sum of the expenditure incurred from the date
when the criteria above are initially met. Where
no internally-generated intangible asset can be
recognised, the expenditure is recognised in the
period in which it is incurred.
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are
carried at current value in existing use by reference
to an active market, or, where no active market
exists, at the lower of amortised replacement
cost or the value in use where the asset is income
generating . Internally-developed software is held
at historic cost to reflect the opposing effects of
increases in development costs and technological
advances. Revaluations and impairments are
treated in the same manner as for property, plant
and equipment.
1.10.3 Depreciation, amortisation and
impairments
Freehold land, properties under construction, and
assets held for sale are not depreciated.
Otherwise, depreciation and amortisation are
charged to write off the costs or valuation of

property, plant and equipment and intangible
non-current assets, less any residual value, over
their estimated useful lives, in a manner that
reflects the consumption of economic benefits
or service potential of the assets. The estimated
useful life of an asset is the period over which
the CCG expects to obtain economic benefits or
service potential from the asset. This is specific
to the CCG and may be shorter than the physical
life of the asset itself. Estimated useful lives and
residual values are reviewed each year end,
with the effect of any changes recognised on a
prospective basis. Assets held under finance leases
are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term
and the estimated useful life.
At each reporting period end, the CCG checks
whether there is any indication that any of its
property, plant and equipment assets or intangible
non-current assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If there is indication of an impairment loss,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated
to determine whether there has been a loss and, if
so, its amount. Intangible assets not yet available
for use are tested for impairment annually.
A revaluation decrease that does not result from
a loss of economic value or service potential is
recognised as an impairment charged to the
revaluation reserve to the extent that there
is a balance on the reserve for the asset and,
thereafter, to expenditure. Impairment losses
that arise from a clear consumption of economic
benefit are taken to expenditure. Where an
impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of the recoverable amount but
capped at the amount that would have been
determined had there been no initial impairment
loss. The reversal of the impairment loss is credited
to expenditure to the extent of the decrease
previously charged there and thereafter to the
revaluation reserve.
1.11

1.11.1 The CCG as lessee
Property, plant and equipment held under finance
leases are initially recognised, at the inception of
the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease payments, with a
matching liability for the lease obligation to the
lessor. Lease payments are apportioned between
finance charges and reduction of the lease
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on
interest on the remaining balance of the liability.
Finance charges are recognised in calculating the
CCG’s surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a
liability and subsequently as a reduction of rentals
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense
in the period in which they are incurred.
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the
land and building components are separated
and individually assessed as to whether they are
operating or finance leases.
1.12

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value, using the first-in first-out basis.
1.13

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any
financial institution repayable without penalty
on notice of not more than 24-hours. Cash
equivalents are investments that mature in three
months or less from the date of acquisition and
that are readily convertible to known amounts of
cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
In the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand and that form an
integral part of the CCG’s cash management.

Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases when
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.
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1.14

Provisions

A restructuring provision is recognised when the
CCG has developed a detailed formal plan for the
restructuring and has raised a valid expectation
in those affected that it will carry out the
restructuring by starting to implement the plan or
announcing its main features to those affected by
it. The measurement of a restructuring provision
includes only the direct expenditures arising from
the restructuring, which are those amounts that
are both necessarily entailed by the restructuring
and not associated with on-going activities of the
entity.

Provisions are recognised when the CCG has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the CCG
will be required to settle the obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation. The amount recognised as a
provision is the best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties. Where a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation,
and the time value of money is material, its
1.15 Clinical negligence costs
carrying amount is the present value of those cash
NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme
flows using HM Treasury’s discount rate as follows:
under which the CCG pays an annual contribution
Early retirement provisions are discounted using
to NHS Resolution, which in return settles all
HM Treasury’s pension discount rate of negative
clinical negligence claims. The contribution is
0.50 percent (2018/19: positive 0.29 percent)
charged to expenditure. Although NHS Resolution
in real terms. All general provisions are subject
is administratively responsible for all clinical
to four separate discount rates according to the
negligence cases, the legal liability remains with
expected timing of cashflows from the statement
CCG.
of financial position date:
1.16 Non-clinical risk pooling
• A nominal short-term rate of 0.51 percent
The CCG participates in the property expenses
(2018/19: 0.76 percent) for inflation adjusted
scheme and the liabilities to third parties scheme.
expected cash flows up to and including five
Both are risk pooling schemes under which the
years from statement of financial position date.
CCG pays an annual contribution to the NHS
• A nominal medium-term rate of 0.55 percent
Resolution and, in return, receives assistance
(2018/19:1.14 percent) for inflation adjusted
with the costs of claims arising. The annual
expected cash flows over 5 years up to and
membership contributions, and any excesses
including 10 years from the statement of
payable in respect of particular claims are charged
financial position date.
to operating expenses as and when they become
• A nominal long-term rate of 1.99 percent
due.
(2018/19: 1.99 percent) for inflation adjusted
1.17 Contingent liabilities and contingent
expected cash flows over 10 years and up to
assets
and including 40 years from the statement of
financial position date.
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that
• A nominal very long-term rate of 1.99 percent
arises from past events and whose existence will
(2018/19: 1.99 percent) for inflation adjusted
be confirmed only by the occurrence or nonexpected cash flows exceeding 40 years from
occurrence of one or more uncertain future
the statement of financial position date.
events not wholly within the control of the CCG,
or a present obligation that is not recognised
When some or all of the economic benefits
because it is not probable that a payment will be
required to settle a provision are expected to be
required to settle the obligation or the amount
recovered from a third party, the receivable is
of the obligation cannot be measured sufficiently
recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless
reimbursements will be received and the amount
the possibility of a payment is remote.
of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises
from past events and whose existence will be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence
of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the CCG. A contingent asset
is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits
is probable.
Where the time value of money is material,
contingent liabilities and contingent assets are
disclosed at their present value.
1.18

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised when the CCG
becomes party to the financial instrument contract
or, in the case of trade receivables, when the
goods or services have been delivered. Financial
assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights have expired or the asset has been
transferred.
Financial assets are classified into the following
categories:
• Financial assets at amortised cost.
• Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income.
• Financial assets at fair value through profit and
loss.
The classification is determined by the cash flow
and business model characteristics of the financial
assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at
the time of initial recognition.
1.18.1 Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets measured at amortised cost
are those held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by collecting contractual
cash flows and where the cash flows are solely
payments of principal and interest. This includes
most trade receivables and other simple debt
instruments. After initial recognition these financial
assets are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less any impairment.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset.

1.18.2 Financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income
Financial assets held at fair value through other
comprehensive income are those held within a
business model whose objective is achieved by
both collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets and where the cash flows are
solely payments of principal and interest.
1.18.3 Financial assets at fair value through
profit and loss
Financial assets measure at fair value through
profit and loss are those that are not otherwise
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income. This includes
derivatives and financial assets acquired principally
for the purpose of selling in the short term.
1.18.4 Impairment
For all financial assets measured at amortised
cost or at fair value through other comprehensive
income (except equity instruments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income),
lease receivables and contract assets, the CCG
recognises a loss allowance representing the
expected credit losses on the financial asset.
The CCG adopts the simplified approach to
impairment in accordance with IFRS 9, and
measures the loss allowance for trade receivables,
lease receivables and contract assets at an amount
equal to lifetime expected credit losses. For other
financial assets, the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit
losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition
(stage two) and otherwise at an amount equal to
12 month expected credit losses (stage one).
HM Treasury has ruled that central government
bodies may not recognise stage one or stage
two impairments against other government
departments, their executive agencies, the Bank
of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer
Funds assets where repayment is ensured by
primary legislation. The CCG therefore does
not recognise loss allowances for stage one or
stage two impairments against these bodies.
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Additionally DHSC provides a guarantee of last
resort against the debts of its arm’s lengths
bodies and NHS bodies and the CCG does not
recognise allowances for stage one or stage two
impairments against these bodies.
For financial assets that have become credit
impaired since initial recognition (stage three),
expected credit losses at the reporting date are
measured as the difference between the asset’s
gross carrying amount and the present value of
the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate. Any
adjustment is recognised in profit or loss as an
impairment gain or loss.
1.19

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement
of financial position when the CCG becomes
party to the contractual provisions of the financial
instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when
the goods or services have been received. Financial
liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has
been discharged, that is, the liability has been paid
or has expired.
1.19.1 Other financial liabilities
After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities
are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, except for loans from DHSC,
which are carried at historic cost. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash payments through the life
of the asset, to the net carrying amount of the
financial liability. Interest is recognised using the
effective interest method.
1.20

Value added tax (VAT)

Most of the activities of the CCG are outside
the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax
does not apply and input tax on purchases is not
recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the
relevant expenditure category or included in the
capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where
output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable,
the amounts are stated net of VAT.
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1.21

Foreign currencies

The CCG’s functional currency and presentational
currency is pounds sterling and amounts are
presented in thousands of pounds unless expressly
stated otherwise. Transactions denominated in
a foreign currency are translated into sterling
at the exchange rate ruling on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the spot exchange rate on
31 March. Resulting exchange gains and losses
for either of these are recognised in the CCG’s
surplus/deficit in the period in which they arise.
1.22

Critical accounting judgements and key
sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the CCG’s accounting
policies, management is required to make various
judgements, estimates and assumptions. These are
regularly reviewed.
1.22.1 Critical accounting judgements in
applying accounting policies
The CCG has a pooled budget arrangement
under Section 75 of the National Health Service
Act 2006. The CCG has critically assessed this
arrangement with reference to IFRS11:Joint
arrangements and considers that the substance of
the s75 arrangement, under which the funds are
pooled, reflects a joint operation.
1.22.2 Sources of estimation uncertainty
Significant estimates are inherent in a number of
operational areas including accruals for patient
treatment and drug costs, and residual liabilities
for costs of individuals who will be considered
to meet the eligibility criteria for NHS funded
CHCduring the reporting period. Such estimates
are informed by reviewing the underlying data
and trends and therefore are not expected
to be materially misstated. In 2019/20 further
consideration has been made to reflect the
impact, notably on prescribing costs, as a result
of COVID-19. The CCG considers that the impact
of COVID-19 in the 2019/20 accounts was limited
and that there has been no material impact on
estimations included therein.

1.23

Accounting standards that have been
issued but not yet adopted

The implementation of IFRS16: Leases which was intended to apply to the NHS from 2020/21 has been
deferred until 2021/22 and the government implementation date for IFRS 17: Insurance contracts still
subject to HM Treasury consideration. The impact for NHS Kernow is that leases that are currently
recognised as operating leases would be recognised as ‘right to use assets’ in the statement of financial
position. The CCG’s main operating lease expenditure is in relation to buildings. At initial recognition
this would be matched by a corresponding lease liability. Owing to the delayed implementation NHS
Kernow considers it too early to assess the impact this will have on the financial statements however it
is not expected to have a material impact on them.

2.

Other operating revenue
2019/20 2018/19
£'000
£'000
8,460
10,530
32
32
23
18
8,515
10,580

Other contract income
Rental revenue from operating leases
Non cash apprenticeship training grants revenue
Total operating Income

3.

Employee benefits and staff numbers

3.1

Employee benefits

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Employer contributions to
NHS Pension scheme
Other pension costs
Apprenticeship levy
Termination benefits
Gross employee benefits
expenditure
3.2

2019/20
Permanent Other
employees
£'000
£'000
8,946
365
924
10
1,659
12
8
34
199
11,770

387

2018/19
Total
Permanent Other
employees
£'000
£'000
£'000
9,311
8,557
526
934
869
8
1,671
1,113
10
8
34
199
12,157

6
30
10,575

Total
£'000
9,083
877
1,123

544

6
30
11,119

2019/20
236
7
243

2018/19
224
11
235

Average number of people employed

Permanently employed
Other
Total
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3.3

Pension costs

Past and present employees are covered by the
provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes.
Details of the benefits payable and rules of the
Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions
website. Both are unfunded defined benefit
schemes that cover NHS employers, GP practices
and other bodies, allowed under the direction of
the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care
in England and Wales. They are not designed
to be run in a way that would enable NHS
bodies to identify their share of the underlying
scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each
scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined
contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of
participating in each scheme is taken as equal to
the contributions payable to that scheme for the
accounting period.

the scheme liability as at 31 March 2020, is based
on valuation data as 31 March 2019, updated to
31 March 2020 with summary global member
and accounting data. In undertaking this actuarial
assessment, the methodology prescribed in
IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations, and the
discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also
been used.

In order that the defined benefit obligations
recognised in the financial statements do not
differ materially from those that would be
determined at the reporting date by a formal
actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that
“the period between formal valuations shall be
four years, with approximate assessments in
intervening years”. An outline of these follows:

The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level
of liability in respect of the benefits due under the
schemes (taking into account recent demographic
experience), and to recommend contribution rates
payable by employees and employers.

a) Accounting valuation
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out
annually by the scheme actuary (currently the
Government Actuary’s Department) as at the end
of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial
assessment for the previous accounting period
in conjunction with updated membership and
financial data for the current reporting period, and
is accepted as providing suitably robust figures
for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of
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The latest assessment of the liabilities of the
scheme is contained in the report of the scheme
actuary, which forms part of the annual NHS
Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can
be viewed on the NHS Pensions website and are
published annually. Copies can also be obtained
from The Stationery Office.
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation

The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the
NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31
March 2016. The results of this valuation set the
employer contribution rate payable from April
2019 to 20.6 percent, and the Scheme Regulations
were amended accordingly.
The 2016 funding valuation was also expected
to test the cost of the Scheme relative to the
employer cost cap set following the 2012
valuation. Following a judgment from the Court
of Appeal in December 2018 Government
announced a pause to that part of the valuation
process pending conclusion of the continuing legal
process.

4.

Operating expenses

Purchase of goods and services
Services from other CCGs and NHS England
Services from foundation trusts
Services from other NHS trusts
Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies
Prescribing costs
GPMS/APMS and PCTMS
Supplies and services – general
Consultancy services
Establishment
Transport
Premises
* Audit fees
Other non-statutory external audit expenditure:
Other services
Other professional fees
Legal fees
Education, training and conferences
Non cash apprenticeship training grants
Total purchase of goods and services
Depreciation and impairment charges
Depreciation
Amortisation
Total depreciation and impairment charges
Provision expense
Provisions
Other operating expenditure
Chair and Non Executive Members
Grants to Other bodies
Expected credit loss on receivables
Other expenditure
Total other operating expenditure
Total operating expenditure

2019/20
£'000

2018/19
£'000

396
194,780
391,068
165,971
96,597
7,262
759
39
3,002
13
1,724
65

421
179,779
370,825
161,384
92,816
6,463
668
3,415
22
2,569
63

310
199
155
23
862,363

12
565
177
82
18
819,279

98
98

104
11
115

(2)

(9)

410
141
10
561
863,020

367
(110)
20
277
819,662

* The limitation on auditor’s liability for external work is £2m (2018/19: £2m)
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5.

Better payment practice code
2019/20
Number

Non-NHS payables
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total non-NHS trade invoices paid within
target
Percentage of non-NHS trade invoices paid
within target
NHS payables
Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year
Total NHS trade invoices paid within target
Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within
target

2019/20
£'000

2018/19
Number

2018/19
£'000

24,720
24,253

215,714
214,619

22,176
21,731

210,569
205,634

98.11%

99.49%

97.99%

97.66%

4,397
4,332
98.52%

589,096
588,053
99.82%

4,178
4,063
97.25%

553,969
553,543
99.92%

6.

Operating leases

6.1

As lessee										

The CCG’s main lease expenditure relates to the occupation of property. Other lease costs relate to
office equipment. The CCG occupies property as a tenant of either Community Health Partnerships Ltd
or NHS Property Services Ltd.
6.1.1 Payments recognised as an expense

Minimum lease payments

2019/20
Buildings
Other
£'000
£'000
570
5

Total
£'000
575

2018/19
Buildings
Other
£'000
£'000
1,560
9

Total
£'000
1,569

Whilst NHS Kernow’s arrangements with Community Health Partnership’s Limited and NHS Property
Services Limited fall within the definition of operating leases, rental charge for future years have not
yet been agreed for all properties. Consequently the note below only relates to leases that have been
formalised.
6.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
2019/20
Buildings
Other
£'000
£'000
Payable
No later than one year
Between one and five years
After five years
Total
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232
7
239

6
19
25

Total
£'000
238
26
264

2018/19
Buildings
Other
£'000
£'000
180
118
298

Total
£'000
2
5
7

182
123
305

7.

Property plant and equipment

2019/20
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2019
Additions purchased
Disposals other than by sale
Cost/valuation at 31 March 2020
Depreciation at 1 April 2019
Disposals other than by sale
Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2020
Net book value at 31 March 2020
Purchased
Asset financing
Owned

2018/19
Cost or valuation at 01 April 2018
Additions purchased
Cost/valuation at 31 March 2019
Depreciation 1 April 2018
Charged during the year
Depreciation at 31 March 2019
Net book value at 31 March 2019
Purchased
Asset financing
Owned
7.1

Plant and
machinery
£'000
34
0
0
34
31
0
3
34
0
0
0
Plant and
machinery
£'000
34
0
34
29
2
31
3
3
3

Information Furniture and
technology
fittings
£'000
£'000
895
58
140
0
(298)
0
737
58
705
45
(298)
0
88
7
495
52
242
6
242
6
242

6

Information Furniture and
technology
fittings
£'000
£'000
815
58
80
0
895
58
611
37
94
8
705
45
190
13
190
13
190

13

Total
£’000
987
140
(298)
829
781
(298)
98
581
248
248
248
Total
£’000
907
80
987
677
104
781
206
206
206

Economic lives
Minimum life
(years)

Plant and machinery
Information technology
Furniture and fittings

5
4
5

Maximum life
(years)
15
4
10
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8.

Trade and other receivables

NHS receivables: Revenue
NHS prepayments
NHS contract receivable not yet invoiced/non-invoice
NHS non-contract trade receivable (ie pass through funding)
Non-NHS and other WGA receivables: Revenue
Non-NHS and other WGA prepayments
Non-NHS and other WGA Contract Receivable not yet invoiced/non-invoice
Expected credit loss allowance-receivables
VAT
Other receivables and accruals
Total trade and other receivables
8.1

Receivables part their due date but not impaired

By up to three months
By three to six months
By more than six months
Total

9.

2019/20
DHSC
Non-DHSC
group
group
bodies
bodies
£’000
£'000
1,673
35
164
5
357
6
2,194
46

2018/19
DHSC
Non-DHSC
group
group
bodies
bodies
£’000
£'000
2,524
12
667
236
3,427
12

Cash and cash equivalents

Balance at 1 April 2019
Net change in year
Balance at 31 March 2020
Bank overdraft: Government banking service
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2019/20 2018/19
£'000
£'000
233
1,528
2,247
1,872
811
126
585
3,400
2,543
484
486
1,017
1,535
(1)
(1)
51
30
26
32
8,268
8,736
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2019/20 2018/19
£'000
£'000
(1,879)
(1,289)
(1,069)
(590)
(2,948)
(1,879)
(2,948)
(1,879)

10.

Trade and other payables
2019/20 2018/19
£'000
£'000
4,376
3,336
3,920
4,007
4,998
7,452
27
38,917
33,441
144
142
115
121
184
159
52,681
48,658

NHS payables: Revenue
NHS accruals
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue
Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Capital
Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals
Social security costs
Tax
Other payables and accruals
Total trade and other payables

Other payables include £181,961 outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2020 (31 March 2019:
£157,513).

11.

Borrowings

Bank overdrafts
Government banking service

2019/20
£'000

2018/19
£'000

2,948

1,879

NHS Kernow’s cash position is reported in the financial statements as borrowings at 31 March 2020.
CCGs draw cash on a monthly basis according to cashflow requirements and are expected to have
minimal cash balances at the end of the month. Due to outstanding payments that had been processed
during the year but cleared after the year end NHS Kernow has a ‘technical’ overdraft - reported as
borrowings - as at 31 March 2020. As at 31 March 2020, the CCG had a positive cash balance in its
government banking service bank account of £347,494 (31 March 2018: £269,688).

12.

Provisions

Continuing care
Other
Total
Total current and non current
					

2019/20
Current
Noncurrent
£’000
£'000
158
159
90
248
159
407

2018/19
Current
NonCurrent
£’000
£'000
111
112
205
316
112
428
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Balance at 1 April 2019
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Balance at 31 March 2020
Expected timing of cash flows
Within one year
Between one and five years
Balance at 31 March 2020

Continuing
care
£'000
223
265
(19)
(152)
317
158
159
317

Other

Total

£'000

£'000

205
90
(205)
90

428
355
(19)
(357)
407

90
90

248
159
407

The continuing care provision reflects an estimate of the expected liability for retrospective claims for
eligibility relation to the period since the inception of the CCG ie since 1 April 2013. Under the accounts
directions issued by NHS England on 12 February 2014, NHS England is responsible for accounting
for liabilities relating to NHS CHC claims relating to periods of care before the establishment of NHS
Kernow. The legal liability remains with NHS Kernow. The total value of the legacy NHS CHC provisions
accounted for by NHS England on behalf of this CCG at 31 March 2019 is £nil (31 March 2019: £4,000).
Other provisions includes an estimate of potential clinical negligence claims totalling £90,000 relating to
services provided in prior years and not covered by the risk pooling scheme managed by NHS Resolution
(31 March 2019: £205,000).

13

Contingencies

The CCG does not consider that there are any material contingent liabilities at 31 March 2020 (31
March 2019: none).
The principal exposure to such liabilities would be in respect of retrospective claims for eligibility for
continuing healthcare. Such costs are accrued when appropriate and a further provision has been made
in respect of claims where there is considered to be a reasonable likelihood of success. The exposure
of the CCG to such risk is also limited to periods of care since 1 April 2013, as earlier claims are being
settled on a risk shared basis from a defined national funding pool. In view of this context, the residual
exposure of the CCG to contingent liabilities is not considered to be material to the financial statements.

14

Financial instruments

14.1

Financial risk management

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had
during the period in creating or changing the risks a body faces in undertaking its activities.
Because NHS Kernow is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of
financial risk faced by business entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in
creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the financial reporting
standards mainly apply. The CCG has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial
assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change
the risks facing the CCG in undertaking its activities.
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Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined
formally within the NHS CCG standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the GB. Treasury
activity is subject to review by the NHS CCG and internal auditors.
14.1.1 Currency risk
The NHS CCG is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and
liabilities being in the UK and sterling based. The NHS CCG has no overseas operations. The NHS CCG
and therefore has low exposure to currency rate fluctuations.
14.1.2 Interest rate risk
CCG’s do not borrow money in the normal course of business neither are they permitted to make
interest bearing deposits. The CCG therefore has a low exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
Borrowings disclosed in the financial statements are those arising from a technical overdraft as
explained in note 11.
14.1.3 Credit risk
Because the majority of the NHS CCG and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS CCG has low
exposure to credit risk.
14.1.4 Liquidity risk
NHS CCG is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from
resources voted annually by Parliament. The NHS CCG draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the
need arises. The NHS CCG is not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks.
14.1.5 Financial Instruments
As the cash requirements of NHS Kernow are met through the monthly cash draw down processes
from NHS England the CCG does not utilise complex financial instruments and as such it is therefore
exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk.
14.2

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Trade and other receivables with NHSEI bodies
Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other receivables with external bodies
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2020
14.3

2019/20
£'000
927
4,189
344
26
5,486

2018/19
£'000
2,023
3,895
398
32
6,348

2019/20
£'000
374
13,392
38,656
2,948
55,370

2018/19
£'000
161
12,217
35,858
2,038
50,274

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Trade and other payables with NHSEI bodies
Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies
Trade and other payables with external bodies
Other financial liabilities
Total at 31 March 2020
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Joint arrangements - interests in joint operations

Mental health pooled fund
NHS Kernow is party to a mental health pooled budget with Cornwall Council and CFT, which was
originally entered into on 1 October 2003. Under this arrangement funds are pooled under s75 of the
Health Act 2006 for the provision of adult mental health services in Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly.
The pool is hosted by NHS Kernow. As a commissioner of healthcare services, the CCG makes
contributions to the pool, which are then used to purchase healthcare services. The CCG accounts
for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure as determined by the pooled budget
agreement.
The total expenditure for the pool fund was £45,841,000 (2017/18: £44,109,000) of which the CCG
contributed £38,816,000 (2018/19: £37,243,000).
Better Care Fund
The CCG entered into a Better Care Fund (BCF) partnership agreement under s75 of the Health Act
2006 with Cornwall Council on 1 April 2015. Under this agreement there are a number of budget
elements that are formally pooled. In line with the application of IFRS 11 these are all classed as ‘joint
operations’ and as such the CCG accounts for its share of assets, liabilities, income and expenses in its
own accounts. The pooled budgets are as follows:
• Loan equipment pooled fund: The CCG originally had a pooled fund arrangement with Cornwall
Council for the provision of integrated community loan equipment. This was an arrangement under
s75 of the Health Act 2006 that had been in existence since 1 April 2005. The Integrated loan
equipment pooled fund now forms part of the pooling arrangements under the BCF. In 2019/20 the
CCG contributed £3,566,000 to this fund (2018/19: £3,566,000).
• Joint complex cases pooled fund: As part of the BCF arrangements the CCG is party to a joint
complex care pooled budget with Cornwall Council. Under this arrangement funds are pooled
under S75 of the Health Act 2006 for the provision of health and social care services in Cornwall to
individuals with complex needs. In 2019/20 the CCG contributed £2,050,000 to this fund (2018/19:
£1,968,000).
• Carers pooled fund: As part of the BCF arrangements the CCG is party to a carer’s pooled budget
with Cornwall Council. Under this arrangement funds are pooled under S75 of the Health Act 2006
for the provision of health and social care services in Cornwall to support carers. In 2019/20 the CCG
contributed £1,452,000 to this fund (2018/19: £1,365,000).
The BCF pools are hosted by Cornwall Council. As a commissioner of healthcare services, the CCG
makes contributions to the pools, which are then used to purchase health and social care services.
The CCG accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenditure of the pool as
determined by the pooled budget agreement. The CCG’s share of expenditure for each pooled
budget area within the BCF is recorded under the appropriate programme expenditure headings in
note 4.
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Related party transactions

Details of related party transactions with individuals are as follows:
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year, the CCG has had a significant
number of material transactions with entities for which the department is regarded as the parent
department. For example:
•
•
•
•

NHS England				
NHS foundation trusts				
NHS trusts				
NHS Business Services Authority

In addition, the CCG has had a number of material transactions with other government departments
and other central and local government bodies. The most significant of these transactions have been
with Cornwall Council.
The CCG comprises all the GP practices situated within Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly. The CCG has
many routine and regular transactions with each of its constituent practices in the normal course of
business. In accordance with the Constitution of the CCG, a number of GPs also serve as members of
the GB of the CCG: the practices associated with GB GP members are regarded as related parties for
accounting purposes: we disclose the level of financial transactions with those practices. The CCG had
the following transactions with related party practices during the reporting period.
2019/20

Carnon Downs Surgery
Helston Medical Centre
St Mary's Health Centre
St Agnes Surgery
Tamar Valley Medical Practice

Payments
Receipts
Amounts
Amounts
to related from related
owed to
due from
party
party
related party related party
£'000
£'000
£'000
£’000
836
0
0
0
551
0
0
0
76
0
0
0
620
0
0
0
1,894
0
0
0

Note: St Mary’s Health Centre is an APMS contract held by Helston Medical Practice and hence is a
related party (John Garman).
2018/19

Carnon Downs Surgery
Helston Medical Centre (from 01/11/18)
St Mary's Health Centre (from 01/11/18)
St Agnes Surgery
Tamar Valley Medical Practice

Payments
Receipts
Amounts
Amounts
to related from related
owed to
due from
party
party
related party related party
£'000
£'000
£'000
£’000
903
0
0
0
331
0
0
0
39
0
0
0
635
0
0
0
1,912
0
0
0
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Events after the end of the reporting period

NHSEI have recently granted approval for NHS Kernow to take on delegated responsibility for the
commissioning of GP services across Cornwall and the Isles of Scilly from 1 April 2020.

18

Financial performance targets

CCGs have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended). NHS Kernow’s
performance against those duties was as follows:
2019/20

Expenditure not to exceed income.
848,172
Capital resource use does not exceed the
235
amount specified in directions.
Revenue resource use does not exceed the
839,422
amount specified in directions.
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does
not exceed the amount specified in directions.
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does
not exceed the amount specified in directions.
Revenue administration resource use does not
12,802
exceed the amount specified in directions.
2018/19
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866,662

(27,240)

No

-

-

Yes

-

-

Yes

10,954

1,848

Yes

Duty
achieved?
100
Yes
100
Yes

Target Performance Difference

Expenditure not to exceed income.
830,961
Capital resource use does not exceed the
180
amount specified in directions.
Revenue resource use does not exceed the
820,201
amount specified in directions.
Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does
not exceed the amount specified in directions.
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does
not exceed the amount specified in directions.
Revenue administration resource use does not
12,357
exceed the amount specified in directions.
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875,317
140

Duty
achieved?
(27,145)
No
95
Yes

Target Performance Difference

830,861
80
820,201

-

Yes

-

-

Yes

-

-

Yes

10,235

2,122

Yes

Independent auditor’s report
Report on the audit of the financial
statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of
NHS Kernow (the ‘CCG’) for the year ended 31
March 2020, which comprise the statement of
comprehensive net expenditure, the statement
of financial position, the statement of changes
in taxpayers equity, the statement of cash flows
and notes to the financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.
The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable law
and International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and
as interpreted and adapted by the Department of
Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual
2019 to 2020.
In our opinion, the financial statements:
• Give a true and fair view of the financial
position of the CCG as at 31 March 2020 and
of its expenditure and income for the year then
ended.
• Have been properly prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union, as interpreted and adapted by the
Department of Health and Social Care Group
Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020.
• Have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Health and Social Care Act
2012.

with these requirements. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The impact of macro economic uncertainties
on our audit
Our audit of the financial statements requires
us to obtain an understanding of all relevant
uncertainties, including those arising as a
consequence of the effects of macro-economic
uncertainties such as COVID-19 and Brexit. All
audits assess and challenge the reasonableness of
estimates made by the accountable officer and the
related disclosures and the appropriateness of the
going concern basis of preparation of the financial
statements. All of these depend on assessments of
the future economic environment and the CCG’s
future operational arrangements.
COVID-19 and Brexit are amongst the most
significant economic events currently faced by the
UK, and at the date of this report their effects are
subject to unprecedented levels of uncertainty,
with the full range of possible outcomes and their
impacts unknown. We applied a standardised
firm-wide approach in response to these
uncertainties when assessing the CCG’s future
operational arrangements. However, no audit
should be expected to predict the unknowable
factors or all possible future implications for an
entity associated with these particular events.
Conclusions relating to going concern

Basis for opinion

We have nothing to report in respect of the
following matters in relation to which the ISAs
(UK) require us to report to you where:

We conducted our audit in accordance with
International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in
the ‘auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements’ section of our report. We are
independent of the CCG in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the UK, including
the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance

• The accountable officer’s use of the going
concern basis of accounting in the preparation
of the financial statements is not appropriate.
• The accountable officer has not disclosed in
the financial statements any identified material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt
about the CCG’s ability to continue to adopt
the going concern basis of accounting for a
period of at least twelve months from the date
when the financial statements are authorised
for issue.
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In our evaluation of the accountable officer’s
conclusions, and in accordance with the
expectation set out within the Department of
Health and Social Care Group Accounting Manual
2019 to 2020 that the CCG’s financial statements
shall be prepared on a going concern basis, we
considered the risks associated with the CCG’s
operating activities, including effects arising from
macro-economic uncertainties such as COVID-19
and Brexit. We analysed how those risks might
affect the CCG’s financial resources or ability to
continue operations over the period of at least
twelve months from the date when the financial
statements are authorised for issue.
In accordance with the above, we have nothing to
report in these respects.
However, as we cannot predict all future events or
conditions and as subsequent events may result in
outcomes that are inconsistent with judgements
that were reasonable at the time they were made,
the absence of reference to a material uncertainty
in this auditor’s report is not a guarantee that the
CCG will continue in operation.
Other information
The accountable officer is responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, other
than the financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information
and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly
stated in our report, we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If we identify such
material inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to determine
whether there is a material misstatement in the
financial statements or a material misstatement
of the other information. If, based on the work
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we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of the other information,
we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Other information we are required to report
on by exception under the Code of Audit
Practice
Under the Code of Audit Practice published
by the National Audit Office in April 2015 on
behalf of the comptroller and auditor general
(the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to
consider whether the governance statement
does not comply with the guidance issued by
the NHS Commissioning Board or is misleading
or inconsistent with the information of which we
are aware from our audit. We are not required
to consider whether the governance statement
addresses all risks and controls or that risks are
satisfactorily addressed by internal controls.
We have nothing to report in this regard.
Opinion on other matters required by the
Code of Audit Practice
In our opinion:
• The parts of the remuneration and staff report
to be audited have been properly prepared
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the
European Union, as interpreted and adapted
by the Department of Health and Social Care
Group Accounting Manual 2019 to 2020 and
the requirements of the Health and Social Care
Act 2012.
• Based on the work undertaken in the course
of the audit of the financial statements
and our knowledge of the CCG gained
through our work in relation to the CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources, the
other information published together with
the financial statements in the annual report
for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared is consistent with the
financial statements.

Opinion on regularity required by the Code
of Audit Practice
In our opinion, in all material respects the
expenditure and income recorded in the financial
statements have been applied to the purposes
intended by Parliament and the financial
transactions in the financial statements conform to
the authorities which govern them.
Basis for qualified opinion on regularity
The CCG reported expenditure of £866.7
million against £839.4 million and a deficit of
£27.2 million in its financial statements for the
year ending 31 March 2020. The CCG thereby
breached two of its duties under the National
Health Service Act 2006, as amended by
paragraphs 223H and 223I of Section 27 of the
Health and Social Care Act 2012, to ensure that
annual expenditure does not exceed income and
revenue resource use does not exceed the amount
specified by direction of the NHS Commissioning
Board, otherwise known as NHS England.
Matters on which we are required to report
by exception
Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required
to report to you if:
• We issue a report in the public interest
under Section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at
the conclusion of the audit.
• We refer a matter to the Secretary of State
under Section 30 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 because we have
reason to believe that the CCG, or an officer
of the CCG, is about to make, or has made,
a decision which involves or would involve
the body incurring unlawful expenditure, or is
about to take, or has begun to take a course
of action which, if followed to its conclusion,
would be unlawful and likely to cause a loss or
deficiency.

• We make a written recommendation to the
CCG under Section 24 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at
the conclusion of the audit.
We have nothing to report in respect of the above
matters except on 3 April 2020 we referred a
matter to the Secretary of State under section
30(b) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act
2014 in relation to NHS Kernow’s planned breach
of its breakeven duty and revenue resource limit
for the year ending 31 March 2020.
Responsibilities of the accountable officer
and those charged with governance for the
financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of
Accountable Officer’s responsibilities set out on
page 72, the accountable officer, is responsible
for the preparation of the financial statements in
the form and on the basis set out in the accounts
directions, for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view, and for such internal control as the
accountable officer determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the
accountable officer is responsible for assessing
the CCG’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless they have been informed by the
relevant national body of the intention to dissolve
the CCG without the transfer of its services to
another public sector entity.
The accountable officer is responsible for ensuring
the regularity of expenditure and income in the
financial statements.
The audit committee is those charged with
governance. Those charged with governance are
responsible for overseeing the CCG’s financial
reporting process.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements

Basis for qualified conclusion

Report on other legal and regulatory
requirements - conclusion on the CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use
of resources

This matter identifies weaknesses in the CCG’s
arrangements for setting a sustainable budget
with sufficient capacity to absorb emerging cost
pressures. This matter is evidence of weaknesses
in proper arrangements for sustainable resource
deployment in planning finances effectively to
support the sustainable delivery of strategic
priorities and maintain statutory functions.

Our review of the CCG’s arrangements for
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness
about whether the financial statements as a whole in its use of resources identified the following
are free from material misstatement, whether due matter:
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
The CCG agreed a financial plan with NHS
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
England to deliver a deficit of £16.8 million for
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
2019/20. During the year, the CCG’s financial
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs
position deteriorated, and it was unable to
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement
recover the position by the year end, incurring a
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
deficit of £27.2 million. The main reason for the
or error and are considered material if, individually
deterioration in the financial position was slippage
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
in savings plans. The CCG planned to make
expected to influence the economic decisions
efficiency savings of £33.9 million during 2019/20
of users taken on the basis of these financial
but could only deliver £22.4 million (66 percent) of
statements.
these in year.
A further description of our responsibilities for
The CCG has budgeted to incur a deficit of £20.4
the audit of the financial statements is located
million for 2020/21. The delivery of this plan is
on the Financial Reporting Council’s website. This
dependent on the CCG making challenging cost
description forms part of our auditor’s report.
and efficiency savings of £33.6 million, which
We are also responsible for giving an opinion on
is equivalent to 4.3 percent of planned gross
the regularity of expenditure and income in the
expenditure for 2020/21. There is a risk that the
financial statements in accordance with the Code
CCG will not make all of the targeted savings and
of Audit Practice.
will therefore incur a greater deficit than planned.

Qualified conclusion
On the basis of our work, having regard to the
guidance issued by the comptroller and auditor
general in April 2020, except for the effects of
the matter described in the basis for qualified
conclusion section of our report, we are satisfied
that, in all significant respects, NHS Kernow put in
place proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources
for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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Responsibilities of the accountable officer
As explained in the governance statement, the
accountable officer is responsible for putting in
place proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the
CCG’s resources..

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review
of the CCG’s arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its
use of resources
We are required under Section 21(1)(c) and
Schedule 13 paragraph 10(a) of the Local Audit
and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that
the CCG has made proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in
its use of resources and to report where we have
not been able to satisfy ourselves that it has done
so. We are not required to consider, nor have
we considered, whether all aspects of the CCG’s
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources are
operating effectively.
We have undertaken our review in accordance
with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard
to the guidance on the specified criterion issued
by the comptroller and auditor general in April
2020, as to whether in all significant respects,
the CCG had proper arrangements to ensure it
took properly informed decisions and deployed
resources to achieve planned and sustainable
outcomes for taxpayers and local people. The
comptroller and auditor general determined this
criterion as that necessary for us to consider
under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying
ourselves whether the CCG put in place proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of resources for the
year ended 31 March 2020, and to report by
exception where we are not satisfied.

Report on other legal and regulatory
requirements - certificate
We certify that we have completed the audit
of the financial statements of NHS Kernow in
accordance with the requirements of the Local
Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code
of Audit Practice.
Use of our report
This report is made solely to the members of
the Governing Body of the CCG, as a body, in
accordance with Part 5 of the Local Audit and
Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has
been undertaken so that we might state to the
members of the Governing Body of the CCG those
matters we are required to state to them in an
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept
or assume responsibility to anyone other than the
CCG and the members of the Governing Body of
the CCG, as a body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Peter Barber, local auditor
for and on behalf of
Grant Thornton UK LLP, Bristol
24 June 2020

We planned our work in accordance with
the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk
assessment, we undertook such work as we
considered necessary to be satisfied that the CCG
has put in place proper arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources.
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ABBREVIATIONS
GBAF		

Governing Body assurance framework

ASIST		
Applied suicide intervention skills
		training

GIRFT		

Getting it right first time

GP		

General practitioner

BAME		

Black, Asian and minority ethnic

BCF		

Better Care Fund

HAPPI 		
		

Holistic Assessment and Care Planning
in Partnership Intervention

CAHSC		
Cornwall Health and Social Care
		Learning Partnership

HRT		

Hormone replacement therapy

HR		

Human resources

CAP		

IAF		
Improvement and assessment
		framework

AMR		

Anti-microbial resistance

Citizen’s Advisory Panel

CAMHS
Child and adolescent mental health
		services
CCG		

Clinical commissioning group

CHC		

Continuing health care

CIC		

Community interest company

COPD		

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease

CORE24

24/7 liaison mental health service

CQC		

Care Quality Commission

CQUIN		
Commissioning for quality and
		innovation
CT scan
Computerised tomography scan to
		
create cross-sectional images of the
		body.

ICS		

Integrated care system

IDDSI		
International dysphagia diet
		standardisation initiative
IFRS		
International financial reporting
		standards
IHI		

Institute for Healthcare Improvement

IMPACT hub
		

Integrated multi-agency prevention and
assessment of crisis teams

IPS		

Individual placement support

JSNA		

Joint strategic needs assessment

LAC		

Looked after children

LCFS		

Local counter fraud specialist

DESMOND
Diabetes education and self		
management for ongoing and newly
		diagnosed diabetes.

LGBT+		

Lesbian, gay, bi-sexual, transgender +

LMC		

Local Medical Committee

DHSC		

Department of Health and Social Care

LPS		

Liberty protection safeguards

DoLS		

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards

LSMS		

Local security management specialist

DPI		

Dry powder inhaler

DRSS		

Devon Referral Support Service

MACE		
Multi-agency child exploitation
		processes

DTOC		

Delayed transfer of care

ED		

Emergency department (A&E)

EHCH 		

Enhanced health in care homes

EoL		

End of life

EPRR		
Emergency preparedness, resilience
		and response
FRP		

Financial recovery programme

GB		

Governing Body
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MARU		

Multi-agency referral unit

MDT		

Multi-disciplinary teams

MDI		

Metered dose inhaler

MHIS		
Mental health and wellbeing
		information service
MIU		

Minor injury unit

MOCH		

Medicines optimisation in care homes

MRI		
		

Magnetic resonance imaging used in
radiology to form pictures of the body

NAPC		

National Association of Primary Care

NCMP		
National child measurement
		programme

SDMP		
Sustainable development management
		plan
SENCOs
Special educational needs
		co-ordinators

NEWS2		

National early warning score

NHS		

National Health Service

NHSEI		

NHS England and Improvement

NHS SBS

NHS Shared Business Services

SWAHSN
South West Academic Health Science
		Network

NHS 111
		

Telephone and online health advice
provided by the NHS

STP		

NICE		
National Institute for Health and
		Clinical Excellence
OFSTED
		

Office for Standards in Education,
Children's Services and Skill

ONS		

Oral nutritional supplement

OOH		

Out of hours

OSCP 		

Our Safeguarding Children Partnership

PACT 		

Provider assurance compliance tool

PARM		

Proactive register management

PCN		

Primary Care Network

PHB		

Personal health budget

SSNAP		
Sentinel stroke national audit
		programme

Sustainability and transformation plan

SWASFT
South Western Ambulance Service NHS
		Foundation Trust
TCP		

Transforming care programme

TIA		

Transient ischaemic attack/mini stroke

UTC		

Urgent treatment centre

VFM		

Value for money

VoD		

Verification of death

WRAPS		

Work rest and play the sensory way

PHSO		
Parliamentary and Health Service
		Ombudsman
PILON		

Payments in lieu of notice

PPGs		

Patient participation groups

PSKQI		
Patient Safety Kernow Quality
		Improvement initiative
QIPP		
Quality, innovation, prevention and
		productivity
QuIPPS		

Quality improvement partner panels

QOF		

Quality and outcomes framework

QSG		

Quality surveillance group

RCHT		

Royal Cornwall Hospitals NHS Trust

RMS		

Referral Management Service

SAB		

Safeguarding Adult Board

SAP		

Supporting ahead programme
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This report was written and produced by:
NHS Kernow Clinical Commissioning Group
Sedgemoor Centre, St Austell
Cornwall PL25 5AS
Telephone: 01726 627800
Email: kccg.contactus@nhs.net
Website: www.kernowccg.nhs.uk
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